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ABSTRACT

The success of the British South Africa Company's
propaganda has been remarkable. Not only did it persuade the
Imperial government to petmit and support the Company's
undertakings, it has also coloured the work of historians of
Zimbabwe until quite recently. Some ccntemporaries w=re not
taken in by the rhetoric of Rhodes andi the British South Africa
Company, however, and their writings ar2 of great value in the
process of re-evaluation of the history of the Company. Henry
Labouchere was prominant amcng the critics of khodes znd the
Company, and the journal which he edited, Truth, provides some
valuable insights into the events of the time.

Labouchere was an astute observer, and it has taken modern
historians many years to arrive at conclusions which he r=zached
within weeks of events having occurred. e beliesved that the
British South Africa Company was a speculative venture. He )
developed a theory soon after the Company was foundced, which was
borne out by unfolding events. He asserted that the Royal
Charter granted to the Company conferied om it an aura of
respectability which was exploited to induce investors to buy
shares in a company without real prospects of success. Potential
profits depended on the discovery of gold in ths territories
under the Zompany's administration and, when early r2ports
indicat=23 that no rich 3depcsits would be {cund, the Company
embarked on raids into neighbouring territories. These raids

were made in the hope of f£inpding richer deposits of gold, but
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more particularly in order to polster the value of shar=s, to
save the Company from bankruptcy. The raids weis against tae
Portuguase, in Manicaland, in 189%0-91, against Lobengjula in
matabeleland in 1893, and the Jameson Haid acgainst the Transvaal
in late 1895. Labouchere supports his theory in Truth, providing
information on share dealing, politicel manipulation, control of
inforwmation leaving the Company's territoriec, and the weakness
of the Company's administration. MHe also smphacsizes the
importance of Cecil Rhodes, who was Frise Minister of the Cape
Colony, and director of influential Socuth African coapanizs, as
well as Managing Dirsctor of the British South Africa Company,
and who used the Company to pursue his own personal and
political =nds.

This thesis is based on an examination of Truth, between
1888 and 1899. The first chapter outiinss events 1in Mashonaland
and Matabeleland between 1888 and 1€%7, and dascribes somz
relevant debates in recent historical writing. Subsejuent
revealing some of the insights into the Compeny's activities

vhich Labouchere provided and which are still of valaec.
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I. INTRODUCTIOR

Cecil Rhodes has been the focus cf many studies in the
eighty years since his death. However, the infiuvence of sourcss
biased in his favour has been so pervasive, that no serious
re-interprstatiocn of hhodes® role in the British Zouth Africa
Company anl in the development of Rhocesial! has been
accomplished. This study demonstrates that thke opinions and
impressions of that =2xcellent contempcrary observer, Henry
Labouchere, would be of great value in coantering the Company's
propaganda and in reassessing Rhodes. H2 was personally almost
as colourful a character as Khodes, though consideraonly l2ss
powerful, with wide experience in diplonaéy and in politics,
combined with a lively intersst in the affairs of the day. In
addition, since he edited his own journal, there is a continucus
and detailed record of his observations. Lalbouchere and Truth
are not unknown to historians of Rhodesia: however, thers has
been no systematic evaluation of his interpretation of Rhodes

and the British South Africa Company.

- — - - ——————— -

! While Zimbabwe is the correct name for the country today, it
seems appropriate to use its colonial name while discussing its
colonial origins. The territory was referred tc as Mashonaland
and Matabeleland until 18S%5, when the name Rhodesia was alopted
formally by Administrator's Proclamation. C.Palley, The

P~ B8 _PRP S 455 - LT —— — - t—

oxford, 1966. p.155.



Henry du Pre Labouchere? lived trom 1831 to 191Z. He was
porn and raised in England, in a very wealthy famiiy. His father
vas 'almost a professional Puritan'3, and his tamily, while
still in France in the seventeenth century, had bean persecuted
because th2y werz2 Huguenots. Despite his apparent rejection of
his Non-Conformist background in his lifestyle, he retain=23 some
alements in his way of thinking. In many of the stands he tock,
there are strong moral and humanitarian strains, and this is
certainly true of his criticism of EKhodes and the British South
Africa Company. As a young man, Labouchere tiavelled extensively
in Central and North America and in Europe. Hz served as an
attacha with the British Diplomatic Service frcm 1854 to 1862,
during which time he was posted to wWashingtorn, Munich,
Stockholm, Frankfurt, St Petersburg and Dresdern. 1n 1862 h2 was

appointed Secretary of the Embassy in Stockholm, where he

2 Biographies of Labouchere do0 not yield very wuch informatione.
His nephew, A.L. Thorold published a rather flattering biography
the year after his uncle's death. It contains aany anecdotes,
and gives life to a picture of Labouchere but offers little
insight, and no critical analysis of his contribution to Eagliskhk
politics. (R.lL. Thorold,The Life of Henry Labouchere. London,
1913.) ReJ. Hind's biography, published in 197%, gives a more
balanced and reliable picture. Hind hes noted, that the
biography suffers from the paucity of documents concarning
Labouchere's life. In adédition, most of the biography is taken
up by the years 1880-1886, so that Lakouchere's dusl with Khodes
and the British South Africa Company is discussed only in the
initial, survey chapter. KR.J. Hind:Henry Labouchere and the
Empire. 1830-1305. London, 1972.

3 T.P. O'Connor, Memoirs of an Q1ld Parliasentarian 1i,75. Zuoted
in H4ind, p.tle.
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remained until he left the Liplomatic Service in 1863.% In a
letter to Chamberlain he wrots of the influence of the United
States of America on his political ideas: “I was caught young,
and sent to America; there I imbibed th2 political views of the
country, so that my Radicalism is not a joke, but perfectly
garnest. My opinion of most of the instituticons of this coantry

is that of Americans - that they are utterly absurd and

hereditary institutions, such as the Eouse of Loréds, and of his
belief in equality.®

This 2xperiesnce, and his Non-Conformist education, made it
easy for him to espouse Kadical political ideas. The Radical

members of the Liberal Party wers initially strongly supported

mm- eEmemamewm aamadlio o2

Joseph Chamberlain and others in 1885,7 expounaed the basic

elements of Radical belief and peclicy. It was perhaps the first

4 Thorold, pp.u2-60.

[

S Thorold op.cit. p.38.

& In January 1895, Labouchere commented on the z2bsurdity of a
Party protesting agaiast hersditary legislateors, and increasing
their numbars at the same time.
A knighthood is a personal distinction, but what plea can a
Ralical put forward for his son, perhaps unboran, being
exalted above his fellows? If I had my way, 1 would put an
end, once and for all, to all hereditary distinctions.
(Truth, January 10, 1895, p.76.) Other examples can pe foand in
Truth: November 2, 1390, p.1040; February 3, 18%6, p.386; May 7,

1896, p.1138. See also Hind, p.13/14,

beEH’rQEEEEEEa by Harvester Press in the series 'Society and the
Victorians', edited and introduced by D.A. Eamer, Srighton,
1971.




political party 'platform' to be produced in England. The
Radicals ware very conscious of a neeéd for social reform, in
order to avoid turmoil and revolution. They were in favour of a
classless society based on democratic principles, which would
remove the privileges of the landed aristocracy. They sought the
redistribution of land, to allow for =mall azllotments, slam
clearance, free edocation, ani the promotion of & truly
democratic system, with extensive power in the hands of local
government. The Radical Programme d4id not develop a cohersnt foreign
foreign policy, probably because the authors were divided on the
issge of iaperialism, while they were even more divided

- disastrously so - on the Irish Question.® Joseph Chamberlain was,
in 1885, the rising star of the Liberal Party, and a stauach
Radical. Many considered him the future leader of th=a Party, and
some hoped for Gladstone's early retirement, tc allow Chamberlain
to take over the leadershipe. Labouchere himself was an ardent
admirer of Chamberlain, and also expressed his conviction that '
Chamberlain was the future leader of the FParty. Chamberlain,
however, was adamantly opposed to Home Rule for Irelamd, ani
finally left the Liberal Party over the issue. Labouchers had
pinned his hopes for Radicalisation of the Liberal Party on
Chamberlain's leadership, and never guite forgave nhim for
abandoning the cause by becoming a Literal Unionist.®

® Ibid., p.XXIX-XXXI.

9 Thorold, op.cite. pp.206, 235.




Lapouchere thercafter sharply criticised Chamwverlain in
Truth and =2lsewhere, before Chamberlain became Zecretary of
State for the colonies with responsitbility fcor the British Scuth
Africa Company from 1895 tc 1903. Thus during an 1889 contest
betwsen Tories and Liberal-Unionists cver parliamentary
candidates in Birmingham, Chamnberlain's home touwn, Labouchere
remarked that perhaps:

the most funny thing in the speech of the Joseph of the
coat of many colours wes his complaint that Lord
Randolph is the owner of a patchwerk guilt. Coazt and
quilt - pot and kettle. ¥Words fail me to sxpress how
amused I am at this cat-and-dog fight for the Birmingham
throne. When Tories ané turncoats fall out there is soame
chance of honest kadicals getting their rights.10
Six months later, Chasberlain's treachery (as Labouchere saw it)
still rankled and he was then provokec to record that:
We are accustom2d to the recantations of Mr Chamberlain,
and if a cock were to register them all by crcwing, the
bird would by this time have lost his voice. Still he
succeeled in surprising the House of Commons by his
speech last Friday.tt
Throughout Chamberlain®s period of office, Labouchere was
prominent as the editor of a widely real, if not necessarily
respected, jourmal and Labouchere's opinion of Chamberlain did
not change.

Labouchere had various connections with journalism, prior
to establishing his own weekly journal in 1879. He had be=zn
part-owner of the Daily News from 186€&, and contributed articles
regularly, even after he was editing Truth. He had beconme

10 Truth, August 15, 1889, p.295.

11 Truth, February 27, 189C. p.ldd1.




exp2rience inspired him to estabiish Ylruth. Morld and Truth were
society journals, writtenm in a much less formal style than
newspapers like the Times. They were we2kly journals which diad
not aspire to provide thoroujh coverage of curremt events, but
rathei to provids coaments on selected svents.1?2

Truth bpegan publication in January 187%, and was ownzd and
edited by Labouchere, who also wrote most of the articles in its
early years. It was thereforz written from & Radical
perspective, with moch social commentary. It included sections
of general commentary on the CTourt, clerica} notices, legal
reports, political events, etc; an editorial column; sociaty
gossips; theatre and sporting reviews; and Memmon - the financial
section. A special feature of the paper was the regular
campaigns it waged against confidence tricksters operating in
England. The journal was very successful ané had a wide
circulation and readarship. Hind states that advertising rates
journal*".13 It was believed that there were two grounds for the
journal's succass: Labouchere's flair, and the manag=rial skills
of Horace Voules, who was officially made editor in 1897,
although Labouchere successively passed editorial duties to him
much sooner, so that by 1860, Voules was editor in all but name,
while Labouchere remained a major contributor to, as well as the

12 Thorold, p.dls.

13 Hind, Opocit., po3-




ownar of, the journal.!% Once Labouchere haé been =lectz=d to
Parliament as member for Ncrthampton, in 1680, his major
contribution was political commentary.

Labouchers was a Radical politician, and Truth reflected

Radical viewse. As a Radical, Labouchere was generally opposea to
imperialist policies, and was specifically oppcsed to the use of
chartered companies to secure territory for Eritain. Sincz2 he

often aired his antipathy to chartered companies, Truth is a

- ——

very useful sowurce on Rhodes and the Eritish South Africa
Company. At the end of 1890 he stated:

1 have no high opinion of any of these Chartered kfrican
Companies. Their professions of philanthropic aiams
disgust me. I regard them as humbug of tke most palpable
kind. They are monetary speculaticns, designed to put
money into the pockets of their promoters, aznd 1 have
always thought it a great mistake, and one which may
l1and as in serious trouble, that promoters shculd be
granted charters giving them vast pOwers Oova2r enormous
districts of Africa, and allow them to compromise the
Empire in their lust for pelf.t1sS

These financial attributes were compounded by military risks, as

the Jama2son Raid was to confirm. That event ied Truth to state:
The grant of charters is a device for ensuring to the
Government the maximom of responsibility ard risk with
the minimuam of controlling authority, and this for the
exclusive benefit of a small band of moncopolists. A
systea at once more iniguitous and aore foolish could
not be devised.l®

1« Thorold, p.4l46., The chapter on Truih in Thorold's
biography{(pp.444-467) was contributed by a subsesquent editor of
Iruth, R.A.Bennet.

15 Truth, November 6, 1890, p.324.

¢ Truth, January 16, 1896, p.l1U471.,




as th2 first Juotation apbove indicates, Labouch=re was
deeply suspicious of the financial schemes of chartered
companizs in general, and of the British South Africa Company in
particular. In 1891, when the Company declincd to answer a
series of important guestions about how it was financed and
about the relationship between it and the Unitel Concescsions
Company, Labouchere consider23d his suspicions contirmed. Their
refusal to address his guestions about the Company's finances
led him to conduct a campaign to expose the Company's schames.
He was particularly anxious to ensure that prosgective
shareholders were2 fully intformed of the finarncial state ani
prospects of the Company, lest they be beguiled into an uawise
investment by th2 belief that a Charter2d Company was guaranteed
to be a safe investment. Thus, while he was suspicious
initially, events were to convert ﬁis suspicions to nostility,
and considerable attention must therefore be paid to thess
events.

His opposition was undoubtedly stremgthened by the strong
element of Puritan morality which he acjuired from his fasily,
and which vas perpetuated Ly his Radical assocciations. In many
of the comments he made, this moral sense is very plain. His was
a morality tempered by rationality, however. His comments never
reflected on the private behaviour of others. His outrage was
directed at those who cheatel others by devious behaviour, or
who misused public office in order to enrich themselves. Rhiile

Labouchers was not a ghilanthropist, andl did not beslieve




Africans should be jiven special treatment, he certainly was a
humanitarian, and was opposed to cruelty ané injustice of any
kind, ra2gardless of the race cor social status of the victia.

Labouchere's attitude is reflected in the naturs of the
innumerable attacks made on Cecil khodes in Truth - for these
wer2 not g=2nerally of a personal nature. He was criticized in
his capacity as Managing Director, with power of attorney for
all the Directors of the British South Africa Company.
Labouchere was highly critical, alsc, of the fact that Rhodes
was Prime Minister of the Cape while a Director of three

companies active in the interior: the British South Africa

Company, D2 Beers and Consclidated Goldfields of South 2frica.

Labouchere believed that the dual rocles of prominent capitalist

and politician would lead to conflict of interest and that,
ultimately, the Secretary of State wcull be placed in an
smbarassing position, because of the influence RKhodes wiszlded.
These concerns were graphically express2d over the Mafeking
Railway extension in February 1692, when it was noted that:

In the event of Mr Cecil khodes, as Managing Diractor of
the South African Company, failing to divide the {irst

6 000 [ sguare] miles of land with the Cape Government,
it falls to Mr C=2cil Rhodes, as Premier of Cape Coiony,
to compel specific performance of the agreement. In the
event of the railvay extension to Mateking pot being
carried out (and a propeosal that a line should be
constructed in lieu of it from Elcemfontein to Kimberley
has bean publicly made by Mr Rhodes® chief colleague in
the directorate of the De Beers Consolidated Minesg), it
will fall to Mr Cecil Ehodes, adviser to the Govarnor of
British Bechouanaland to recommeng that Mr Cecil sfhodes,
privats gentleman, be compzlled tc re-transter the & 000




sguare miles already trancferred to hime oeal7
The theme was to recur in 1893, when labouchere comma2nted that
Rhodes made the position of the Imperial Government iifficult by
exploiting his position as the Premier of the Cape Colony to try
to force the Imperial Government to serve his tinancial
intarests as the head of the B8ritish Sooth Africa Company.18

On a number of occasions, however, Labouchere r2mark2d that
that hz did not personally dislike Rhcdes. Even after the
scathing comments which appeared after the Jameson Raid, he
stressed that:

I should be sorry were Rhodes seriously ill. I have

always made a distincticn in my mind petwean nim and the

financiers with whom he threw in his lot. Kad he merely

used them to carry out his Imperizl dreams, without

sharing in the loot, I should have had a higher opinion

of him.19
Perhaps this ability to separate his opinion of the manm hiaself
from his jodgement of his actions, explains his campaign against
the Chartered Company. There appears to be no evidence that
Labouchere had any financial or personal involvement in the
Company. He never h21d shares in the Chartered Company - thus
sufferad no personal loss. Nor it it likely that he was
disappointz2d that he missed an opportunity to¢ speculate himself.
20 ghile he was well-informel on the financial world, and bhis
criticism of the Company commesnced very early, and continuead
17 Iruth February 4, 1892, p.219.
18 Truth, October 5, 1893, f.689.
19 Truthn, November 11, 1857: pel222.

20 gind, p.35 suggestad this possibility.
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through several inflations and deprescions ot its shares, he
nevar choss to bzcome financially involved in the Company.2! He
seems, also, to have been ablz, once he was elected to
Parliament, to step from Leiny a stock exchange spoculator to
being a guardian of the public, using his prior knowledge of the
gam=2 to gr=at advantage. He stat=d often that he had no sympathy
for an investor who, in possassion of all the realevant facts
about the Chartered Company, still invested, and was burned. Hisg
concern was to esnsure that the public knew that the Goveramant
gave no guarantee on the shares of a chartered company, and that
they knew as much as possible about the financial vackgroand to
the Companye.

Contemporary historians, if they have considered Labouchere
at all, have not given him much credibility. Lockhart and
Woodhouse in their biography of RKhodes regaréed Labouchers as
the representative of opinion hostile to Rhodes, especially in
the House of Commons. For example, they comment: “Secure in his’
own knowledge that gold and diamonds were no mcre than a means

to an 2nd, he did not mind the charges 0of Larby and his brood

—— - ———— — —— - — - —— -

21 Hind suggested he had a history of financial speculation, angd
referred to letters from a victim of Iruth's exposure of frauid,
which purported to show that Labouchere had used his influence
while financial editor of the HWorld tc inflate shares
artificially, for the purpose of speculation. Hind suggested
that this was the reason for his retirement from Parliament in
1905. This deception is not, however, referred to elsewhzrs, and
it is doubtful that Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman would have
appointed him a Privy Councillor in 1905, if the letters hail

destroyed his honour. See Hind, p.3%5.
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that his motive was money - and wmore money."?2 gemusad by
Rhodes's apparent probity, they considered labouchere's
inability to prove charges against Ehodes as evidenca that the
charges were unfounded.23 However they 30 acknowleigs his
sincerity, and his influence: since he "was as sincere as he was
able, the House of Commons listened to him, and the chancas of
*sguaring' him in the usual way were negligible.v2% Philip Mason
comsents on Labouchere alsc, noting that, in connection with the
Mashona Rising, he was ¥Yreckless in his allegations and often
disproved as to facts, but a doubt is bound to be raised ia any
enquiring mind as to whether a substratum of truth did not
remain.¥25 Mason referred only in very general terms to
Labouchere's charges, without giving any references, and then
chose to disregard them, ir favour of more moderate testimony.2é®

- o - —— -

22 J.G. Lockhart, ani C.M. koodhouse, Rhodes; London, 1963,
p.283.

23 I1bid. pe 270. The2y comment that lLatouchere's charges of
atrocities were "groundless". In fact he2 had relied on accounts
of several eye-witnesses, ani his chargss were not at all
groundless - although he could not verify them.

24 Ibid, p.l61.

2% p, Mason, The Birth of & Dilemma. London, 19%8. p.201-202,

26 The works of L.H.Gann, History of southerms Rhodesie. Early
Days to 1934. (London,1965); R.Blake, History of Bhodesia
(London, 1977); and P. Maylam, Rhodes, the Tswapa and the

_— e e - ————— - e a - —— E EeEm LS eeaREat e—mam emEmmEERaESma e ==X

e — ———————— —— o —— ———— — —— - e - -

1980) p.68, refzr to labouchzr2 as a critic of Rhodes, but dc
not consider his criticisms at all. T.O.FKanger, Revolt in
Southern Rhodesia. 1396-18%7 (Evanston, 1967) does not refesr to

e eam e mamem e i e - -

Labouchere.

12




J.Se Galbraith2? has referred more often to labouchere and

o ——

corruption, Heanry Labouchere, made Rhodzs ancd the Charter=d
Company a special target for his bites ... He di€ s0 without
malice, he said - he professed to like the man ..."28
Nonetheless, Galbraith used Labouchere to confirm his own
opinion: he d4id not follow Labouchere's argqument tc sSee what new
insights it might give. Finally, S. Glass cites Lavouchar=z as a
critic of the Company, but dismisses his criticism with little

consideration.z2?

less dispassionate. Some sense of the outrage he excited 1n
supporters of the Company may be gained f{rom Hugh Marshall Hole,
3¢ yho obviously disliked Labouchere, since h2 hinted that well
informed pzople would distrust him avtomatically, and thzan

continued:

- ——————— ——— — -~ ——

27 J.S. Galbraith, Crown apd Charter, Berkeley,1974.

- - S 2 2 - N

28 Galbraith p.z265.

29 5, Glass, The Matabele War London, 19&8.
30 Yole was born in England in 1565. E= read law at Oxford, and
went to Kimberley in 1889. He met Rhodes, and took employaaent in
the British South Africa Ccmpany's South Africanm cifice in 1&60.
In 1852 he became s=2cretary to Jamecson, Administrator of
Mashonaland, and froam that time on, until his retiremant in
1928, he was continuously employed by the Company, in various
capacities. He began writing books on the history of Rhod2sia in
1926, The best known of his books were: The faking of Rhodesia,

_—— i o ——— —_—— S sn L=
—_ame EemaeaSsSae e - - | e e -
—_—— - - e -

introduction to Reprint of Hole, H.The Passing cof the Black

—— . —— -l

Kings Bulawayo, 1978 for bicgraphical destails.
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Among other favourite theories invented, and rzp2ated by

him, was the fiction that the Matebsle war of 1893 was

enjine=red on account of the collapse of the Mashonalani

901& bubble eee31
After 2xplaining why he believed this theory to be fiction, lole
comma2nted:

«se N0 mOre insane suggestion could have bteen made than

that anybody concerned in the country should hava

desirel to provoke such 2 war. “Lepby" was neither

insane nor ill-informed, and unquestionatly had nis

tongue in his chazek when he spread the slander.3?
Part of th2 reason for this dislike emerged when Hole commented
that opponents of the Company had been "stirred into activity"
by Labouchere, who never missed an opportunity cf “Ysguirting
venom" at Rhodes and the Company.33 He also asserted that
Labouchere was unreliable remarking that his reports were
Ymanifestly prejudiced" and based on “tainted evidence®.34
Examination of the issues raisad in Truth, the reputation the
journal enjoyed, andl the resp=ct accord2d tc Labouchers as a
Member of Parliament demonstrates that this was not the gensral
view, although it was certainly one view, of Labouchsare.

The sources of information on which Truth was baced varied
conrnsiderably. Labouchere used the Charter2d Company's own

propaganda and Company Reports extensively: he referred

freguently to material appearing in oth2r journals and

- —— —— - —

31 #.M. Hole, Making of Rhodesia. Reprint london 1967.
p.289-290.

32 1bid, p.291.
33 jpid. p. 327.

34 1bid. po331o
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newspapers - both those sharing his views, and those of opposing
viewpoints, while much of hLis comment was baued on
correspondence raceivad from pz2ople in Southern Africa. The

repatation of Truth was such that it was a logicali place to send

-—— e

material critical of the Chartered Company. %hatever the source
and nature of the material, Labouchere alwayse identified it
adegquately so that the reader might assa2ss it. He G¢id not
attempt to pass off the opinion of one man in Rhodesia as fact -
and rarely printed opinions of correspondents if hz 4id not know
who they were. If h2 d4id print dubiou:s material, it was always
with a disclaimer. The credibility of the journal may in part be
gauged by its circulation not only in England¢, but wnherevar
English was spoken, even in Rhodesia, for in April 1396 h2 noted
that:

Although 1 am frequently reproached with being a Little
Englander, I find that I have a personal interest in the
present situvation in Matabeleland, which probaily
excezeds that of the majority of Jingoes. Last week my
publisher came to me and told me he should reguire £20
less copies of Truth. On my engquiring the reason, he
informed me that the parcesl usually sent toc the
Chartered Company's territory had been stopped owing to
the uncertainty apout its being delivered at the other
end. I fear therefore that our unfortunate countrymen at
Bulawayo and other places will have to dget on as well as
they can for a week or two without Truth. It is a
gratifying discovery to me2 to know how many readers I
have in the Chartered Company's territory, and I trust
that the seed thus sown may brinc forth fruit «
hundredfold. On the other hand, as I have never to amy
knowlzdge injured a Mateabele, I take it & little
unkindly that the sins of the Chartsred Company should
be visited on me to the tune of 520 sixpences per week!

- e ———————— — - —— -

35 Truth, April 30, 1896: p.1077.
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Labouchere was truasted, as a Pretoria mnewsSpaper
acknowledged by attacking the British South Africa Company or
his behalf in “A MEMO FOR FE LABOCUCHEKEY in 1894 which stated:

Jur special correspondent at Salisbory informs us that
*the police have shot three indunas in the Mazoe
district who had been taken prisoner ané attempted to
escape”. We daresay there will ke the regulation
“engquiry" and thz2 regulation slap of whitewash, obut to
the ordinary ocutsider the killing of the three indunas
has a suspicious appearance. The shooting seems to be a
trifle too accurate, and one wonders whether tre natives
in guestion could not have been ceaujht by a little
running.36

Labouchere himse2lf enjcyed his renown, and often commented
on the adverse commsnts he éGrew, as well as the prasise. The
adverse comments usually guestioned the reliability of his
information. This probably arose from the casval style of his
editorials, for each time & major incidsnt involving the British
South Africa Company occurred, he would recite the Company's
history to that tim=s, allowing the miror details in such
recitations to vary. He obviously did not research these
synopses of the Company's activities, bot wrote from memory.
Despite this, his fundamental points remain constant, and the
inaccuracies are never such that they invalidates his charg=s.

As Truth had a reputation for very plain talkinyg in all
areas, and was egually energetic in exp2sing schem=s in England
that Labouchere beli2ved to be fraudulent, he had to dsfend the

journal against many charges of libel. He appears to have bech

successful in all cases which came to trial. On the few

- ———— - - — - -~ ——— -

36 The Press, Pretoria, Rugust 28, 16¢4.
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occasions when hs was unable to grove a chaerge he had printed,
he withdrew it, publishing an apology. Bennet, in his chapter orn

—_——-——-

Labouch=re and Truth, mentions Ythe lcngy series of libel actions
existence «.«"37 This indicatzs that Labouchere was carefal
about what he published, which makeg Hind's suggestion that he
was deliberately trying to provoke the Company into a court
challenge, in order to procure evidence that he could not obtain
any other way, inherently unlikely.3€ Whether Hind's surmise is
correct or not, it is interesting to note thet the Company never
brought a suit against Tguth.

Labouchere's reputation was very controversial, in and out
of Parliamsnt. Yst some measure of hig standing may be drawn
from the widespread regret which was expressed upon his
retirement in 1905. Thorold guoted frcem letters from many of his
colleagues, 39 and noted that he could only find one article with
negative comments in it among press reports, which still :
acknowledg=d that:

eee Mr Labouchere has done a great deal of good in his

life, more good and less evil than many so-called
statesmen.*0

- —— - — o —

37 Thorold, op. cit. p.l53.

38 Hind, pe25.

39 Including Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman, LlLord Selby, J.E.
Redmond, Sir Wilfred Lawsor, and Lord James of Hereford, among

others. Thorold, pp.d471-UTZ.,

40 Ibhid. ped473. The svurce of the guotatiom is pot identified
further.
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T.Pe« O'Connor assess2d him as follows:
see Labby was a far straighter, far more sarious, far
more effective politician than his own persiflage woalld
allow people to think.*%?
#ind considered that “Labouchere's involvement in many different
types of political activities ... reduced his effectiveness" but
even he held that Yas a critic of imperial policies, Labouchere
playeda an important part in British pclitical lifev.e2

The value of Labouchere's comment in Iruth lies less in the
factual material which he revealed then in the guestions that he
raised. He could not prove many of the theories that hes
advanced, but such theories have never been <Gisproved by those
who had direct access to Company information. Labouchere was an
intelligent, well-informed observer of the time. His opinion was
respected by such reputable English politicians as Sir ¥Henry
Campbell~Bannerman, and his jourmal wes widely reed. Ther=s seems
no doubt that his vizws of the Chartered Comgpany can contribute
to our understanding of the Company, and its activities in
Rhodesia.

This study is theretore based primarily on an examination
of Truth between the years 1888 aznd 18%%. Over that perioi,
Labouchefe developed the view that khodes was first and foremost
a financier, and a power-monger, anc that all the oparations of
the British South Africa Company were directed, not to ths
enhancement of Britaim, but to the enrichment of Bhodes and the

- ——— - — - ————

42 Hind, pp.236-240.
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major figures behind the Company. Labcuchere eioquently

presented this view from time to time, as the “plot"™ unfolded,

and it may be summarised as follows:
That the Company orijinated as a venture in financial
spaculation which was facilitated by ths Royal Charter
granted by thes British Government, and by the presance
of two dukes on its Board of Directors; that only a
small part of th2 nominal capital of the Company
repressnted cash, while the promoters secretly retained
spacial rights to themselves, then sold sharss to
unsuspecting investors; that the only asset of the
Company was a mineral concession in Mashomaland; that it
rapidly became obvious that Bcshonaland did not coatain
gold, and so, in ordzr to keep the Coumpany afloat,
Rhodes embarked on a series of raids, annexing more land
to the Company's territory, to stimulate new confidence
in investors; that the first raid was into Portugusse
territory, and it was only partially successful, as the
Company 4id secure part of Banicalanc, but failed to get
Beira, which was its objective;*3 that in 1833, thea
finances of the Company were in a desperate state, sco
th2 Company mounted its next expedition - this tias
against Lobengula - which operation was succzssful both

43 The raid on Portuguese territory does not fit the pattern
perfectly, since kKhodes's objective in Beira was to secur= a
port, not yold, and was not always mentioned, wher Labouchere
elaporated his theory.




in gaining Matabeleland, and in boosting the valu= ot

shares on the Stock Exchange; that Mataepeizsland did not

yi21ld paying gold eitner, and so, in 18%5, Rhodes

embarkz2d on the boldest raid of all - against the South

African Republic, which had alrzady proven its valuoc.%*
The Jameson Raid was abortive, and it resulted in much closer
imperial sapervision of the Company, <o that from this time on,
Labouchere's interest in the Company declinec.

Labouchere's interpretation of the Company's motives and
actions developed gradually and several themes emerged in due
course, against a background first of Mashonaland, then of
Matabeleland and finally, froa the raid and the 18%6 risings, of
Southern Africa gen2raliy. Thus, this backgrcuné has to be
2stablished up to tha formalisation of Imperial Government contrcol
in the Southern Rhodesia Order in Council of 18%8 which r=daced
Labouchere®s interest in the Company. The order provides s cut-off
point, and the form of administration, and the new economic ’
conditions, which followed its enactment will not b2 addra=ssed.

The background, in Rhodesia and to some exteht in Southern
Africa generally, is examined in Chepter II. Subsecu=nt chapters
deal with Labouchere's interest in various aspects of the
Company's activities. These are: the Compeny's oricins, and its
financial dealings; Imperiel policy ard political manipulation
::—;;;-I;;;-;;;;;;ial is presented elmost in its entirety, in
the Appendix, as a sample of Labouchere's rhetoric at its bpest,

which explains precisely what Labouchsrzs believad th2 Company
was doing in his own worés.
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by the Company; settlers and the administration; the treataent
of Africans; and the Jameson Raide. These chapters cumulatively
demonstrate that Labouchere raised many valid guestions which
have not y=t baen answered in full, and that hiz theory
concerning the Company*s development &s a speculative venture
cannot be dismissed as a figment of a disappointed man's

malicious imagination.
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I1. EARLY RHODESIA

A number of themes emerge in the study of %holes and the
British South Africa Company between 1888 and 1598, Labouche:xe
had identified the problems which these themcs reflect sarly in
the Company'é existence, ané zxpressed his concerns 3pout the
Company and its activities fregucntly until 18%8, whan the
Imperial Government introduczd tightzr supervision over tha
Company's activities.

Ona area of coacern to Labouchere was tne disreygard for
legality and due process which was evident in Khodes's actions.
This was most apparent in his attitude to the administration in
Mashonaland. Rhodes's concern was to ensure EBritish GSovernment
compliance with his wishes, and whether the sdministration had &
legal foundation or not, or whether Lcb2ngula's rights had been
violated, was of no importance to him. A similar attitudie .
prevailed with regari to the methods Ehodes employsd to achieve
his goals. He was not at all reluctant to encage in deception
and subterfuge, as long &s his obtjectives were attained, and he
had no regard whatsoaver for the rights of any opponents, black
or white. In addition his aspirations far exceedea the resources
he was willing to devote to their realisation, @na the Chartered
Company was chronically short of capital. This financial
insecurity affected every espect eof its affairs.

The role of the Imperisl Government was also a recurrent

issue which attracted Labouchere's attention for, in bis view,
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the Imperial Govarament bore an eguel rezsponsibility for the
Company's actions. It chose to employ a chartered company to
secur2 territory for 8ritain in order to save money, and it
failed to exercise effective control cver that company for the
same reason. Its responsibility went beyond the lack of control
over the company, however, for individual members of the
Government as well as Imperial Officers in Scuthern Africa
actively assistz2d Rhodes to achieve his ends.

R third general area ot concern to Labouchere was that the
rights of Africans were completely disregarded throujghout the
years which saw the cestablishment of Rhodesia, for neither the
Ndebele nor the Shona were given any consideration. Thic was so
when the Pioneer Column entered Mashonaland &gainst Lobezngula's
wishes, anl when the Company forced war on the Ndebele in 1833,
It was also evident in the hut tax which was imposeda on the
Shona, who wera living on their own land, and in the reprassive
measures taken against those who did not reacdily comply with
European demands.

These three themes recur throughout the period from 1838t to
1898 in various forms in each of the ctages which mark the
establishment and development of the Company, and of its
territory. These stages are examined in the following sevan
sections.

The first section deals with the Compary's originas.
Although Labouchere only began to follow the Ccmpany after it

had bzen chartered, all the themas which concerned him latear
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were present in the process of securirg a concession over
Lobengula's territory, and s charter fros the British
Government. The granting of the koyal Charter particularly
reveals the political manipulation in which Ehodes and his
associates engaged. The financing of thz Company reflects most
strongly the unethical methods employed by the Company, ani
calls into gquestion the purpose of the Company's creation. This
section also shows the inadejuacy of the Company's financial
foundiations. The occupation and establishment of Masnonaland
raises the question of the Company's ettituce towards the rights
of Africans, and of other European powers, and of the dangjers
implicit in allowing a commercial enterprise to intervene in
diplomatic issues. It also emphasises that the role of tha
British government was vitel in this process. The administration
of Mashonaland illustrates all three problems, and particalarly
raises the question of the purpose the Company was intenizd to
serve. That is, whether the promoters of the Compauny meant it to
be a vehicle for developing 3 new British colony, or a vehicle
for financial speculation. The conguest and settlement of
Matabelzland clearly demonstrates the violation of Africans'
rights, and the British Government's connivance at this abuse.
The Jameson Raid once again reveals the absence of morality in
the methods employ=2d by Rhodes, and the irresponsipility of the
Company's directors. Finally the Risings of 18%6 wars the result
of the administration which was created by & Company operating

under such conditions. The causes of the Risings reflect the
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problems associated with all three themes: the trutali metnods of
the Company, the absence of control by the Imperial Government,
and the neglect of Africans' rights.

Labouchere's work is of some sigrificarce today, because
modern historians are examining the seame guestions which were of
concarn to him as e2vants unfolded in khodesia. The first
historian to record the history of Rhodesia in detail was
H.M. Hole, and his work set the pattern for interpretation of
Rhodesia's history for many years. As he had been employsd by
the Company from 1890 to 1926, it is not surprising that his
interpretation was sympathetic to the Company. His history
recounted vividly the excitement of the pioneer days, ani
imparted a gloss to events which has not been easily removed.
Modern historians have begun to re-interpret ths colonial
history of 2imbabwe, and some 2f their works will be mentioned
briefly here, although specific points of debate will be raised
within each section.

T.J. Ranger's Revolt in Scouthern ERhodesia, published in
1967 was an important work in this prccess of re-evaluation.
Ranger documented for the first time the abuse of Africans which
took place under the Company's administration baztwsen 1890 and
1896, and showed that this brutality was in part responsible for
the Risings. Ranger was still strongly influenced by Bole's
writings, nowever, and attributed an important role to reiigion,
in stimulating the rebellions. Further work in re-interprating

the history of Africans, and their relations with Europeans, in




the first years of Company rule, has teen done by Cowvbing, Geach
and Stigger?! between 1973 end 1950. Irn different areas asll three
have cndun that the resports of the Company and of most
contemporary writers are not reliable, and they show that
comtemporary Europeans had little understanding of the African
socizsties into which they wers intruding.

The r2lations between Khodes and the British South Africa
Company ani the imperial government heve received zttzntion in
two recent studies, by Galbraith and Maylam.? Galbraith was
primarily concerned with the relationcship between the Impzrial
Sovarnment and the British South Africa Company, and he
smphasized the fact that the Imperial Government and its
officers in South Africa played an active role in ths early
history of Rhodesia, and that onz cannot e2xplain events
exclusively in terms of Rhodes's actions ané will. Galbraith's

work is a most useful study on the Company, put it is limited by

*

its sources, since the papers contained in the Rhodes Hous=2

Library have two drawbacks. They have been purged 5y Company

1 See J.Cobbing: The Evolution of Ndeiele Amabutho Journal of
African History 15,4 (1974); Lobengule, Jameson and the
Occupation of Mashonaland, 1630. Rhodesiam Eistory, 4, 1973.;
The Rbsent Priesthood, The Jdournal cf African History,
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18,1,(1977); DsN.Beach: Kdebele Raiders and Shona Power, Journal
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of African History, 15,4 (1974); 'Chirmurenga': The Shona Rising

of 1896-97. Journal of African History,20,3(1979); ani F.
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Stigger: The Emergence of th2 Native lepartment in Matab=l=2land,
1893-1899, Rhodesian History,7,1976; The Land Commission of 1394
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officials, and they have been thoroughly exemined by others.:
Maylam's focus in his study was on the process of imperial
expansion, and on ths relationship of the "men-on~tha-spot" with
wthe imperial government and with lcocal African sociesties".¢ He
emphasized still more the role of the "imperial factor¥ and
indicated that this role was played fcr gquesticnable motives.
His assessment of ﬂhoaés was that his motives were not important
when it can be demonstrated that the means he used ware
unscrupulous.> However, the focus of raylam's study was
Bechuanaland, and he did not relate his material to the
Company's operations in Rhodesia in any detail.

In orler to assess the value of Labouchere's comments,
therefore, it is necessary to sketch the svents of the period
under discussion in some detail. The following account is
designed to provide the information required to placs
Labouchers's remarks in context, to illustrate the tnemes which
continued throughout his obszrvations and to provide some
continuity in the account. At the same time, issues of concern
to modern historians will Le reviewed, in oréder to d=termine
vhether a more valid interpretation of the first decade of

Zimbabue's colonial pesriod might have pbezen arrived at sooaner, if

- -

3 Lockhart and Woodhouse, pe.ll. Woocdhcouse commented on recantly
released papers which he had 2xaminea: YI{ they contain any
particularly guilty sscrets, 1 have been unatle to detect them".
(p.1u)-

¢ Maylam, pp.5-6.

S Ibid. p.219




more attention had been paid to Labcuchere's interpratations.

This section dsals with white encroachment into Mashonaland
and Matabelelaand &nd the irterest of various Europecan powers in
Central Southern Africa. It also relates the process wheraby
Rhodes secured the Rudd Concassion, and subsegjuently acguirea a
Royal Charter for thz company which was to teke up the
Concession. This process reveals all thz problems which later

concernad Laboucher2. Rhodes used Imperial cofficerz to deca2iv

o

Lobengula as to his official standinc and to by-pass regutiations
prohibitingy the =2xport of arws from the Cape. His agent, HFuig,
probably made commitma2nts to Lobenguls which he knew would nct
be mat, as he was not concerned about the fate of the Ndebzle
once Europeans took over their land. By such means, the Ruld
Concession was won. The RKoyal Charter was secured with th=2
assistance of the former High Commissioner, Sir Hercules
Robinson, and of other influential inZividuals who became
interested in the Company.

Earlier historians generally described the process of
securing the Kudd Concession as a bold move by an imaginative
man, which secured sfhodesia for Great Britain, and d=nied
charges that Lobengulz was deceived.®* The more rec=nt work of
Galbraith and Maylam zmphacizes different issues. 8oth authors

- o ——— " -
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consider the role of the Impzrial Government tc have baen
important to securingy the Rudd Concession and the Charter, and
they both assert that Lobengula was deczived whzn he granted the
concession.? Thus th=2y precent a picturz of khoies using
manipulative means to secure his ends, regarcless of Lobeagula's
opposition.

In tha first years of the British South Atrica Company many
of its actions were determin2d by conditioncs in the territory
which it took over. The Company's authority derived from the
sovereignty which Lobengula was assumed to exercise over
Mashonaland. Subseguent relations betwea2n the Company and the
Ndebela were affacted by the relations between the Ndeb=lz angd
the Shoma. In addition, the Company's actions, as «ell ss
British government and public support for those actions, were
govarned by European perceptions of the Ndebele state, and its
authority over the Shona. The conditions in the arsa north ot
the Limpopo in 1889 will ther=fore be de2scrited briefly.

The MNdebele under Lobengula claimed sovereignty over poth
Matabeleland and Mashonaland, but the issue cf sovereignty was
complex. The ancestors of some of the Shona-speaking p=2oples had
been federated under the Kozvi Empire, but the central authority
had disappeared,® ani the Shona people distributed throughout

the area owed no allegiance to any central authority. They were
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T Galbraith, pp.67-71; Baylam pp.51-54.

ch, Ndebele Raiders and Shona FPower, Journal of
istory, 15,4 (1974) ppe.&£33-€35.
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organised in small groups, under local rulers. They practicea
largely subsistence agriculture, but had lony-standing trale
links with the Portuguese on the East coast, based on the gold
which they had workesd.®

The European view of ths Ndebele and their relations with
the Shona is well represented by Hole.l? He deécrihej
mzilikazi's rule as a “"reign of terror"™ during which freguent
raids caussd "Mashona natives" to leac Ythe existence of hunted
beasts rather than human beings". He continued to describe
Lobengula as a despot during whose reign savage raids incrzased.
Recent studies of Ndebele &nd Shona societies have shown that
this picture was far from accurate.’l! The Ndebele state was not
organised on military lines, nor was its king a despot. Th=a
Ndebele were organized around social and political units, ana
military groups, or amabuthc, were c¢rawn from these units and
returned to them after training, being reassembled to fight when
needed.12 The Ndebele King was a powerful central authority, but
he could not ignore the Indunas, hereditary leaders of prominent
settlements, within the statz2.13 Initially the Ndebele avoided

- - e . ———— -

9 Bzach, Kaiders, p.63d.
10 Hole, Haking, pp.31-49

11p.,N. Beach, 'Chimuoresnga'®: The Shona Rising of 1836-97, Journal
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of African History,20,3(1979); and J. Coubing, The Evolution of
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jirect conflict with the Rozvi, and ccntact bLatween thz two was
largely on an esconomic basis.!'* Once tha Ndevele state had been
consolidated, th2y d4il1 attempt to dominate the surrounding
peoples, but their raids Ywer=z limited in extent ana
duration¥,15 and somz Shona Jroups were too stromng to be
overcomg.1® Those groups which had Lteen successfully raided and
Jefeated by the Ndebele paid regular tribete to Lobenguia, and
others occasionally paid tribute to avoid being raided.

In tha 1880s, this territory became the object of attention
as various European powers wished to 244 it to their “spheres of
interest“. Potential contenders were tritain, Germany, Portugal
and the South African Republic, uand kkoles was Jetermined that
Britain should win. Laboucherzs was concerneéd about ths
Jifficulties which the British South Rfrica Company might cause
in Britain's for=ign policy, and gave consideranble attention to
the Company and its role in foreign pclicy. For this reason it
is necessary to outline the varicus intzrests in tne area.

The cornerstone of british policy in Scuthern Africa was
always the security of the Cape Colony. Gladstone's Liberal
government was reluctant to become involved in territory north
of the Cape Colony. However, both Germany and the Zouth African
Republic showed interest in the area, and the Cape Goveramant,
in which Rhodes was prominent, put pressure on Britain to act. &
18 Beach, Raiders, p.636-637.

15 Beach, Raiders, p.551.

16 Beach, Chimurenga, p.t0Z.
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British protectorate was finslly declared over techuanaland in
1885, after British auothority had been established by a military
expedition under Sir Charles Warrena.1?

Germany's interest in the area was very rcecent, and shz hagd
surprised 8ritain by declaring a protectorate over 3South West
Africa in August 1884, Britain was concerned that Cermany and
the South African Republic might co-ogerate, and block any
northward expansion of British territory, threetening the
economic dominance of the Cape Colony.1® The Scouth African
Republic was convinced that its independence rested on expansion
and access to the sea, and waged a long struggle, peginning in
the 1870s with President Burgjers, tc csecure these cnds. Britain
enjoyed some measure of control over the South African
Republic®s foreign policy undsr the Fretoria Convention ani
under the London Conventicr which superseded it in 1884.1% In
1887, the South African Republic sent a party to Matabeleland
and\claimed to have concluded what has become known as tha
Grobler Treaty with Lobengula. This alleged treaty guaranteed
Lobengula's independence, tut bound him to be an ally of the
South African Republic,

The British, alarmed at the possirility ot Eoer expansion
into the area, pursued a treaty of their own with Lobengula.

- ——— - — — ———— - -

1?7 Galbraith, p.12-13.
18 Gcalbraith, pp. 8-10.

19 ¥, Wilson and L. Thompson, (eds.) The 2xford History ot South
Africa. v.2, p. 273.
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John Moffat, son of the missionary Kolbert Moffat,20 was chosen
to negotiate, ard in 1888 the Moifat Treaty was concluded, which
guaranteed peace would obtain between the Ndebele and Britisn,
and ensured that Lobengula would not enter relations with any
foreign state without Britain's consent.?! At the same tinme,
Lobengula repudiated the Grobler Treaty. After som= dispute, the
South African Republic unwillingly accepted the expansion of
Britain's sphere of influence into Machonaland and Matabeleland.

A challenge had meanwhile developed from Portugal, which
had the longest history of interventicm in central Rfrica. As
early as 1875 she considered her African territories to coasist
at least of the east coast between Delajoa Eay and Cape Deljado
(north of 11 degrees south) and a strip along the west coast
from Cape Frio to Ambriz, and believed that she had priority
over the belt across Africa in between these provinces.??

Diplomatic activity amongst colonial power¢ resulted in the

3

Berlin Act of 1885, which stipulatec that in orler to claia &

territory on the basis of occupation a power must be able to

20 Robert Moffat first met Mzilikazi, Lobengula's father, in
1829, when the Ndebele occupied land in the Transvaal. They
became fri=nds, and Moffat was the only Eurcpezn whom Mzilikazi
truly trusted, and he considered Moftat a close friende.
Lobengula therefore accorded a special relationship, and trust,
to Moffat's son, John. John Moffat played the difficuit role of
mediating between Lobengula and the British Government, ani
later also the British South Africa Ccmpany, untii 1892, Sze
R.U. Moffat, John Smith Moffat. London, 1921. pp.2d0-261.

21 paliey, Ceo: The Comstitutional History anc¢ Law of Southern

e S e e e em e ae- e, == mae—ma-=S o

Rhodesia, 1888-1965. pe29. Oxford, 13¢6.
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witwatersrand University Press, 1967, p.l.




demonstrate effective exercisa ot authority.<3 The Pocrtuguese
began an attempt to protect their territory soon aftzr tha
Betlin Conterence, and concluded treaties with France ani
Sermany recognising the area between 2njola and Mozambiguez as
their sphere of interest. Eritain, however, protested. Not only
wers Mashonaland and Matabeleland invclved, tut Ryasaland, in
which British missionaries had been active cince Livingstone's
time, was also being claimed.2% k lonc round of negotiations
between th2 Portuguase and British began, with Britain insisting
on the premise that only effective cccupation could Dde
considered a basis for a claim to the territcry.25 These

negotiations culminated in the Anglo-Fortuguese Treaty of 16841,

- —— . - — o ——

24 1bid. p081¢
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By this time Cecil Rhodes26 considsred the territory to the
north of the Cape Colony ar zssentiel part oi his plans for &
vast British Empire in Africa, controlled by the Cape Colony.27
He began working to ensure that the territory would remain
British in the 1880's, when he pressured the Cape Pariiament,
the High Commissioner, and the British Government to prevent
German or Boer infiltratior into Bechuanalanc.Z8 His interest in
Mashonaland and Matabeleland arose both from their g=ographical
location, which necessarily involved them in his plans, and from
their reputed wealth in gold. The precence of mineral wealth was
essential to attract capital, which could be usesd in the
development of the territory, and which woulé hring wealth to
the promoters of the Company.

khodes's wealth and power in Scouth Africa was bas=zd on De
Beers Mining Company, which eventually became De us=zers
Consolidatzd. khodes and his associate, Charles Dunn=211 Ruadd,
began to work towards consolidating the Kimberiey diamond mines’
in 1673 wh2n he acguired ar interest in De Eecers Mining Company.

- ———

26 Cecil Rhodes came from a wealthy though not elite, English
family. He was the third som of an English vicar, and was
schooled at Bishops Stortford. He left England for reasoms of
health in 1870, and joined his brother, Herbert, im South
Africa, wh2n he turnzd seventeen. He $o00on demonstrated sharp
business acumen, and began to prosper. He returned to England
periodically, where he compl=2ted a degree at Oxford, over a
number of years. However his interests and sctivities for the
rest of his i1ife centred on Southern 3frica. (Lockhart anid
Woodhouse, pp.36-ULU)

27 p.,Maylam, Khodes, the Tswana,and the British,

- - — SmamRmdiens SeE s sEma-

Connecticut 1980, p.b5.

28 Lockhart and wWwoodhouse, pp.93-105.
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Amalgamating many of the smaller compenies was easzily achieved
by the acquisition of blocks of shares in the company to be
taken over. JOnly the Kimberley Central Company had presented a
formicable obstacle to his plans. 1t was a larger anid richer
group than De Beers, and one of its leading directors, Barnett
Isaacs (Barney Barmato) was adamantly opposed to the
amalgamation. Rhodes, with the assistance of Alfred Beit,
aventually succeeded in obtaining a controlling interest in
Kimberlzy Central Coampany, howaver, and the amaligamation was
formalised in 16889.29 De Eeers Mining Company and De Zeers
Consolidated brought Rhodes the greatest wealth and oowar, which
was, however, further strengthened by his control of th=
Goldfields group of companies.

Soldfields of South Africa was established in 1387 on the
ditwatersrand by Rudd and Rhodes and, after heing =ztrengthened
by amalgamations became Cornsolidated Goldfields in 1392.30 pe
Beers Consolidated Mining ani the Consolidated Goldfields of
South Africa formed the base on which Rhodes built his empire.
When the amalgamation of De Beers was coampleted, khodes exerted
his power over fellow directors to ensure that the Trust Deeds
of both Goldfields and De Beers gave the Jirectors extenmsive

powers outside those necessary for corduct of normal business,

- —— o ——— -

29 H.h. Chilvers, Story of Dg Begrs, lLondon 1939, pp.ud7-65.

30 galbraith, p.58
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to permit the development and government of countries.31

These powers weras formulated specifically to assist Rhodes
in‘the development of the korth, ané many of the sams pow=IS
wvere granted, with more lecgal force, to the eritish South Africa
Company under its Royal Charter.

The first step towards sacuring the North was to obtain a
concession from Lobengula to mine in his territory. The way
Rhodes secured this concession was an early indication of his
methods. He employed devious tactics, supported by Imperial
officers, to persuadz2 Lobengula to gremt the concession, and
even more underhandsi methods to secure it against repudiaticn.

There were a number of rival groups competing for
concessions. In order to ensure that kLis group, lesd by Rudd,
would appear prestigious to Lobengula, Rhodes enlistad thz aid
of Imperial officials. Rudd was given a letter of introducticn
by the High Commissioner, Sir Hercules Robinson, while Sir
Sydney Shippard, the Deputy Commissioner of Britiss
3echuanaland, paid a timely visit to lobenqgula to cffer
assurances that the Britishk Sovernment lookec with favour upon
Rhodes's group, and to discredit rival groups. lobengula granted
a concession to the Rudd Group on Octcber 30, 138&, immediately
after Shippard's departure.32

It appears that two factors influenced lobengula in

jranting the concession: the advantages of letting one powerzul

- —— - —— i ——— — -




group have a concession, to szttle cdisputes betwesn competin:
Europeans; and the apparent favour with which Sbipp%rd, as
representative of thz Queen, regarded Rhodes and his emissaries.
The Induna, Lotje, the miscionary Helwm,33 anf Shippard are the
three individuals credited with influencing Lobengula to grant
the concession - and also charged with corruption.3¢ Charges of
bribery have not been proven against any of the three, bput
Galbraith remarked that Shippard and RFhodes were closz
friends, 35 and Maylam noted that Shippard wacs suspzcted of
holding British South Africa Company chares, althcugh there is
no evidenc2 that he did.3¢ It is true that thesa three were
persuaded to support Rhodes's cause, and that his group created
a false impression of official sanction, but no more can be
proven. However, it appears likely that Rudd misled Lobenjula
with verbal assurancaes and promises, particularly in limiting
the area to which the concession would apply, which did not
appear in the actual document signeé.>7

The terms of the concession were very favourable to Rhoaes

and his group since, for

- —————— —————— -

33 Lockhart and Woodhouse, p.lUl&, suguest that the former
argument was put forward by Hels anéd Lotje, anc that both hac
been promised rewards for their support.

3% Galbraith, p. 71-73.

35 galbraith, p.dd.

36 Maylam, p.130,

37 J.Cobbing, Lobengula, Jameson and the Occupation of
Mashonalani, 1890. Rhodesien History, 4, 1973. p.39.
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ees E100 per month, 10C0 Martini-¥enry breech-loading
rifles and 100,000 cartridges; an armed steamboat on the
Zambesi or B500 cash Lobengula ¢granted *the exclusive
charge over all am=stals and minerals situcted and
contained in my kingdoms, principalities and dominions
together with full power to do all things they may deem
necessary to win and procure same.3®
Imperial officers further assisted Phcodes in fuifilling these
terms. As the export of arms from the Cape Cclony was illegail,
Shippard issued a special permit allowing the rifles to pass
through Bechuanaland, and kokbinson ignored it, until the arms
had been deliveresd.39 Ownership of the Rudd Concession was
vested in the Matabele Syndicate - which was comprised of
Rhodes, Rudd and the Goldfields of South Africa.%9 Having
obtained a suitable 3document, Rhodes =till hed two imgortant
tasks: to secures his position against rivals, and to obtain a
Royal Charter for the company which wes to take up the
Concession.

The Rudd Concession was by no means a water-tight document,
and was challeng2d by Lobengula, and ry rivai concessionaires.
EKhodes dealt with such threats by buying them cut, frequently at
very high prices.*} Two groups, however, presented rzal

Jifficulties: Lippert and his associates, ard Gifford and

Cawston's Exploring Coapany.

- - - - - =

38 Quoted in Palley, p.29.
39 Maylam, pe56.
40 ﬂaylaﬂ, p.56.

4Y Lockhart and Woodhouse [p.150.
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Elwarl Lippert was a German and e cousin of Rholes's
associate, Alfred Beit.*2 Lippert took advantage of the weakhness
of the Eudd Concession with regard to lamd rights to advance his
own interests. He instructed his agent, E.R. Renrny-Tailyour, to
obtain a concession of surface rights in the arsa of the Rudd
Concession. Rhodes exerted all his influence in an attempt to
prevent Renny-Tailyour from reaching Lobenguia. He had him
arrested when Renny-Tailyour entered Britishk territory, and the
High Commissioner thresatened to have lippert arrested "in the
event of my crossing the frontier of Matabeleland¥.43
However, Renny-Tailyour did reach Lobengula, ani claimed to have
been granted the concession he sought. The validity of Lippert's
concession was dubious, but Rhodes finally preferred to
negotiate a settlement with Lippert to having the guestion of
land rights in the Rudd Concession tested in a British court.
Thus Lippert himself went to Batabeleland in 18%1 and persuaded
Lobengula to confire the conczssion before witnesses. Despite
Lobengula's explicit understanding that he was granting the landéd
concession to an enemy of the Chartered Company, it was passed
on immediately to Rhodes by arrangement. Lippert was paid with

United Concessions Company and British South Africa Company

- ——— - ——————_

42 Lippert had established himself in South Africa in the 188&0s,
and had dealings both in Kimberley a2n¢ on the Fand. His interest
in Matabel2land began in 1687 and, atter an initial attempt at
co-operation, he and khodes became enemies and rivals. E.
Rosenthal, (ed.), The Matabeleland Irevel Letters of Mariz
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Lippert. Cape Town, 1960.pp. v~vi.

43 Lippert, Jjuoted in Kosenthal, p.vi.
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shares, plus 75 sguare miles of lané in Matabelzland with all
mineral rights, and £5000 cash.**

Lippert was a relatively minor irritant, for the group
which represented the most sericus threat to Rhodes was a London
syndicate formed by Lord Gifford, who had a long history of
dealings in South Africa, ani who had keen interested in
Satabeleland since 1880. With George Cawston, a London
stockbroker, he formed the Exploring Company in 1864, and by
1888 this group was represented in the bid for a concession trom
Lobengula by Lieutenant Edward A. Maund, who had visited
Lobengula in 1885, on a mission from Sir Charles Warren.®S

Maund had considerable influence with Lobengula and was
instrumsental in convincing him that he had been deceived as to
the contents of the Rudd Concession, znd that it had been a
mistake to sign it. As Rhodes's representatives had all lezft
Matabeleland, there was no-cne to ccunter Maund's arguments. In
1888/9 Lobengula entrusted Maund with the task of escorting two’
indunas to England in order to protest against Portuguese
encroachments and to repudiate the Rudd Concession.

In the resulting panic, pressure brought together the two
groups who were pursuing very similar goals. Rhodes and his
associates bought a large block of Exploring Company sharzss, and
Gifford and Cawston were to be on the Board of Directors of the
company formed to represent the amalgamated interests.

“4 Galbraith, p.275.

45 Galbraith, pp.40;60.
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Lobengula's mission was then politely r2ceived, but the
repudiation of the Rudd Concession was disregarded, so that
Maund was able to exploit the trust of Lobengula in order to
convinca him that he could not repudiate the concession after
all.

bDr Jameson*® was sent to renegotiate the conczssion.
Lobengula was still willing to stand bty his verbal agreement
“that Rudd and his men could 3ig one hole somewhere betwean the
RamagJabane and Shashi Rivers®, but would offer no more.«?
However, as there was to be no further written agr=eaent,
Jameson was able to manipulate Lobengula's words to give the
impression, outside Mashonaland, that he had agreed to thz
occupation of Mashonaland.*® In the end, Rhudes was able to use
the Concession as a valid docusent regardless of Lobengula's
attitude: it was not guestioned by the Imperial authoritias or
any other prominent party or group, and Lobengula 4id not

- —— A - -

&6 Leander Starr Jameson, a Scot, arrived in Scuth Africa in
1872, at the age of 25. He was by then a trained doctor, ani
left a good practice in London. He left England for reasoans of
health, and for the adventure. HKe established & flourishing
practice in Kimberley, where he met khodes in 1878. In 1889 he
left Kimberley, to work with Rhodes in establishing the British
South Africa Company's territory in Mashonaland. After six years
in Rhodesia, he embarked on the Jameson kaid, and in consa2guence
was obliged to resign his position as Adeinistrator. He later
became involved in Cape Colony politics, serving as dember of
Parliament for Kimberley from 1900-1912, ané as Prime Minister
from 1904-1908.

47 Cobbing, Occupation, p.U40. This territory was in dispute
between Lobengula and Kgama, and Lobengula thersfore felt it was
relatively safe to jrant permission for white men to work in
that area.

48 Ibido pp.QO"-H.
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challenge it by force.%9

The amalgamation also helpea khodes in securing a Charter
for the company which was to be formed. While his coanections in
Southern Africa could not be surpassed, Khodes diia not have good
connections at the Colonial Dffice in London. Thus, to obtain a
Royal Charter, he had to have the support of those who dil have
influence. Gifford and Cawston had London connections, but they
4did not have the concession, so co-operation became essential to
both parties. Before granting a charter, the Colonial Office
rejuired assurance that control of the Comparny would remain
British, that its founders were ‘'respectable', and that the
Board would include "men of character and social standing who
would represent the public interest".5° The Lukes of Absrcorn
and Fife were persuaded to accept appcintment to the Boaril. They
seemed well-qualified to meet the Coclonial Office's
stipulations: the Duke of Abercorn had large estates in Ireland,
enjoyed very good court connections and had served in the House
of Comaons for twenty years; the Duke of Fife hed thz right
social and political connections, and was marrizd to a daughter
of the Prince of Wales.S5! Bowever, this did rot ensure control

over the Company's activities as neither peer took his

- > -— - - - -

€% Cobbing explains that Lobengula was reluctant to challenge
the Column because it was well armed, and because he had no
outside allies on whor he could call for help. Occupation,
Pp+53-56. See pp.61-62 below tor details on the Pion=er Column.

50 Galbraith, p.113.
51 E.P. Mathers, Zamba@sia. Londion 1851. p.300.
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responsibilities as director serioucly. Sir Horace Farquhar, a
prominent banker, was added to the Eoerd of Cirectors shortly
after the Company hal been incorporated. The Charter was agreed
to in record time, owing to the political connections enjoyed by
the Company's promoters,52 and in Octcopber 18889 the British South
Africa Company was incorporatzd by koyal Charter.

The Company began as FEhodes's groiect, and coatinued thus
throughout his life. The contributions of others to running the
Company in various ways were indispenctitle, but it was Rhodes's
aims and ambitions which defined its cperations. He was given
power of Attorney to act om behalf of the Directors in HMay,
1890,53 which gave him freedom to act as he saw fit in Southern
Africa without the approval of the Foard of birectors,
indicating his fellow-directors®' lack of concern about
restraining his ambitious plans. At the same time, the Northern
boundary of the Chartered Cospany's territory was not
identified, which demonstrated that the Colonial 0Office, on
behalf of the Imperial Government, was willing to allow Rhoies
to indulge in his own schemes in the hope that they could
further imperial interests also. Thus a form of imperial
self-interast matched the financial self-interest of the
directors to concentrate power in fhodes's hands.

The unethical methods employed by Rhodes have been
illustrated here in the tactics employed to obtain the
S2 maylam, p.St.

53 Salbraith, p01330
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concession from Lobengula, and then tc secure it acaiast rival
concession-hunters, particularly with regard to Lippert's
concession. The important rols played by Imperial officers has
been evident also in securiny the concession, and in obtaining a
royal charter, while the flagrant disregarda for the rights of

the Ndebelz has been apparent throughout this section.

The Financing of th
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This guestionable background to the way in which the
Charterad Company emerged does much to explein why Labouchere
was very interested in the way in which the Company was
financed, and in the dealings which took place between various
Companies with interlocking directorates. le believed that the
Company's promoters w2re engaged in dubious financial schemes,
deceiving the British Government and public with regard to the
financial status of the Company. The following section will
describe the formation of companies closely related to the
British South Africa CZompany, and of that company itself. It
will show the connections between the directors of the
companies, which permitted them to enrich themselves, through
secret agreements. It will show that the British government and
public were deceived, that the finances of the Company were
insecure throughout the period under discussion. The
manipulation of sharzs and the shortage of real capital will

also be discussed.
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" The financial affairs of the Company received little
attention before Galbraith's and Maylam's recent studiss,5s
galbraith suggested that the finamcing of the Britisn South
Africa Company involved very guestioneble methods, but he
providel ra2latively little detailed information on the Company's
finances, and shareholders. Ke raises gquestions about the
sotives and ethics of the Company, but provided few answerse.
Maylam examsined the List of Original Sharehclders of the British
South Africa Company in the House of Lords Record 2ffice, and
Correspondence relating to British South Africa Company and
other companies® shareholders, presented to the House of
Commons.55. His study has provided some valuabls nev material on
the financial schemes of the Company, but also leaves many
guestions unanswered.

The intimate connections which existed between the
companies associated with Khodes and the British Soutn Africa
Company is demonstrated by their interlocking directorates.
Rhodes, Beit, Gifford and Cawston were all directcrs of: the
British South Africa Company, the Central Search Association,

the United Concessions Company and the Exploring Company. Rucdd

- ——————— — - ——— - ———

54 J.5. Galbraith, Crown and Charter, Berkeley,1974; and

———— e —— . - ———

P.Maylam, Rhodes, the Iswana, apd the British, Connecticut,1960.
General studies of Southern Rhodesia, such as those 0of Le.H. Gann
and R. Blake, have ignored the financing of the Company almost
entirely; works devoted to Fkholes, such as lockhart and
Woodhouse's, have a little information, but no real detail. S5.G.
Millin's 1933 biography has more information, but is still not
satisfying.

S LXXI, u467,1893-16%4. Maylem, ppe.25-226.
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was a director of: the Central Search Association, the United
Concessions Company, and De Ezers, and he ana Khodes wers the
Managing Directors of Goldfielis. EBeit and Rhodes were both alsc
Life Governors of De Beers Consolidated.

kEefora its incorporation, business associated with the
British South Africa Company had been handled Ly the Central
Search Association Liwmited. The purpose of the creation of the
Central Search Association and its successor, the United
Concessions Company, was first guesticned by Labouchere in 1692,
and answers remain spesculative today. Galbraith suggested that
the Central Search Association was needed to accomplish tha
amalgamation of interests of the two groups, and to secure the
Charter. This does not explain the continued existence of the
company after thes British South Africe Company was incorporated,
however.5¢ Maylam also addressed the cguesticn, and suggested

that the Central Search Association was needed to satisfy rival

claims to Ndebele concessions, and to protect the owners of the '

Rudd Concession, in the event of the Chartered Company being
liguidated.S7 The directore of the Cerntral Search &ssociation
were Rhodes, Gifford, Cawston, Beit, *aund, kudé and his brother
Thomas Rudi.%® This Company "bought" the Rud¢ Concession from
the Matabele Syniicate, that is, from khodes and Rudd. #Wwhen the
British South Africa Company was formed, ownership of the

56 Galbraith, p.126.

57 maylam, pp.57-58.

S8 Hathers, Pe 421.
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Concession remained in the hands of Central Search iAssociation,
and th2 British South Africa Company was granted complete use of
the concession in retarn for a fifty per cent sharzs in all its
profits, but this arrangement was not publically known for
several years. When the Charter was oranted, the Colonial Office
believad tha Kudd Concession would be owned Ly the British Scuth
Africa Company althoogh, as ¥aylam hac remarked, 5ir idercules
Robinson, as a shareholder of Central Search Association, augst
have known the truth.59 When the Central Search Association was
incorporated it had a nominal capital of £120,000 - most of
which was distributed as fully paid shares amongst its founders
and directors, and rival concessionaires. This capital was
increased to E121,000 in 1685, by the issue of 1000 shares to
Jameson, in recognition of his services.®©

In 1890, the Central Search association was liguidat=2d and
transformed into the United Concessions Company, which held the
same assets as the Central Search Association, that is, the Rkudd
Concession, but had a nominal capital of &4 million. &n
agreement was made between the British South Africa Company, the
Exploring Company, Goldfields and the United Concessions Company
that the British South Africa Company would buy the Rudd
Concession at the end of 1690. However, it was extended for one
year on no less than three occasions before e propitious moment
arose for approaching shareholders with a proposal forcinj the

i —————— - ——— -

60 Galbraith, p.85.
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transaction in such a way &s to further the enas of the ianner
cabal.®! This occurred in 1893 when the Rudd Concession was
bought up by the British South Africa Company and the four
million United Conc2ssions Company shares were converted into
one million k1 shares in the British South aAfrica Company.
Comments which appeared in Truth in 1893 make it apparent that
this agreement haé not been revealed to shareholdears. The
purchase of the Rudd Concession was publically justified on the
pasis of the agreement, negotiated by the samsz group, to pay
fifty percent of the British South Africa Company profits to the
United Concessions Company.®2 Since the valus of United
Concessions Company shares was only ten shillinas, and unlikely
to increase, while British South Africa Company shares were
above &1 and rising, it was a profitable tramnsaction for United
Concessions Company shareholders.

The Exploring Company, which Giftord and Cawston had formed
in 1884, with a nominal capital of %1Z,000, had undergone a "
similar transformation in 168B8BS%. The original Exploring Coampany
was dissolved, and a new company, still named the #xploring
Company was formed, with a capital cf £35,0060. 5y 1831, the
capital of the Exploring Company had been increased again, to

£70,000.¢3 Its directors verz Gifford, Cawston, Rhodes, Bz2it and

- — - - —_— -

61 maylam, p.57.

. November, 1893, p.1155; December 7, 1893,
1224.

63 Truth, January 1, 1831, p.14.

50




Maund.bé

The initial capital of the Britich South Africa Company was
nominally set at &1 million. It was okviously undercapitalised
in terms of the scopz of the undertaking, yet at the same tine
£1 million was an optimistic estimate of its assets, which at
that time were a half share in a mineral concession of unproven
value, and a koyal Charter. Khodes used the press and Company
propaganda to create the illusion of valuable assets in order to
attract capital to his company.®5 The initial paid-up capital of
the Company was considerably less than E1 million. For th2 first
two years no public issue of shares was made, and transfer or
shares was prohibited for one year after the charter was
granted.¢® At first only 250,000 shares were issued and fully
paid at their par value of ¥1. A further 500,000 were
distributed for a payment of three shillings per share, the
balancz to be called up later, and the remainder were not
"released immediately.®? De Ezers subscribed for 210,000 of the °
original shares, 70,000 fully paid, and 140,000 on which three
shillings was paid.t®

64 Information on Cantral Search Association, United Comca2ssions
Company and Exploring Company is frcm Mathers, pp.46d-461;
Galbraith, pp.84-86,126; and Maylam, pp«56-5t.

65 Truth, January 1,1891, pe.ll.

¢¢ Truth, January 15, 1891,p.124.

67 Mmaylam, p.59.

68 Chilvers, p.93.
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Thne distribution of shares was guestioned by Labouchers,
who not2d in 1892 that guite large numbers of shares were
distributed at par by Rhodes and Beit to "influential men" who
could be useful to the Company, at e time when their stock
mark=t value was between 4 and £5.99 Galbraith and Maylam are
the only authors who have provided informatiun on the subject
since then. Maylam has the most detaeiled information, and has
described the way in which British Souvth Rfrica Company shares
were usad to secure the support of imperial cofficials, Cape
politicians, and financiers.?°

The nominal capital of the Company was increased sevaral
times ba2tw2en 1890 and 1897 - without any particularly =oiid
bas2 for expecting increased revenuve. After the Matavbele dar,
when the price of Chartered Company shares was high, the

Company's capital was doubled. One million rew shares werz

issue2d, in order to purchase the Rudd Concession frozx the United

Concessions Company in accordance with the 1690 agreement: these

were distributed amongst the sharehclders of the United
Concessions Company. At the same time, in order to meet Company
debts, £750,000 was raised in 3debentures to be repaid with
interest on January 1st, 1696.7! As the Company's financial
state was no better in 1895, a new issue of 533,000 shares was
prepared for January 1896. Later im 1896, a further one million

- - ———— o ————— - ——

69 Truth, January U4, 1894,

71 s.G. Millin, Rhoda2s, Lordon, 1933. p.205.



shares wer2 issued. The Company propoced a scheme of
underwriting, which was rejected by shareholders, and the shares
wer= thus issued diractly to the pulklic. The Company's nominal
capital thzrefore stood at 4,500,000 ty the end of 1896.72

The initial occupation >f Mashcnzland drained the Coapany
of its initial capital, and it was only beceuse Rhodzs coulid
call upon the backing of Ccnsolidated Goldfields and De Bezers as
a result of the Trust Deeds hes had created, that the British
South Africa Company managed to survive. In July 1391 the
Company's available resources were 280,000, but by December
1891 they were reduc=s3d to :144,000, and the value ot the
Company's shares had dropped below par.?3 Emerg=ncy measures had
to be taken. The balance owing on partially paid shares was
called in, and various loans weres arrenjed. Goldfields, Bz2it and
Khodes =sach agre=d to lend &500 per month,?4 and, although De
Beers had already lent the Company £7C,000, it agreed to lend a
further £3,500 par month. Thaese payments continued for
forty-thre2 months. In addition, when De Beers paid a dividend
in Decamber 1891, a bonus was paid in British South Africa
Company shares.?5 Hedley Chilvers ccaments:

Without the original investment of E210 000 (original
72 millin, pp.319-321.
73 Maylam, p.87.
74 Galbraith, p.263.
7S Each investor received in British South Africa Coampany shares

one-fifth the number of De Eesrs shares held. Heh. Chnilvers, The
Story of D2 Beers. p.102.



péiﬂ—up outlay £91,000) by De Beers, the agsistanca

given the pioneer column, anu the loan of £22(,500,

togethar witn other support, it seems problematical

whether the British South Africa Ccmpany would have

survivzd its early difficulties.?¢®

Aspects of the financial dealings of the British South
Africa Company w2re thus highly suspect. Khocec used British
South Africa Company shares to achieve his own ands -
politically and financially. Sharehocliders of the Company were
deliberately misled as to the value of the Company in which they
were investing. The Company's promoters ratained ownership of the
rRudd Concession secretly and by this manoevre, broeght wvwealth to
themselves. Tha2 continued existence ot the Central
Search Association and its conversion into the United
Concessions Comparny indicated an intention to retain ownership
of the concession antil a favourable moment for "s=1ling" it.
The dramatic inflation of capital in the United Concsssioans
Company and the Exploring Company similarly sudggested undarhand
dealing. Examination of the financing of the Eritish 3South
Africa Company stimulated lLabouochere's interest, and his
suspicion that the Company's promoters were &ngagec in
speculative financing struck a raw nerve, so that th2 Company's

financial structure and managesment became a matter of continuing

concern for him.
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The relationship between the British Government and the
Charter2d CTompany, the legal Lasis for the administration of
Mashonaland and Matabeleland, the occupation of Masnonaland and
the establishment of territorial boundaries will be discussed in
the following section. The Goverument's failure to exercise
control over the Company is an important theme in the early
history of Rhodesia, and it is therefore important that the
reasons for this failure be onderstooc¢. The way in which the
legal foundation of the Company's administration was laid
reveals the willingness of the British Government ani its
officials to employ a mixture of subterfuge and facade in order
to establish the Company in EKhodesia. The occupation of
Mashonaland shows the influeace of firnancial restraint on the
Company's operations, and the Company's disregard for African's
rights. Finally the process of estaklishing the Company's
boundaries again demonstrates the Comrany's unethical methods,
and illustrates Labouchere's concern cver the implications of
the Company's activities for Sreat Fritain.

The relationship between the British Government and
Imperial officials was important in determining the cours2 of
events. The Charter invested significent thecretical control in
the lmperial Governmant, but this control could not be sffected,
as ther2 was to be no Imperial Government officer resident in

the Chartered Company's domain. The lccal Imperial Governament
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representative with authority over the Company was the Kigjh
Commissioner for South Africa, resident in the Cape and entirely
dependent on the Company for information about the territory.
The High Commissionar was also Governur of the CTapz Colony with
extensive responsibilities in that capacity. The laperial
Government refused to spend the money necessary to employ a
Resident Commissione2r in Mashonaland in 1891; thus, the closest
imperial officers were the Rdministrator and Chief Magistrate of
British Bechuanaland, S5Sir Sydney Shippard, and Assistant
Commissioners J.S. Moffat ani W.H. Surmon of the Bechuanaland
Protectorate, where Maylam has shown that Rhodes had great
influence, at least initially.?77 Sir Henry Loch, High
Commissionar from 1889 to 1895 had inadegjuate information
because he had no local official; and for the same r=ason he was
unable to 2nforce any changes in policy that he may havs wished
to bring about, initially in Mashonaland and subsezuently in
Matabelaland.

A second issue of importance in the early years of the
British South Africa Company was the legal basis of its
governmaent. The Chartered Company's claim to Mashonaland
ultimately rested solely on the concession granted by Lobenagula
to the Rudl group in 1888. This concession granted full mineral
rights, but no land rights or rights to govern Europeans oOr
Africans in the aresa. The Ekoyal Charter in turn only empowered
the Company to "acquire by any concescion agreement gjrant or

- ———— - — - - ——

77 Maylam, pp.130-131.



treaty, all or any rights interests ... whatever, including
powers necassary for the purposes 2f governament andi the
preservation of public order «..".78 Although the Charter then
proceedad to stipulate terms and conditions of the Company's
administration, all details rested on the proviso that the
Company had secured the agrezment of the African ruvler within
whose taerritory it wished to =stablish an administration.
Lobengula, however, utterly refused to grant any qgoverning
rights to the British South Africa Company. he repudiated the
Rudd Concession as a writter document and attempted to confine
the Company's mining operations to the Shashi river area, and he
never gave permission for thz occupation of Kashonaland by the
Company.’9 Thus, whan the British South Africa Company bejan to
plan its first moves in Mashonaland, it had no legezl basis for
sending in pioneers, or for estavlishing any kind of
administration. In fact, the Company ¢id not acauire a secure
legal footing in Mashonaland until lobengula was dsfoated in
war. Between Septemb=r 1890 and November 1893, the Company and
the British Government employad various strategems to create the
illusion of legality, while the Company created a different
reality.

The legal illusion developed since, when the Company
claimed to have got Lobengula's consent for &« party to enter
Mashonaland, it was not reguired to produce evidence. Once the

- ———— - —— = -

¥9 Cobbing, Occupation, p.S%5U.
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occupation had taken place, the Imperial government 1id not
allow any system of courts ani ordinance-making to be set up,
but it 3id allow th2 Company to issue “regulations"”. This the
Company dii, utilising appliciable sections cof Cape Colony law.
Settlers who rebtellei would be warned to obey, or thz=y would be
expelled from the country.®0 This tactic was adeguate while
there was no challenge to the British South ifrica Company's
authority. However, as the numbers of settlers increased, and
when it was feared that Boers from the Transvaal were planning a
trek to establish a new republic in Mashonaland, the Eritish
Government decided to place the weight of more diresct British
authority behind the Company and reluctantly declared a British
Protectorate over the whole of Lobengula's territory.®! The
Protectorats was proclaimed by Order in Council of the 9th May
1891. The Order vested extensive powers in the Hian
Commissionar, subject to instructions from the Secretary of
State, to appoint all administrative officers, issus
proclamations a2tc. However, the Colornial Dffice wrotzs to the
British South Africa Company reassuring them that thz Ordsr was

to support Company powers, and that the High Commissioner was

- —— - — - -

80 pallzy, pp.39-43,

81 palley, pp.87-89 has a detailed explanation of the intricate

web of legalities involved in this step. It was decided that the
Protectorate could be declarsl on the basis of sufferance, since
Lobengula had not actively opposed the exercise of authority by

Britain over British subjects in his territorye.
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not expected to exert all his authority.e&2

After tne Order was proclaimed, tir Henry Loch issuel a
proclamation on 10th June 1691 giving effsctive control of the
Protectorate to the High Commissioner. The Froclamation
established a Resident Commissioner in Pashcnalané who woulld
control the administration ani finance of the territory. The
Imperial Government nonoured its undertaking to the Company, and
the only provisions it allowed to be effected were those iealing
with law and its administration.®3 Since Lock had alrzady
appointed Colguhoun Resident Commissioner, his title wasg changed
to Chief Magistrate, and Company crdinances wers issued to
replace other necessary provisions. Thus the Crder ia Council
applied a facade of legality but the Company's administration
continued to operate much as it had dcne before, while ths
guestion of the Company's ownership ot the land was deviously
solved, with the aid of Edward Lippert's concession, almost
contemporaneously with the machinations surrcuniing the OJOrder.

Questionabl= as these mzasures were legally, th=ay were
never challenged in a court of law in the 184Y0s.8% Lobengula was
reluctant to challenge the Company by force. Therefore the

- ——— ———

8z Pallay, pp- 87‘89 CitES H-C-1893/9’-3, LXI,EJOS, «ee
Correspondesnce ... Mashonaland ... (C7171) PBRo.l,p.1, nay 1891.

83 pall=y, p.91. Pall2ay notes that these provisions specitfied
that the law cf the Cape Colony was tc be applied.

84 Tn 1918 a Judicial Committsze of the Privy Council, appointed
to determine the rights and liabilities of the British South
Africa Company, decided that the Compeny had no right to the
land in Southern Rhod2s3ia, bhut was “Yacdministering them for the
croun". Palley, p.206.



measures succeeded, and the Company's adminictration was
provided with a guasi-legal foundation.

A further step in establishing a morz formal legal
administration was taken on 10th September 1894, when the
Matabeleland Order-in-Council was isscved, giving the Company’'s
administration well-defined legislative and judicial authority
over almost all the area of what became in due cours=2 Zimbabwe.
The chief official was the Rdministrator and Chief Magistrate,
appointed and paid by the Company, with the approval of the
secretary of State. A High Court was created, with one or aorxe
judges to be appoint=2d and paid by the Compeny. The
Administrator was to be assisted by a Council consisting 3f the
Judge, plus three other members appcinted by the Company, with
the Secretary of State's approval.®S The 1894 Order in Council
gave the illusion of increased Imperial Government control, tut
the Crown still had no local officers, and the situatioan becanme
only superficially more formal. In practice control could not be
implemented, and the administration of khodesia was left in the
hands of a profit-orianted commerciel enterprise.

such was the legal and, at times, largely theoretical,
position.

The rzality was different, for the presence ot the British
South Africa Company in Mashonaland was established by an
operation which was organised and cerried out under countract by
Frank Johnson in partanership with Maurice Heany, Henry Bborrow

o —— — - ———
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and Frelerick Selous.®% Johnson undertook to occupy Mashonaland
with a force of 250 m=zn, for less than £95,0G0, wherzas an
exparienced British army officer beliecved he needed 2,500 men to
accomplish the same task.®7 The occupation was carried out by
the Pioneer Column which was made up cf a Picneer Corps,
escortel by two troops of bBritish South Africa Company Police.
Upon the insistence of the Kigh Commicsioner, three additional
troops of British South hfrica Company Police had been
recruited, and were close at hand, in case diftficulties arose.
The Pionesr Corps®8 consisted of 21 officers and 168 troopars,
accompanied by about 40 civilianse. kn artillery troop was
formed, well-armed with maxims and field gunse. Some oif the
artillery was on loan from the British Navy in Simonstown, which

allowed the Company to buy the discharge of five traimed

- -

86 frank Johnson was a young adventurer with some local
experience. He arrived in South Africe in 16562, aged sixtzen. In
1884 he went to Bechuanaland with the warren Expeditionary

Force, then served in the Bechuanaland BRorder Police until 1€387.

He then formed a syndicate with three friends, Eorrow, Heany and
Ted Burnett, and obtainszd a concession from Kgama. They joined
forces with Gifford and Cawston, and the dechuanaland Explorinag
Company was formed to2 exploit it, under Johnson'*s managem=2nt.
Howaver, as a result of the amalgamation of interests betwaen
Gifford and Rhodas, the concession lost its importance, and
Johnson felt he was not duly rewarded by Gifford and Cawston for
his efforts. Because he refused to be employsd by a concern in
vhich they were directors, hz and Rhodes agreed that he should
plan and l2ad th2 Pioneer Expedition as a ccntractor. F.
Johnson, Great Days, reprint, Bulawayc 1372. pp.7-11; Blake, ppe.
62-53.

87 Lockhart and Woodhouse, pp.176-177.
88 Information on the Pioneercs is found in k. Cary,

¢
Royal, Caps Town, 1970; ané R. Cary, Ihe Bicueger COILDE
Salisbury, 1975.
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qunners.8? In the initial phase of the journey, thz column was
accompanied by about 150 Bamangwaeto, wh0 were to assist in
cutting th2 road, and by a2 large number of African wagon
drivers.?%% The calibre of th2 Pioneers was cquestiocnable. Hole
claimed: "no finer corps 4'elite thenr the British Soath Africa
Police and the Mashonaland Pioneers has ever bean raised¥".9! On
the other hand, an officer of the British South Africa Company
Police described them thus: “Such a mixed lct I never saw in my
life, <.« peers and waifs of humanity mingling tog=ther like the
ingredients of & hotch-potch",92 while Labouchere called them Ya
lot of buccaneers¥%.?3

The route chosen was a cautious one, skirting Matabelzlandg,
so as to enter Mashonaland without risking @irect confrontation
with thz Nlebele. Lobengula had given his consent for
prospecting to begin, but not for the entry of an occupation
force, thus the occupation did constitute a challenga to his
authority. There was a real concern that the Ndesbele might
attack and, at least while in the low bushveld country, th=2
column might have had difficulty deferding themselves. Howaver
Lobengula was unwilling to engage in tattle with the Europeans.
He hoped to find some means of co-exicstence with the Chartered
85 Cary, Charter, pp.68-69; Pioncers, pp. 125-126.
90 Johnson, 129/30.
91 Hole, Making, p.133.

92 A.G. Leonard, guoted in Galbreith, pelid7.

93 Truth, August 1890, p.U43t,
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Company, since it was obvious he was Kot likely to be rid of it.
94

The Pioneers collected in the Fechuanaland Protasctorate at
Mmacloutsie, and entered Mashonaland on July 10, 16840, at the
Shashi Rivere. They built a stronghola at the site, which became
Fort Tuli, and built two more forts as they «dvanced, at Fort
victoria and Fort Charter. On September 12, they reached their
destination and created the town of Salispury, now Harare.

The Charter defined the principle field of operations of
the British South Africa Company as ¥Ythe region of South Africa
lying ismediately to the north of British Bechuanaland ani tc
the north and west of the Scuth African Eepublic and to the west
of the Portuguese Dominions".9% The Ccmpany's aspirations
extended beyond Mashonaland and Matabeleland. It hopad to
include as well %“anicaland, Gazaland, Barotscland, the Lake

Nyasa area and the Katanga. One of the people working for

- —— —— — > —— -

94 Lobengula had sufficient contact with other Africans to know
what kind of force he was up against. He knew the history of his
own people, who had been unable tc hold their land in the
Transvaal against the Boers. Hz had ceen the Swazi Kingdoam eaten
away, as a result of the concesssions cranted to white men; the
much-fearad Zulu of Natal, who had tried to resist white
authority had been defeated; and he had seen Kgama, chief of the
Ngwato come to terms with the white men, retaining soma dignity
and authority over his people. While ke cannot have hoped to
2mulate Kgama's settleoment spscificelly, he knew that he would
lose his country altogether if no accommodation with the white
men could be found.

?S C8773, pe.588.
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Rhodes was Sir Harry Johnston.®® when in an agrsement with the
British Government, Johnston became Consul for East Africa, with
his salary paid by Rhodes, h2 was expected to alvancz Rhodes's
interests. de sign=d treaties in the Lake Nyasa arca, and
successfully eliminated the Portuguese threat, although the Lake
Nyasa area was only formally secured when the Sritish South
Africa Company took over the African Lakes Company in 1893.97
Action was necessary elsewhere, however, and the Company's
administrator, Archibald Cclguhoun's, first task once the
Pioneer Column was safely in Mashonaland was to sign treaties
with local African chiefs who were not Lobengula's tributaries.
Agreements wer=2 signed with Umtasa in Manicaland, with
Gungunyana in Gazaland, and with petty chiefs in the area. Other
missions were sent Sut to secure territory in RBarotseland, and
if possible, in the Katanga as well. In Barotseland Lewanika
jranted a concession to an ajent of the Company in 1830. The
Katanga, known to be rich in minerals, was the desirable prize
for the Company, and three separate perties were despatched to
attempt to secures a concession to the area.%? The parties wers
ill-eguipp2d and lacked co-ordinaticn, however, and the attempt
failed. Locally signed treaties were of limited significance e&s

e - ——— —————

96 Johnston was an explorer, naturalist and artist, with an
interest in East Africa. He went on explorinc expeditions in
Central Africa, and rapidly won a reputation in Britain for bLis
extreme imperialist plans for Southern BRfrica.Re wzs appointed
Consul-General in Portuguese East Africa in 188%. Elake, p.7&.

7 salbraith, pp.226-2131.

98 glake, pp. 81-82.

bU



in most cases they merely grovided support for negotiations
betwa2en Europeans, and the final decisions were made in Europe.

The Chartered Company's attempts to secure territory in
Manicaland and Gazaland involved it in conflict with Portugal.
kRhodes wanted to secure access to the sea for his territory, ané
the Portuguese controlled the East Coast, north of Da2lagoa Bay,
and he was determined to influence the outcome of eritain's
negotiations with Portugal in his favour. Barotseland and
Nyasaland were still under discussion, Mashonaland and
Matabel2land were recognised as Britain's spherz, and the
Portuguese possession of the coast of Mozambigquz was undisputed.
Rhodes was most interested in the territory between Yashonaland
and the East Coast, Manicaland, and Gzzaland, and in th=
Portuguese port of Beira. Ee believed that if he took guick and
decisive action, he could def=at the Fortuguese, if necessary,
and that Britain would accept a fait accomplie.

The British Government, however, was wary of confrontation
with Portugal. Lord Salisbury had tc ensure that the delicate
balance achieved at Berlin was not upset by forcing an
unreasonable settlement on Fortugal.®? While their diplomats
negotiated, both Portuguese and britich South Africa Company
agents were active in Central Africa, trying to obtaim trzaties,
and to establish a presence. Rhodes succeeded to & limited
extent in forcing Salisbury's hand in negotiations, by acjuiring
proof of British South Africa Compary presence in ar=as claimed

——— ———— -~ - ———

99 Galbraith pp. 158-159,
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by the Portujuese, but his hopes of acauiring Beira or another
port on thz2 East coast were ndot met. Salisbury would not bpe
pushed too far, and insisted that Portugal's claims to the east
coast werz incontrovzartible. A treaty concluded in August 1890
conceded most of Manicaland, Gazaland and Barotseland to the
portuguese. This agreement was apprcved by the British South
Africa Company Board of Pirectors in london before it was
signed, 190 put the Portuguess declined to ratify it. This gave
Rhodes his opportunity. He encouraged his agents, who had his
unwritten permission to create incidents with the Portuguazse if
necessary. So it was that, between Aucgust 1850 and July 1591,
when a treaty was finally concluded and signed by coth parties,
Rhodes's ajents deliberately created several incidents with
Portuguese agents in Portuguece territory. It seems clear that
Rhodes'"s intention was to seize Beira by force,!0! and his
agents' dubious tactics generated substantial public support.
The terms of the final treaty were more favourable to the
Company, even though the Impesrial Goveranment resisted all
atteapts to force the Portuguese out of Beire. The treaty placed
most of Manicaland in the Eritish Scuth Africa Company's hands,
while the guestion of Barots=land was postponed, and Gazaland
and the East Coast remaineé¢ under Portuguese control.102

100 Galbraith, p. 172.

101 1bid. p.177.

102 pxa2lson, pe 296; Galbraith p«.197.
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The way in which Macshonaland was occupicd and the company's
boundaries secured r2veals Loth the scope of the Company's
aspirations, and th2 guestionable methods they 2mployed in
pursuing their ends. Johnscn's Pioneer Column was a risky
manoeuvre, and violated Lobengula's prohibiticn against the
occupation of Mashonaland. In their confrontation with the
Portuguese over Manicaland, Sazaland and Beira, the Company
shoved no concern for Britain's diplomatic standing, nor respect
for Portugal's rights. These activities justified ths fears
which Labouchere expressed about the policy of using chartered

companiss to achieve imperial ends.

The Administration of Mashopaland

The Company's =2arly record of cuestionable financial deals,
and flagrant disregard for the rights of others led Labouchere
to report details of the Company's administration which came to ’
his attention. The letters and comments which he printed
sometimes revealesd sarious misdemeanours by Coampany officials.
The following section therefore describes the administration
established by the Company in some detail, showing tnat all
three of the protlems which concerned Labouchere affacted the
kind of adaministration which was estatlished in Mashonaland. The
information available on the a2dministration sstablished in
Mashonaland is scarce. Company reports give only partial

information, and cast that which is provided in a most
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favourable light. Hole gives 3 little intormation, but doss not
describe the alministration in detail, and no recent historians
have examined the Cospany'*s initial adrinistration in
Mashonaland in detail either.

In considering the British South Africa Company's
activities between 1890 and 1896, it is hard to escape the
conclusion that it 3id not devote serious attention to
developing its territories in those years. The Company lacked
capital, and this affected every sphere of its operations. Its

aspirations were boundless, and widely publicissd, but it did

[14}

not have the means to give substance to such dreams: the mesans
of access to the territory improved very slowly, and few
incentives were given to settlers. The attitude of Company
officials - from its Managing Director, Rhodes, down - towards
legality and conventional forms was extremely casual, the rights
of Africans were disr2garded, and every possible means of
raising money was seized. Th2 Imperial Govermment not only
failed to exercise control over the Coampany's aiministratioan,
they co-operated with it to find a legal base for administering
Lobengula's territory without his concent.

While the dispute with the Portucuese was in progr=ss, the
Company was also active in Mashonaland. The cGubious legality of
administering Lobengula'’s territory did not deter Rhodes from
doing it and, once the occupation of Fashonaland had been
accomplished, the work of setting up en administration was begun

immediately.
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In order to understand the administraticn established by
the Company, it is necessary to understand its limitations ani
its objectives. Ths British South Africa Company was a financial
ventura which was 2xpected to prcduce & profit within a
reasonable length of time. The directors and Company employees
responsibla for running the country had little sxperience of, or
interest in, territorial acdministraticn. Their first concerns
were to praserve law and ordsr, to provide for gold prospecting,
to establish mechanisms for collecting revenues, and to prevent
conflict with local Africans. Other concerns were to avoid
imperial intervention by presenting ar appearance of effective
administration, the provision of miniral services to settlers
and prospectors, and to keep costs as low as possible.

Colguhoun had worked as an admipistrator in India and did
attempt to establish a regular adminictration within the liaits
imposed on him by the Company's finances. The initial
administration established was very basic. Eugh Harshall Hole, ah
member of the administration after 1890, commented:

“Mining andl revenue officers were ... Chosen from the material
at hand, and ... by the time the first settlers began to anter
from the south a rough-and-ready system of administration was
ees in existence.%".103 jApnp example of this practice is the
appointment of L.A. Vintcent. A member of the Fionzer Corps, he
was made Mining Commissioner and Justice of the Peace for tne
Lomagundi district in February 1691, et the age of 26. Cary's

- ————— - ——————

103 Hole=, YMaking, p.277.
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biographical not2s on the Fioneers reveal no relevant
experience, merely that he was a "ncted cricketer".1904

Thez Company's financial status was an important factor
determining the kind of administration to be established. The
role of the British South Africa Company was not to be diractly
involved in mining: it was to police and administer the
territory, and sell or lease claims or land to those who wanted
to mine, farm or sst up businesses. Its revenues wsre to b=
derived from a share in the profits of other companies operating
in its territory. However, no revenues coulé be gathzred initially,
so that a substantial progportion of the avaiiable capital was
rapidly exhausted. The Report of the Eritish Scuth Africa
Company's Directors which was presesnted to sharzhold=srs on 29th
November 1892,105 gives some idea of early costs, although it
does not present complete financial statements. Th= Pioneer
Column cost almost £90,000. The cost of estewlishing
communications was substantial. Railway costs were deferred
until after 1890, when the Kimberley-Vryburg section, to be
undertaken by the British andi Cape Covernments, had bpeen
completed. Howaver, the Company was responsible for the
telejraph extension, and by 1892 had spent nearly 93,000 to

extend telsgraph wires to Salisbury. Road building was not a

- - - - - =

10s Cary, Pioneers, p.105.

105 The British South Africa Company lLeport on the Company's
proceedings and the condition of the territories within the
sphere of its operations, 1889Y-1892. Fresented to Sharsholders
29th November, 1852.
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direct cost, as it was contracted out to private companies.10¢
The Company's territorial ambitions, together with the nesd to
protect a small white community from serrounding Africans, led
it to form a police force of 650, which was in effect a private
army. The Raport acknowledged that the Police Force had been
very expensive, but did not detail costs. Galbraith gives the
annaal cost in 1890 as B30C peor member, or 135 0G0 for ths
year.19?7 such expens2s rapidly consumed the cash available to
the Company and, without the prospect of immediate r2turns from
gold findings, it was faced with the necessity of porrowing
money, and of drastically curtailing its expenditure. Despite
advances from De Beers and others, it was necessary to reluce
the police force, first to 100, thenm to U0 in 1892.108

The British South Africa Company Keport for 1589-184Y2 lists
twenty—-four members of the administration, ftilling thirty-five
positions. A thin layer of men was sgread unevenly over a large
area, aany fulfilling a range of functions. Thare were fiva
magistrates all of whom alsc served as marriage officers, and
the Chizf Magistrate was also the Administrator. One of thz five
Justices of the Peacs was also Public Prosecutor, ani there was
a Master to administer estates of minors, lunatics, deceas2d and
absent persons and insolvents. All the above officials were
appointed by High Commission2r®s notice. There were alsc seven
106 1pid. pped-T.
107 Galbraith, p.262.

108 Galbraith, p.263.
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Field Cornets, five mining commissicners (three of whom ware
also Justices of the Peace), five district surgeons, and a
surveyor-Ganeral and Acting Post-Master General (who also served
as a Field Cornet). All the latter cificiale were appointel by
the Company.109 pA]l]l members of the administration had extensive
duties and freguently exercised authority beyond that normally
associated witn their positions. Magistratecs were responsible
for maintenance of law and order between Eurcpeans, and batween
Europeans and Africans, over very larce areas. The Field Cornets
were responsible for the security of the territory and, after
1891, when the Company began cutting tack the British South
Africa Company Polics, their importance greatly incr=zased. They
wvere in charge of forming a group of iocal settlers into a
commando for defasnce, when the need arose - following the system
employed by the B8oers in the Transvaal and Crange Frsze State.

The commandos were often used for policing purposes as well.l1i0

- —— o —— ——

109 gritish South Africa Company HKHeport, 188%-1892. pp.7-3.

110 ganger, pp.&0-61.
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administration. In 1890 three ofticial 3istricts wer=
created, 11!l but by 1892, there were four major settlament areas:
Tuli, Victoria (now Nyanda), UYUmtali and Salicbury, each of which
had a magistrate, anl a district surgeone. Five mining
commissionars were responsible for scmewhat ¢ifferant districts:
victoria, Umtali, Mazoe, Lomagundi &and Umfuli. Placing these
sites on a map revesals that their rationale was not
administrative efficiency. With the exception of Tuli, which is
about 430 miles from Salisbury, all districts are within a 200
mile radius of Salisbury. Mazoe, Lomagundi and Umfuli are ail
west or north-vwest of Salishury, and ere all within 100 miles of
Salisbury. One magistrate covered both Salisbury and Kartlay
Hills, while the Hon. C.J. White was mining commissioner for
Umfuli, and Justice of the P=zace foxr hartley Hills. The
districts of Field Cornets appear tc be basec upon their own
farms or ra2sidences. The positions of Administrator, and
Surveyor-General and Acting Postmaster General cover2d the whole
territory.

According to the Coampany's repcrt, in 183C there wer2 an
estimated 1000 whites in Mashonaland, By Cct 3, 1852, when the
Surveyor-General's report was compiled, this had increasel to an
estimated 3000. Five hundred farms ha¢ been granted and 300
people vere estimated to be occupyirg farms, but titles had been
issued to only 13, and 69 Certificates of Land kights had been
issued. No information or town plots was record=d. There is

- —— - ——————

111 Johnson, pe. 155,
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scattered information on the issue of trading and professional
licences, but it is not sufficiently complete to ailow any
conclusions to be drawn.,!12

Telegraph links with Mashonaland were establishad rapidly,
but other aspects of communications were developeua vary slowly.
Railways w2re built simulteneously from Kimberlesy and froa
Beira. The 126 miles from kimberley tc Vryburg were complated by
December 1890, in just over a year. The next section, to
Mafeking, was not comam2nced until 18923, and was completed in
1894. Work aid not coumence on the extension to Matabeleland
until the end of 1895, and the railway only reached Bulawayo at
the =2nd of 1897.113 The Beira railway was buillt on a narrow
gauge, and work commenced in 189Z. It passed through difficult,
fever-ridden terrain, and made very slow progress. Tha line
reached Umtali only in 1898.11% Until rail links wer2
established all passangers and goods had to te transported froa

the railhead by wagon, and the journey was slow and difficult.

- — - - - . - ———

112 For example, information on Salisbury oniy covers January 1
to September 30, 1892, and the report does not clarify whather
it includes only new licences, or whether renewals vere
includad; nor did it state the period for which licences ware
valid, nor how many licenses, if any, lapsed in that time
period, so it is impossible to assess how many tradesmen ani
professionals there were in Salisbury.

113 p.H. Croxton, Railways of Rhodesiz. The Story of the Bzira

T - - - ——— e —— —— ————- e -

Mashonaland and Rhpdssia Railways. Kewton Abbot, Devon, 1973,
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114 Croxton, p.30.

75



George Paulingl!5 reaambered receiving a deputation in 1835
complaining that mails had been delayed, duriny the wet season,
becausz the Company had not kept the roads in good order, nor
providel wire ropes so that mail could be moved across the
flooded rivers.,116

Onerous burdens were placed upon prospectors and minars. A
prospector®*s license cost on2 shkillinc, and claims had to be
registered for a half crown, while an alluvial claim cost E1 a
month. A shaft had to be sunk on any claim within four months of
registration, and an Inspection Certificate issued, for fifteen
shillings. If claims were payable, the Compary claimed fifty
percent of the shares in the company floated to exploit thanm,
and after flotation a claim fee of 10 shillings was to be paid.
In addition anyone holding a prospector's licernce was obliged to
assist in the defence of the territory, if reguirei to do so by
the Company.117

Conditions for occupying a lot irn Salisbury wers not aore
attractive. A ten shilling occupation fee, plus a ten shilling
fee to the Sanitary Board had to be paid, and the tenant was
given no security of tenure, as the Co@pany reserved the right
to resume possession of the lot “if required for mining or other

- —— s " — v ———— > — ——

115 pauling was 23 railway contractor, and a civil servant in the
Chartered Company's administration from 1894 to 1897.

116 5, pPauling, Chronicles of a Contractor Reprint, Bulawayo,
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1969. Ist edition, 1926. ppe.lidl-145.,

117 pathers, pp.461-462,
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purposes, without compensation".118

The somewhat m=2agre information on the number and
distribution of officials, the burdents on prospectiny and
mining, and the reservations on urban lots servaes to identify
the Chartered Company's pricrities. Officials ware appointed to
znsure the maintanances of law and order, the registration and
regulation of miningy claims, and minimal security for those
seeking or working minerals. Other essential aspects of the
administration were neglected, and no attempt was male to make
the country attractive to settlers.

The Company's adwministration was initially very casual with
regard to Africans as well. W2 have seen that Lobengula's
protasts were ignored, and the Pioneer Column enter=ad
Mashonalanl without his consent. The administration continued to
show a complete lack of concarn tor Africancs' rights. Coljuhoun

did not establish a Native Department when he was setting up the

administration, because he fz2lt thare was no legal authority for

it. When Jameson took over as Administrator, he did not consider
it necessary to have formal machinery contreolling the relations
between whites and Africans in Mashonaland, and reli=2d on the
Field Cornats to maintain order. An American settler in
Mmashonaland describel field cornets as Ya sort of magistrate in
the district",.119 ghen problzas did occur between Europeans and

118 Tha Cccupation Certificate was publicshed in Iruth, November
12, 1891, p.994.

119 ¥.H. Brow«n,

2
York, 1970. p.2“3

n the Sguth AKfricar Frontier. Reprint, New
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Shona, it was very often the Field Cornets with their local
burghers who “dealt" with them, generzlly in a summary fashion,
vith more concern for setting an example than for ameting out
justice.

In 1894, after several years of asking, the Company was
allowed by the Imperial Goverment to pass am ordinance reguiring
Africans, but initially only the Shona, to pay a hut tax.120 The
imposition of a hut tax in Bashonaland crzated many Jrievances.
The right to impose the tax was important to the Company both as
a source of revenue, and as an inducement toc Africans to work
for Europeans. The collection of hut tax necessitated somz
formalisation of African administraticn, and ths r=sult was the
appointment of officers to extract hut tax.'21 Ey th= end of
1894, it was evident that this ad hoc method was no longer
adequate, and in Septeamber 1694, a Chief RNative
Commissionar (CNC) was appointed, with eleven Assistant Native
Commission2rs (ANC). As the calibre of those appointed to the
Native Department was low, this tormalisation resulted in more
effective tax collection, but not in equitable treatment of the
Shona«122 In the first few ycars of Ccmpany rule, aside from
minor incidents of thaft, contentious issues were labour angd
land. After 1834, hut tax became a major issue between thez
Company and the Shona.

120 Ipid. pp.102-103.
121 Ranger, pp.69-70.

122 Ipide. pp.TU-77.
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Relations between Eurcopzans in ceneral and the Shona were
further marred by a lack of respect for the Shona on the part of
settlers which is reflected in numerscus contemporary writings.
In comm2nting on whitz security after the British South Africa
Company Police were disbanded, Hole remarked that the Shona
presented no danger to settlers, who regarded them with
contempt. They were useful s=rvants, and settlers coulld trade
for "thair miserable produce", but they were thought to be of no
danger, militarily.1!23 Ranger explains further that settlers haé
no hesitation even in provoking them, despite the numerical
superiority of the Shona. The following comments of Brown
support this contention:

Bashonas cannot conceive of bravery unless there is

power behind it and when one or two men present a boli

front, these natives will often desist from violence,

believing that a large force may be lying conc=aled in

the bushes near at hand.124
After further dangerous encounters, brown states: "I had begun
to fancy myself almost invulnesrable%.125 Thus settlers
fearlessly engaged in 'policing' activities as 3escribed oy
Ranger,12¢ and even interfered in tribal disputes.

One of the activities of the settlers was the pressing of
Shona into the s2rvice of Europeans. Hanger guoted n2wly
appointed Native Comaissicners in 1894 reporting that Africans
123 Hole, %aking, p.262-283.

124 Brown, p.243.

125 Ipid. p.268B. The comments are guot=d by Kanjer, p.b3e.

126 Ranger, pp.60-67.
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simply Geserted their villages on thke approach of white ma2n, and
that white employers had been in the habit of abusing their
labourers shortly before the first pay day, causing them to
YboltY without pay, with the result that it had beconme very
difficult to get labourers at all.'27 Kanger discusses other
irregularities in which settlers were involved, with regard to
the Shona: involvem=2nt in inter-trikal raids, takeover of langd
occupied by Shona tribes, rape of African wcmen.1!28 If the
Company was not directly involved in such activitiass, it was
certainly not ignorant of their occurrence, @nd made no attampt

to control the Europeans living in Mashonalani.

The administration established by the Company showed a L

similar disregard for Europeans and ARfricans. 1t was designed to
present a facade of effective government which it achieavel,
despite the attempts of critics to demonstrate its failings.
Opponents in England and in Mashonaland severely criticis=d the
Company, and Labouchere freguently reported complaints about
conditions in Mashonaland, which will be considered in more
detail below. The information gleaned suggests that the purpose
of the Company was not to establish a new British colony but,

rather, merely to manufactur= money for those who controlled it.

127 Ranger, p.56.
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Whan war broke out betw22n the Ncebele and the British
South Africa Company, Labouchere's experiance of the Company's
operations causel him to be highly suspicious of the Company's
motives, and of the way in which the war would be waged. de
assertad that the Company was close to bankruptcy, that
Mashonaland had failed to produce paying gold, zmd tnat the
Company therefore created a war with Lobengula, in order to
occupy Matabeleland, and so revive confidence in British South
Africa Company shar2s on the London Stock Exchange.

Historians' attitudes to the Metabele War have varied since
then. Hole attributed the war to the savage practices of tha
Ndebele, whose raids against the Shona threatened white szcurity
in Mashonaland.!29 Ranger stated that in 18S90 Rhodes and Jameson
"planned the eventual conguest of Matabeleleand ... hut were
happy to postpone it ...%130 Once a minor clash had occurred,
close to European settleasent, Jamescn I2solved that the moment
for the settlement of Matabeleland had arrived, and created a
war.131 Ranger did not refer to any firanciel motive for the

WaAre
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129 Hole, Making, pp.283-2¢t.
130 Ranger, p.91.

131 Ibid. pp.94°98.
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Glass,!32 Jisputed suaggestions that the Company deliberately
engineered the war for financial reasons, although he
acknowledg=d the financial weakness of the Company. He sujgested
that a clash between the Ndebele ané the Company was inevitable,
since both looked upon the Shona as their subjects, and that the
Victoria Incident provided the spark, which began real conflict.
133 Glass 2mphasized the activs role which Sir Hernry Loch, the
High Commissionar, played in the war. The more recent work of
Galbraith =zxplained that the war was the result of a varisty of
factors, that it was pursued by Jamescn, ané stated that the
finances of the Company were a consideration in his 3ecision to
create a confrontation with the Ndebele.13% FKaylam emphasizad
the role of the High Commissioner, and explained that war with
the Néebele to secure dominaance over the Shona was inevitable,
and that the failure to find golG in Mashonaland led Jameson to
ascalate the Victoria Incident into a war.135

The following section ocutlines the events leading to war
with thz Ndebele, and the seizure of their land and cattle by
the Company and its troops after Lobergula'’s defeat. It then
describes the administration established over the Ndebele, and
the probleas which were created. 211 lLabouchere's concerns are
represant=d in this saction. The Company's mcthods in provoking
;;;-;:~;I;;;:-;;;-natabele war, London, 1366.
133 1pid. pp.269-273.
134 galbraith, pp.2387-289.

135 Maylam, p.119.



the war and in taking over Kiebele land and cattle after the war
were ruthless, and showed a total disregard for their rights,
and the connivance of the Impsrial Government is plaine.

buring the first few years of Company rule in Mashonaland
there was an uneasy peace between Lobengula and the Company,
since neither was willing to test the other. The Company's
financial difficulties, and the lack of golé in Mashonalani,
made a contest necessary, while the issue which ostensibly
sparked the conflict was Lobengula's sovereignty over the Shona.
Jamescn at first did not challenge Lobengula's right to raij and
extract tribute. For example, in 1891 an impi was sent to punish
Lomagundi, a Shona chief, for refusing to pay tribut=2, and
Lomagundi and others were killed. Jameson di¢ not complain to
Lobengula, and commented that the raic¢ was "in accordance with
Lobengula's laws and customs%.136 He established a border,137
and kept Europeans on their side of it. Lobengula never
acknowledged the existence of a border138, but he did ensure
that his warriors kept away from Europeans when on raids.13°9
Then the Company's telegraph wires were twice cut by Shona

tribesmen. On the first occasion Lobengula was urged both by the

- - - -

136 guoted in Ranger, p.28.
137 5. 3lass, The Matabele ¥ar, Loncdon, 196€8. pp.39-U40.
138 Ibido ppu155"1580

139 ipid. p.129.
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Company!*? and py Sir Henry Loch, High Commissioner,!4! to keep
control of his people, and particulaerly to protect the telegraph
line. On the second occasion, in May 1893, the Shona responsible
paid a fin2 d3emanded by the Company with Lobengula's cattle,
which were in th2ir charge, and told Lobenqgula that the Company
had seized them. The resulting misunderstancing raised tensions
substantially, but was ultimately resclved, and directions were
given that Lobengula's cattle should be returned to him.142 In
June 18393 a small impi sent on a raid encountered Captain Lendy,
magistrate of Victoria. Lendy warned the Ndebele not to
interfere with the whites, bat he repcrted Yas it was an
intertribal dispute, it was not my btusiness to interfere ia the
matter".,143

In July when a large impi was cent to raic a Shona tribe
near Fort Victoria, the official response was guite differant.
Lobengula gave warniny notice of the raid toc the European
authorities in Mashonaland, the Bechuanaland Frotectorate, and
in the Cape Colony, and gave his impi strict instructions not to
interfere with whites - which instructions were obeyed.14%
However, when Shona servants appealed to whites for protection,

- ——— o ——

140 Ipid. p.b61. The letter also sugogested he should punish the
offenders.

141 Mason, p.165.

142 1n fact Jameson lslayed returning them until the war had
begun, and the cattle never r=zached Lcbengula, but bacame part
of the loot cattle. See Glass, p.65.

143 guoted in Glass, p.67

144 Ihiio pp-70—71;51‘32.

84



they were taken into Fort victoria. The Ndebele impi reguested
that their subjects be releassd to them, and became angry when
the whites retus=d. Jameson came to Fort Victoria to negotiate
and met the Indunas of the impi on July 18th. When they
continued to insist that the Shona be handed ovar to them,
Jameson gave the impi about an hour tc cross the border into
Matabeleland. Details of the meeting, instructions given and
subsequent action are variously reccrded, tut the effect was
that the impi was pursued after an hour and a half or two hours
by a mountsd patrol, led by Captain Lendy.?4% The patrol fired
on the Rdebele without provocation, killing a considerabnla
number (accounts vary from ten to thirty).14¢ The fear such a
raid excited in whites, an¢ the disruption caussd by the
scattering of their Shona servants, ceused intense feelinyg
against the Ndebele, and Jameson apparently either yvieldel to,
or decided to take advantage of, such feelings, and began to
prepare for war against Lobengula.147?

Jameson's preparations had two aspects. First ne had to
make physical arrangements. Secondly, he set about creating the
illusion of Ndebele aggression, to induce the lmperiai
Government to support the war. Physicel preparations for awar
were relatively easy. A volunteer fcrce of ecout 500, the
Mashonaland Hors=2, hadl been formed in Salisbury in October 189%2.
145 Ibia pp.112-113.

146 1pid. pp.116-116.

147 Ibiic ppogu—'105.



All licens=2d prospectors were2 bouné to assist in the defence of
the Company's sphere, and Fiesld Cornets were able to organise
such men into burgher forces.1%® However, residents generally
required little coercion to volunteer for the Company's forces,
and two well-armed columns ware rapidly formed, at Salisbuary
under Captain Forbes, and at Fort Victoria under Ceptain Lendy,
lacking only horses.'*® 2 third column formed at Fort Tuli under
Captain Raaff was largely recruited in the Transvaal - where
Raaff also apparantly purchased horsec.350 The Victoria
Agreement signed between Jameson ané the troops collacted,
promised volunteers gold claims, land and a share in the loot,
in return for their services beyond the area the Company claimed
to administer.151

In przparing tha Imperial Government fcr war, Jam2son was
assisted by the attitude of Loch. While he was not willing to
condone an unprovoked massacre, Loch agreed with the Company
that eventually the Ndebele would have to be conguered, and he
hoped to be able to use imperial forces as a Jdccisive element in
the war, and to bring Mashonaland apd Matabeleland under more
direct British control after the war.1!'%? Thus while Jameson
prepared the Company's troops, Loch built up the imperial forces
148 Ranger, pp.91-92.
149 Glass, p.l146.
150 Glass, pp.lU6-1U47.
151 Ranjer, p.96.

152 glass, pp.122-129; Galbraith, pp.202-303.



in the Bzchuanaland Protectorate undzr Coloncl Soold-adams.3s3

While military preparations were being made, reports of a
buill up of Ndebele impis on the border and the aggressive
intentions of the Ndebele were carafully manufactured. Lobengula
emphatically denied any aggressive intent in numerous lettars to
Loch. John Moffat, Assistant Commissicner in Becchuanaland, who
knew Lobengula well, clearly expressed doubts zbout the varacity
of the reports to tha Imperial Government. Nonetheless, Loch
made no attempt to verify them, and the Secretary of State
relied on Loch's judgement.15% Lobengula desperately triei to
prevent war, and sent a deputation to Cape Town to visit Loch,
to which Loch gave little weight, as the Company had aiscrzdited
them before their arrival.155 Experiencing last minute doubts,
Loch asked Lobengula to send a second deputation, which
Lobengula 3id, though puzzled by the request. The three Indunas
comprising it were caught by the war, and two of them werz shot
at Tati, in a Bechuanaland Border Police camp, in an unfortunate
incident, which was never fully unravelled.!58

Once the horses had arrived Imperial permission to daclare
war was secured in October after two reports, nesither of which
could be verified, of the Ndebzle having fired omn British South
153 Slass, p.135-143,
154 1bid. pp.163-170.,
155 Ibid. ppe152~-1€2.

156 Ibiid. ppo199‘201 .
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Africa Company troops,157 and on a Fechuanaland Border police
patrol along the Shashi kKiver158 had teen received.

The actual fighting was brief. The Eurcpean troops ware
mounted, w2ll-trained in the use of fire-arms, and egquipped with
Maxim guns; the Ndebele were armed with some fire-arms and spears
and clubs. When they tried to attack, they did so in a soliid
formation, and were so badly decimated by the maxim guns, that
they rapidly withdrew, permitting two columns to advance from
the East upon Bulawayo. Lokengula fled from his capital to the
North, with some followers. He was pursued and it was while
pursuing Lobengula that the only siqnificant European losses
occurred. As a result of bad planning, bad disciplins, and bad
luck, a2 small detachment of men under Captain Wilson was trapped
on the wrong side of the Shangani River with insufficiasnt
ammunition, and all thirty-three mern were kiiled.159

while fleeing, Lobengula sent several peac2 messages, which
were ignored,160 and finally sent a message accompanied by L100C
in gold. This was intercepted by twoc unscrupulous troopers, and
never reached the Coampany, and no peace negotiations were
attempted.l®! Lobengula died in flight, in Januvary, 1894 - and
the war was over.

157 Ibid. p.171.
158 1pbid. p.178.
159 Ibid. pp.228-229.

160 JIbid. p.257.

161 1bid. p.2u5.
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5ir Ha2nry Loch's attempt to gain control of the post-war
settlement through the use of imperial troops failed, and it was
clear from the start of discussions on the future of
Matabeleland that the Company would retain control of the
administration. The Company's troops had clearly bz2en in control
when Balawayo had been taken, and the Imperial trocops had bzcoame
important only when the British South Africa Company‘'s troops
began to melt awvay from Christmas 1893 onwards.!®Z The result of
negotiations between khodes, Loch and lord Ripon, the Colonial
Secretary, was the Matabeleland Order in Council of July 18,
1894, recognising Matapbeleland as British territory and granting
the Company the right to administer the territory accordiag to
its Charter and the provisions of the Order.!®3 The Order did
provide sose protection for Africans, under the law. It
prohibited the enactment of discriminatory legislation , 2xcept
with regard to arms, ammunition and liguor, without the
S5ecretary of State's approval. It scught to protect the rights
of the def2ate2d Ndebele by reguiring the appointment of a Land
Commission to ovarse2 the redistribution of land and cattle, and
ensure that sufficient cattle were assigned to the Hdebele for
their nezeds.1¢* The controls written in, however, were not
effective without sup=rvision, and the Order gave th= Company
increased authority, without effectively increasing control by
162 maylam, pp.126-125.
163 palley, pe. 115

164 1pid. p.118.
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the Imperial Government.165

The Ndebele wer=2 ruthlessly stripped of cattle and lani.
Although the Imperial Governaent repeatedly insisted in latters
that the Company must ensure that the Ndebele b2 lc=ft with
sufficient cattle, and that no land settlement should be
implemented before the Land Commission had mst, in fact it had
no idea what was happening in Matabeleland and accepted Company
reports at their faca value. Jameson had a free hand in d2ciding
how land and cattle should be distributed. ARs Stigger has made
clear, by the time the lLand Commission met, the actual lani
settlement had already begun to be implemented, ani the Land
Commission, far from protecting the rights of the Kdzbele,
assisted the Company in obtaining sufficient land to satisfy all
the potential claims against it.166 Jameson had piaced himself
and the Company in difficulties by committing too much Ndzbele
land to volunteers during the Matabele War. Two reserves were
created for the Ndebsle. Howsver, they were not large enough,
and only small portions of each were suitable for intensive
agriculture or pastures. The Land Commission completely failed
to exercise its power to ensure that adeqhate land was allocated

to the Ndebele.167

- ——— - —————— ——

165 ralley, p.123, comments: "Colonial Office approval [of
appointments ] was merely a rubber stamping of Company patronage
"

166 3¢z Stigger, The Land Commissiorn and the Land for the
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details of this complicated arrangement.

167 stigger, Land, p.30.
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Thz Land Commission w&s nd more eftective in controlling
cattle looting. In order to settle the claims of volunteers
under the Victoria Agjreement, a Loot Committee was established
to administer the claiams, and cattle were collected into Loot
Kraals. However, it is apparant from the way cattle were
collected, and from the numbaers invcelved, that fer more cattle
passed into whits hands than is reflected in the transactions of
the Loot Committee. Similarly, althouch the Company claimed that
it was taking only cattle which had belonged tc Lobengula, it is
obvious from descriptions of cattle raids that in fact cattle
were quite indiscriminately collected.16® Kot only were the
Rdebele left with very few cattle, they were also uncertain of
when they would lose those Lbeasts which remained tc them.

The way in which the distribution of land and cattle was
effected was symptomatic of the Company's administration between
1894 and 18396. Mashonaland and Matabeleland were scparately
administered. J.¥. Colenbranier was given specific
responsibility for Africans in Matabeleland, and was appointed
Native Commissioner esarly in 1894. KEis primary responsibilities
vere controlling the distrikution of Ndebele lanmd and cattle to
Europeans, and he was assisted by European Police.16% Aftar the
report of the Land Commission had been prepared in October 1694,
Assistant Native Commissioners were appointed to six districts,
to assist in the work. None of the ANCs appointzd had relevant
168 Kanjer, pp.105-112.

169 stigger, Native Department, pp.tl1-42.
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training or experience,170 ani in general relied on force to
elicit response. The most important taesks of the ARCS in
Matabeleland and Mashonaland were to locate African kraals, in
order to extract their cattle, enumerate the huts for hut tax
purposes, and to procure labour. The dewand for lapour was much
greater with new companies and increased capital availabla for
mining after the Matabele Wwar. An African pclice force, the
Matabeleland Native Police, was recruitad tc assist ANCs in
procuring labourers for Eurcpeans.!7! This dGid not ameliorate
conditions, however. In fact grievances of Africancs against the
native police were most bitter.

The way in which the war against Lobengula was 2nginzered
reveals the despicable means which Rhcodes was willing to 2mploy
to achieve his ends. While it is hard to prove that Labouchere
was right in asserting that the war was provoked to save the
Company from financial collapse, there is no doubt that it 3id
have this 2ffect. The value of shares on the Stock Exchange
increased, and new shares, and debentures were issued.
Labouchere's fears about Imperial Gcvernment involvement were
also borne out, as the Government not only failed to prevant the
war, but allowed imperial troops to help defeat the Ndebele, and
to maintain security afterwards. The administration of
Matabelesland again showed that the Company was not interestz=d in
establishing a securz, efficient colony of settlement.

170 Ibid. pp.u5-ué.

171 1bjd. p.d8.
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Labouchere's strong moral convictions hed led him to wage a
campaign against the Company from its inception and his resactiorn
to the Raid was outspoken. Once he hac agreed to serve on the
Committee of Enquiry into the Raid, however, his ability to
comment effectivaly was destroyed and, from the time he was
appointed to the Comaittee, in January 1897, his commentary was
reduced in volume and in intensity. Thus while he began a
devastating attack on the Company, and on Khcdes, reviling their
complicity in the Jameson FKaid, his cempaign lost its impact
before he was aware of the involvement of the Imperial
Government. The fact that the Jameson Raid could take place at
all reveals the Company's disregard for legality and for the
rights of other powers. The British Gecvernment's failure to
prevent the Raid in the first place, #2nd to exact retritution
after it, reveals that a similar carelescsness had prevailzd on
the part of the Imperial Govacrnment, who had hoped that it would
benefit from the Company*s filibustering.

The Jameson Raid, which drew on the rescurces of the
British South Africa Company, with no regard to the propriety of
the actions to be taken, was a dramatic example of the Company's
disregard for legality. The Kkaid also demonstrated the
complicity of the Imperial Government in the Company's

activities - in their failure to stop the RKeaid, and in the
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handlinjy of the conspirators and the Company after the Kaid.

Th2 Jameson Raid!72 wyas a conspiracy between Rhodes,
Jameson, and others connected with the British South Africa
Company, the administration of Rhodesia, and members of the
financial community of Johannesburg who formed the Reform
Committee. The details of the whole aftair have been so shrouded
in mystery, that it is difficult to say precisely what was
planned. Probably differ=nt people actually involved in tne
conspiracy did not agree on what was planned, and they cecrtainly
did not agree on the outcome desired.!?3 In ceneral terss,
howaver, the plan was probakly to use Uitiander grievances to
foment a revolution in Johannesburg against the Boegrs. Tha
Chartered Company was to collect an armed force close to the
border, under Jameson's command which wounld, at an agreed time,
ride into the Transvaal to assist the revolution, on the pratext
of saving the women and children from the Boers.!7% The Boer
state would then be overthrecwn, and a new government, under
Jameson as Administrator, cympathetic to financiai and mining
interests, would replace it. Whether the Transvaal was to be
8ritish, or independent, remained a matter cf controvarsy,
although Rhodes gave his word that he would not insist on

- ——— - —— —— —————

172 Lockhart and Woodhouse; Hole, Raid; and Colvin are all
useful sources on the Jameson Raid, and have been extensively
drawn upon in the following account. H. KHole, Ihe Jameson Raid.

London, 1930. I.Colvin, Life of Jamescn vol. 2, London, 1922.

173 Lockhart and Woodhouse, pp.307-30&.

174 Jameson had an undated signed letter in his possession,
calling for his aid.
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raising the British flag.!7% rhere is no doubt, however, that he
envisaged a country under his own control, ani an ultimats anion
of all South African territoriess.17¢

The execution of the conspiracy reguired comnsiderable
planning. In order to have ta2rritory under Crnartered Coapany
control close emough to Johannesburc toc make the dash feasible,
some of thz Bechuanaland Protectorate had to be ceded to the
Company.!77 Chamberlain was visited by the Chartered Company's
Cape Town secretary, Rutherfoord Harris, and finally agre=sd to
cede a narrowvw strip of territory for the railway to the Company
in October 1895. In agreeing to make the cession as rapidly as
he did, it is almost certain that Chamberlain knew why Rhodes
was pressing so urgently for the cession, and that he was
willing to facilitate his plans.?!78 Much of the forcz which
Jameson collected near Mafeking was drawn from the British South

Africa Company Police, but it was supplemented by some mambers

- - —— -

175 Lockhart and woodhouse, p.308.
176 maylam, p.54.

177 Initially, the Iamperial Government had intended the
Chartered Company to assume responsibility for the Bechuanaland
Protectorate - and to this end the Charter included it in the
Company's potential sphere of operations. The Company's
financial instability prevented it from takinyg on this
responsibility between 1890 ani 1893, when the Imperial
Sovernment was anxious to get rid of it. Ry 1895, when Rhodes
wanted the Protectorate, Chamberlain was Colonial Secretary, and
Was less willing to hand it over. The ARfricans in the
Protectorate were protesting agaimst the possibility of being
included in the British South Africe Company's territory. See
Maylam pp.62-71 for letails.,

178 Lockhart and Woodhouse, pp.303-30t; Palley, pe.131.
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of the Bechuanaland Border Folice, which had just been
lisbanded, and by troopers recruitedé in the Cape.179 He also
intended to use the Rhodesian Horse Volunteers as an auxiliary
force, but they rec2ived the call tc mobilise too late, and did
not participate in the Raié.'80 The combined force was finally
about 500 men.181t

In Johannesburg, a Reform Committee was established to
co-ordinat2 the rising, and rifles anc¢ amsunition were smuggled
into the town.!82 Jameson met the Committee in Septemper 1895 to
discuss and confirm plans for the rising. He was then given the
open letter of invitation. However, the enthusiasm of the
reformers was much less than that of Ehodes and Jameson.
Although they had genuine grievances against Kruger, and wanted
to work for reform, the mines were doing well, business was
booming and they still hoped it would be posszible to negotiate a
settlement. It was hoped also that diccassion and plans for a
rising might make Kruger take their grievances more
seriously.?83 The Rising was planned for Decembar 27, but never
took place. Concern over Rhodes's intentions for the future
state were cited by the Keform Committee as an excuse - but in
fact there was a complete absence of the revolutionary fervour
180 fgole, Raild, pp.105-108.,
181 Ibid, p.l64.
182 Ibid. pp.98-101.

183 Lockhart and woodhouse, pp.314-315S.
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needed to set things in motion.16%

Daspite mz2ssajes telling him to stay where he was, Jameson
lecided to take his chances, and invaded the Transvaal anyway,
with pitiful results. His small force was armed with three field
guns and eight maxims185, but could not withstand the attack of
an organised force of Boers. The parties despatched to cut the
telejraph wirss to Pretoria both failed to accomplish their
mission, and the Boers learned of his departure in ample time to
prepare for his arrival.!®6é Jameson lacked experiences, ani was
ill-eguipp=2d to meet such a formidable enemy, and th2 situation
was aggravated by the failure of the Heform Comamittee tc send a
force to meet him, as promised.187 After a brief resistance,
Jamason anl his men surrendered to a force of Eoers outside
Johannesburg,.,1e8

Once the Reform Committee learned Jamescon was on his way,
they made some preparations to assist him, but nc armed force
vas foraed., On invitation from President Kruger, a Johannzasburg
deputation went to Pra2toria to negotiate. Kruger gavz no
concrete promises, but did agree to consider their grisvances,
if properly presanted. The Reform Committee gave him a list of
their members and agreed to an armistice. They then felt unable
;;:_;;;;;;;;-;;;-;oodhouse, p.315.

185 Holz, Kaid, pp.155;160.
186 Colvin, pp.60-61; Lockhart and Woodhouse, p.320.
187 Lockhart and ®Woodhouse, p.31C.

188 Ibid. p.320.
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to send aid to Jawmeson, as it would have viclated the armistice.
189 The whole affair fizzled out miserably, leaving all parties
to the conspiracy in a very bad way. Fembere of the refora
Committee were arrested ané tried. Initial heavy penalties were
later commuted to fines of up to ¥25,000 esech for the leaders of
the conspiracy.'%9 Jameson and other Company cfficials were
allowed to be tried in London. Six of them were convicted of
having organised an armed expedition against a friendly country
and sentenced to short prison terms.!9}

A Parliamentary Committes appointed to investigate the kaiad
in Cape Town found that Rhodas had ncot been responsible for the
Raid itself, but condemned his involvement in the conspiracy.192
Since Rhodes had alre=ady resigned as Frime Minister ot the Cape,
however, no further action against him was recommended. A Select
Parliamentary Committee which was appointed in London to
investigate the Jameson Raid confirme¢ Rhodez's involvement in
the conspiracy, but 3id not recommend any punishment for Rhodes
- por did it reveal the extent to which the High Commissioner

and Secretary of State were implicated.1'93 Nonetheless, there

169 1bid. pp.327-329.

190 Hole, Raid, pp.265-268.

191 Colvin, pp.l4B8-155,

192 Hole, Raid, p.272.

193 Labouchere was appointedé to this Committee, but was unable
to influence its operations., His participation, and the rzasons

for the Cosmittee's failure to pursue the issuée of imperial
involvement are 3iscussed below, in Chapter VII1.
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were2 considerabl= raparcussions for Rhodes. The Chartered
Company was allowed to continae to administer its territory, but
its freedom was immediately curtailed, and an Imperial officer
appointed to watch the territory. Rhodes's political career in
the Cape was destroyesi. He had resigned as Prime Minister and
his credibility with Afrikansrs had been irreparably damaged. A
surprising amount of public support was mustered to nim, but he
never fully regained his former position of power. H2 was
obliged to resign as Director of the Chartered Company in June
1896. He continued to play an active role in thz affairs of the
Company, however,19¢ and wvas re-appointed to the Socard of

Directors in 1898, with the approval of the Imperial government.
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Within Rhodesia, too, dramatic events followed the Jameson
Raide. The Ndebele rose in rebellion against the Company in March
1896, and the Shona rose in smaller groups from June 1896. The
Risings illuminated the defects and atuses of the Chartera4
Company's administration. They also forced the Imperial
Government to face the cost of its negligence with r=gard to the
British South Africa Company. Haviag encouraged the Company to
pursue an unethical course, both by nealecting to control it,

194 Hole, Raid, p.365; Palley, p.154.

198 pfockhart and &oodhouse, p.395.
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and at times by assisting it, the British Government was obliged
in 1896 to shoulder the responsibility for defending the lives
of Europeans living in Rhodesia during the Rdebele and Shona
Risings.

The causes of ths Risings have been the subject of
considerable debate among historians recently. The common
belief, arising out of a report written by Kole, to explain the
Risings!?® has been that there was a religious inspiration
behind the Risings. Cobbing!?? and Beach198 have shown how
Ranger, an Africanist,was influenced by the writings of the
Company's apologist. They show conclusively that the Mlimo cult
played no role in tha Ndebel2 or the tShona Kisings. Ranger's
work is very valuable, however, in demonstrating the harsh
conditions to which 3hona and Ndebele were subjected, betuecen
1890 and 1896 in Mashonaland, and between 16%4 and 1396 in
Matabeleland.19?

In Matabeleland the power 0f thz Nlebele had not been
entirely broken during the Matabele Wer. The loss of land and
cattle caused hardship, ané being forced to pe2rform menial
labour for Europeans caused rancour. The Native Police, who were
responsible for many abuses, were also deeply resented. Their
harsh and unjust treatment under the Company was exacerbatzd by
1965ec Beach, Chimuranga, p.395
197 Cobbing, The Absent Priesthood, fr.81-82.

198 peach, Chimurenga, p.395.

199 Ranger, Che 2 ani 3.
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the decimation by rinierpest of the cattle which remainecd to
them. The disease killed many cattle, and the Company's
officials slaughtered many more, in an attempt to stop the
lisease from spreading.299 Thus there was ample causs for
discontent amongst the Ndebele and, since they retained the
basis of their military organization and had concealed aras,
circumstances made a rebellion possible.

The inspiration for rebellion appears tc have bzen the wish
to re-instate the Ndebele kingdom under a new king, while
overthrowing th2ir European congueror<.29! Rctwsen 1394 and
1896, the Ndebel2 had engaged in the process of selecting a new
king. The candidate chosen, Nyamanda, was widely acc=pted, and
was in fact installed in Juns 1896.202 The Rising was directed
by Nyamanda with the support of most Kdebele chiefs. A& few
defected to the Europeans, andl as they commandecd crucial
strategic territory, straddling the white rocad to South Africa,
their loss seriously affected Ndebele abiiity to d=feat the
Europeans.203 Most Shona tributaries within the Ndab=le state

joined the Rising, although a few did take the opportunity to

—— - —— — - —— - ———
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pPpe.39-47.
201 Cobbing, Priesthood, p.B4.
zo2 Ibido pp065-66¢

203 Ibido pp.71—72
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break away from the Ndebele state.20%

The rebellion began at a bad mcment for the European
community. Almost the entire Police Force had left Matabeleland
to join in the Jameson Raid.295 The Matabele Regiment of the
Rhodesian Horse Volunteers were still in Matsbeleland, although
some of their officers had also joined in the EKaid. Nonetheless,
the military forces were considerably r2duced, and the Europeans
were guite unprepared for the Rising, which began in March 1896.
Relatively large numbers of Europeans lost their lives 3during
the Shona and Ndebele Risings. For a tise, at the start of the
Ndebele Rising, the rebels h2ld the urper hand. How=aver, the
Imperial Governmant came to the assistance of the Company, and
sent a well-armed relief column to Bulawayo,?9% and once the
resources 2f EBuropeans outside Rhodesia were engaged, ths defeat
of the Ndebele was inevitable, and African casualties wera high.

Some Shona groups did also rebel but, except for HNdebele
tribetaries, they were not in collusion with the HNdebele. Chief
amongst their grievances were the payment of hut tax, and forced
labour, because the asans of collecticon and recruitment were
often so brutal. Conditions in Mashonaland had deteriorated,

because of rinderpest and locusts, and the pressure of European

- ——— ———— - ———— -~

204 7Tbij. pp.63—71 .

205 palley p.128 states that 5 members of the police were left
in matabeleland, two of whom had broken legs.

206 Ranger, pp.163-174.
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presence was increasing.?297 The Shona Rising was not a
co-ordinated, pre-plannei rebellion: "... different Shona
dynasties joined the FRising, opposed it, or stayed nautral as
the news rzached them".208 The means employed to put down the
Risings were brutal, particularly in ®ashonaland209 and they
succeaded in totally demoralising the conjuered, which the
Matabele War had failed to do.

The Ndebele Rising was =2nded on Rhodes's initiative. After
the Rising began, he went to Matabeleland, &nd bersonally took
part in campaigns against the Ndebele, assuming the rank of
“Colonel". Pressures of famine, combined with divisions in their
own ranks, obliged the Ndebele to seek negotiations, Rhodzs was
afraid that the cost, both in the lives of settlers, in a smcll
community, and in cash to the Company, would jeopardise the
future of the country, and when supplies into Matareleland began
to run dangerously low, it was agreed that Rhoaes should meet
the Ndebele leaders.2tC puriny the meeting Rhodes gave his
personal assurance that their major grisvances would be met. The
Ndebele gave up their arms, and those who co-operated with
Europeans were given salaries as official chiets. Terms of the
settlement were work2d out in a series of mectings batween
208 Beach, Chimurenga, p.i10.

209 See for exaampls Ranger's(pp.276-277) description of thae
jynamiting of caves in whichk Shona retrels were hidinge.

210 Stent, p.33. Stent was present, and wrote a graphic account
of the meeting.
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August 1896 and November 1897, and Lhodes playel an important
role, lespite the fact that he had no official standing in the
Company at the time.

The Risinqs which took place in Southern Khodesia in 1896
provide a fitting climax to the early years of the Company's
rule, as they were the culmination of all the problems inherent
in the Company's operations, which Latouchere had perceived as
early as 1890. Rhodes's lack of concern for legality and due
process led to the appointment of Jameson as administrator, and
together they cr2at=2d1 an administration which was casually
assembled, and lacked formal structures, which the Imperial
Government allowed to operate almost unchecked. As a result, the
rights of Europeans were not protected, and the rights of
Africans were freguently violated. R turther result of the
combination of Rhodes's methods and the negligence of those who
ought to have controlled him, was the Jameson Eaid, and the
vacuum left when the Administrator ané most of the police force
were withdrawn, was filled by the Ndebele Rising.

The settlement following the Risings was also more closely
controlled by the Imperial Government, 3t least superficially.
The Jameson Raid had provoked imperial intervention in the
affairs of Rhodesia and, after the Ndeb2le &nd Shona Hisings, it
was apparent that significant changes in the administration of
the tarritory were ne2ded., RBfter the Raid, the Imperial
government had removed control of the Police from th= Company,

and Sir Richard Martin was appointed Peputy Commissioner and
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Commandant General in Southern Rhodesia in April 1896.211 Martin
wrote a report on the causes of the Risings, which was very
crifical of the British South Africa Company's
administration.212

Changes which resulted in more dirsct Imperial control were
embodied in the Southernm Rhoiesia Order in Council, in 1898.213
Two pereanent Imperial officials were to reside in Southern
Rhodesia, the Commandant General, in charge of the Company's
volunteer forcas and police, and the kKesident Commissioner, who
was to serve as Imperial watchdog. Both officials were
responsible to the High Commissioner.<1¢% A Legislative Council
was creat=d with four slected representatives, and five mambers
nominat2d by the Company. Thz Administrator sat on the Council
with voting power, and the EResident Commissicner sat with no
vote. Thus the Company was given a clear majority on the
Council.2'5 The administration of Africans was substantially
changed, on paper. A Native Department was created under a High ]
Commissioner's Proclamation in 1898, &nd clear policy and
regulations were estapblished.21® The COrder also stipulated that
strict financial accounting procedures were to be cbserved by
211 palley, p.105.
212 Ibid. pe.llUb.
213 1bid. p.128.
214 Ipid. pp.147-148.

215 1bid. pe133.
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the Company.217

The laperial Government was still letermined to keep its
financial commitment to a winimum?!'® und the Company retained
considerable latitudz. Control by the Imperial Government could
only pve effective if the Resident Ccmrissioner was strong. In
practice most Resident Commissioners were content to let thas
Company haves its own way in most things, larqgely because they
still lacked the staff to exercise meaningfcl control.zi9
Nonetheless, the 1898 Order in Council 3id formalise the
machinery of government. Palley comments: “Ey the =nd of 1898
the future structure of governsent hacd been laid down ..."220
The years 1896 to 1898 were an important formative time, for the
early days of casual muddling along were over, and the couantry
was entering a new phase. This new phese of apparently sffective
imperial control meant the Rhodesia wés of no further intarest
to Labouchere, and so the territory must be of no further

interest to us at this time.

- ———— - - - - —

217 1bid. pe135.
218 Tpid. ppe129-130
21% stigger, Native Department, pp.60-61.

220 palley, p.155.
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I. LABOUCHERE, SHARES AND SHAREHOLDERS

Labouchere's general concern about chartered companies led
him to watch the founding of the British South Africa Company
carefully, and when he developed doubts abtout tne way in which
the Company was financed, he began a campaign Lo expose “the
whe2l within wheel of South African speculative financing, and
how each wheel grinds corn for the intelligent Mr Khodes and his
financial gang ..."! His specific concerns were that Rhodes and
his associates were exploiting the aura of respectability
bestowed upon the Company by its koyal Charter, in order to
fleece British investors; that the directorates of all tha
companies associated with Rhodes and the British South Africa
Company were interconnected; and that secret agreements existed
between them. In addition these financisrs were inflating the
capital of their companies beyond reasonable levels, speculating
in the shares thus cresated, and using them to win the support of
influential people in Britain an¢ South Africa.

Labouchere's concern about the fleecing of investors is
supported in two ways: by showing that Mashonaland and
Matabeleland held no promise of great wealth in gold and that
the Company's propaganda “Ypuffing" ¢f the areca had no basa; and
by pointing out the financial trickery in which the Company

- —— - — - — -

! Truth,October 22, 1891, p.840.
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engaged, having created the illusion of valuable shares. He did
not reprint puffs in Iruth b2fore 1893, but did remark on their
appearance in other newspaperls on several occasions.2 On the
other hand, Truth printed a multitude of letters and comments,
pointing out th2 absence of Jold in Mashonaland between 1891 and
1894+ Late in Decemb2r 1891, Labouchere used a letter from YAn
exparienced miner", who claimed to hLave spent cover a year in
nanica and Mashonaland, whc stated:

ses My own firm conviction is that were one ten-stamp
battery at work for six months on any one of the many
reefs I have visited ané examined, the ciaims and
pretentions of Mashonaland to being a gold-producing
country, in payable guantities, wculd be ruthlessly
dispelled.3

This view was repeated again in 1893, before and during the
Matabele War, and in August 1893 Labouchere srgued that, because
Mmashonaland was a failure, the finances of the Company were in &
desperate state, andl he stated:

eee thz Company has not only spent its capital of one
million, but ow2s large sums of money to other Companies
under the control of Mr khodes and his gange. On this
point a new light is thrown by & letter, emanating,
apparantly from a well-informed socurce, which appeared
in the Financial News of the 28th inst. The stataments
therein made as to relations between the Chartered
Company and the De Beers Company are very curiocus, and
if they are well-founded the former Company has not
given credit to De Beers Company in its accounts for
advances which have bLeen made regularly for some time at
the rate of £3,500 per month, and which are apparently
still going on.*

- - —— - — - —— - — -

2 see Truth November 20, 1890, p«1039; Januery 1, 1831, p.14;

January 8, 1891, p.67.
3 Truth December 31, 1891, fp.1391.
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S Truth, August 31, 1893,
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In October 1893, Labouchere supported his contention that
Mashonaland had not yielded the spectacular gola deposits which
the Company had hoped for and, atter guotinc from a speech made
in Salisbory, in which Mr khodes had ctated that “"Mashonaland is
equal in size to France, and its sparse population has pegged
out 400 miles of gold-beariny claims". Labouchere commentzd that
he had

eee never doubted that there is gold in Mashonaland, and
I have no doubt that the sparse but speculative
population have pegged out many claims. What I have
denied is that the gold is in such paying guantities
that these claims can be worked sc as to cover interest
on outlay, sale price to British investors, and the
royalty of fifty per cent on protits claimed by the
Company. ... Mr Rhodes seems to forget that the puffs of
Matabeleland have already commenced, and that we are
already being told that its gold reefs are richer than
thz2 Mashonaland reefs.S

He furthered this argument when a week later he suggested that
the war with Lobengula was deliberately engineered to perait
speculation similar to that which had occurred in “ashonaland in
1891, to be repeated in Matabeleliand, so as to rescue the
British South Africa Company from bankroptcy. YHe provided
evidence for this view by reproducing some examples of the
Company's propaganja, including one fiosm a letter to pall Mall
Gazette:

Lobengula and his people have the best country in South

Africa in every way. They say it is even richer than the

Transvaal in gold. At Rulawayo itcelf a missiomary whonm
I know, and who has lived in the country as long as any

v on o ———— -

S Truth October 19, 1893, 801. Further comments appeared in 1591
on: April 9, p.749; July 9, p.80; July 30, p.242; October 22,
P.840; November 12, p.995; and on: Lecember 6, 1892 p.1243;

April 13, 1894, p.896; July to December 1694,p. 1330.
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Englishman, has seen a reef of simply marvellous
richness. On the latest wmap published by the Charteredl
Company you will see they speak of the "banketY reef
near Bulawayo ... 50 you sge there is something to fight
for.®

Labouchere's assertiorn that invecstors were being cheated
was strengthened by his observation of thz financial deals of
the Company, which led in Decembear 16¢2 to the publication of a
list of guastions for a suggestea Committee of Inqguiry which
roughly suamaris=d his continuing concerans:

1. How the capital of the Chartered Company uas
subscribed and by whonm.

2. What purchases and sales of shares have bean
effected by and for those conrected with the
promotion and by and for the rirectcrs?

3. How the money has been expended and what shares - if
any - have been given to individuals?

4. What is the precise monetary relatican batween the
Chartered Company and the Concessions Company?

5., Who constitutes the Concessions Company?

6. How th= capital of this latter Company has, fros
practically nothing, been swollen into the huge sam
of four millions sterling? 7

As will be shown, Labouchere himself head provid=d partial
answers to many of these guestions by 1898, and little of
substance has been added to his information since. Most of
Labouchere's information was derived {rom statements of the
companies themselves, in reports to shareholders, speeches by
directors and, in one instance, in a long response to

Labouchere's criticisa, which was printed in Iruth.

——

- — ————— -

& Truth, October 26, 1893, p.864. Dther examples can be found in

1893 on: October 19; November 16; and December 21; and on
February 8, 1894.

T Truth, D2cember 8, 1892, p.124b. The list included two
additional gquestions which did not relate to finance. They asked
what the conditions for working claims were, and how the

Africans in Mashonaland were being treated.



The first guestions to bz examined concern tha ralations
between companies which had interlocking directorates, that is,
the British South Africa Company, the Exploring Company and the
Central Search Association, which became the United Concessicns
Company. Interest in the Central Search Asscociation and its
successor, the Unit=23 Concessions Company, was expressaed
freguently, and was succinctly stated on August 28, 1390, in
Truthe. In this issue, the Agreement between the Central Search
Assocliation and its liguidators was printed, which named the
liquidators, specified the terms of liguidation, and provided
for the transfer ot the responsibilities of the Central Search
Association and all its property and assets to the newly
incorporated United Concessions Company. The liguidators were
Sifford, Besit, Cawston, Wm.Mortimer Farmer, Leigh hLaskings,
Maund and Thos. Rudd. Labouchere noted that “several of the
gentlemen connected with these two Companies are also connected
with the Chartered South African Compeny“.® Latouchere 3dszscribed
the incorporation of the Central Search Asscociation, with a
capital of £121,000, and assets which consisted of half of the
Rudd Concession, and commented that nc money appeared to have
been paid for the shares. Ee further remarked that, since the
registration of the new company cost 4,000, "we may ..
reasonably suppose that the ultimate cbject of the promoters is
to foist off this four million pounde of capital upon the
British public." He then poced three guestions for Lord Gifford:

e —————— - — - -

8 Truth, August 28, 1690 p.u3s.



1. What are the assets of the Unitei Corncessions
Cospany?
2. How property only alleged tc te worth £121,000 last
year can now be worth four million?
3. Why the conversion of the Search Company, with a
capital of £121,000 into the Concession Company with
a capital of four millicns, took pleace at & cost of
E4,000 for ragistration®
When the interests of the Exploring Company and Rhodas's
syndicate were m=2rged, the Explorinc Company acyuired a
one-fourth interest in the Rudd Concession, and it developed
close links with the British South Africa Comparny. For this
reason, Labouchere paid attention toc the Exploring Company, and
his concerns about the Exploring Company will be examined next.
On January 1, 1891, Truth published an account of the Exploring
Company, with an enguiry into its capital, end relations with
the British South Africa Company, and Uniteé Concessions
Company. It explained, on the basis of a report of a meeting of
the Exploring Company Limited, that the Exploring Company and
Goldfields of South Africa were both seeking a mining concession
from Lobengula, that Goldfields got it, but agieed to giva one
guarter of the profits to the Exploring Company, and continued:

Neither Company appears to have had much loose cash, for
a third Company, called the Centrel cSearch Company, was
formed to provide funds for the immediate expens2s in
connection with the concession.10
The passage then described the liguidation and re-constituatica
of both Central Search Association and Exploring Ccwpany, with

inflated capital, the granting of the charter and relations

. ———— — - —— - —— -

10 Truth, January 1, 1891, p.14.
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between the Exploring Company and British South Africa Coapanye.
The Exploring Company held <9,400 shares or 24.5% of the initial
Central Search Association capital of £120,000. When the United
Concessions Company was formed, with & nominal capital of &U
million, the Exploring Company's share holding was thirty per
cente The Exploring Company also held shares in the British
South Africa Compeny: 25,000 fully paid shares ana 50,000 on
which 3 shillings had been paid.?? Firally labouchaere commented:

This is all in connecticn with the financing of the

Mashonaland companies that I can gather from the speech

of Mr Causton [sic]. But what I want to know 15 this:

What is the exact amount of cash that hac come into the

coffers of the Chartered Company, the Exploring Company,

and the United Concessions Company, and what is the

nominal capital of these three Companiec?l?
Since the directors of the Exploring Company were Giffori,
Cawston, Rhodes, Beit and J.D0., Maund, four of whom ware also
directors of British South ARfrica Company,13 it was not
relations which esxisted between the Ccmpaniesz. Althosgh Lorid
Gifford himaself never formally responded to Laboucheres's
gueries, on January 15, 1891, YOne who knows" wrote, giving what
amounted to the British South Africa Company official account of
the origins and financing of the British South africa Company,
the Exploring Company, the Central Search Ahssociation and the
United Concessions Company. The reconstituticn of the Central
1 Ipid. pets.
12 1bid. p.l4.

13 Mathers, p.d460.



Search Association as the United Concessions Company was
explained thus:

eee many persons in South Africa &nd in England, though

not shareholders, were by agreement with shareholders

and otherwise entitled to fractioral interests in its

asset, the Matabzale Concession, and desired scrip.?*
It was asserted that it had always keen obviocus that £121,000
was nothing like the true value of the Matakcle Concession, and
was merely 2 nominal figure set. The assets of the United
Concassions Company were half the net receipts of the British
South Rfrica Company and in setting their value at four millions
the United Concessions Company was cuided by the market value of
the shares of the Exploring Company and the British South Africa
Company. With regard to shars dealings, “One who knowsY claimed:
YThe shareholders in the Company [ United Concessions Company ]
are relatively f2w in number, and, so far there have been no
dealings in the shar2s which are entirely unknown in the pablic
market."15 He described the relationship between the Unitail
Concessions Company and the British South Africa Company as that

ees Of landlord and tenant, though it wiil not be

forgotten that here the tenant has powers far larger

than could be given ordinarily bty a lancdlord to his

tenant - namely, to develop the Matabele Concession ia

its discretion, and, whers thoucht fit, to turm it to

account by sale, lease or in any cother way.16
Finally he denied any relationship Letween the Chartered Company
and either Goldfields of South Africa or the Exploring Company
14 Truth, January 15, 1891. ppel284-12C.
15 I1bid. p-1250

16 Tpid. p-125o



beyond the fact that those Companies vere sharcholders in the
United Concessions Company.

The picturz painted by “One who knows" was of a group of
ambitious and far-sighted men whc had employed their own
considerable talents and fortunes tc develop Mashonaland, in the
firm belief that the wealth of Mashcnaland and Matabeleland
would justify the investment, and that at that time (January
1891) the risk was restricted to the promoters themselves.
Labouchere, on the other hand, guesticn2d their beliz2f in the
wealth of Mashonaland, and implied that their intention was to
exploit gullibls British investors, not the mineral wealth o1
Mashonaland and Matabeleland. The Company's ¢lib explanations
are superficially satisfying - they appear to show that
Labouchere was wrong, since the shares of the Uniteda Cornczssions
Company were not omloadeé cnto the Stock Exchange. However, they
do not account for the fact that in two years, the shares of the
United Concessions Company, which by then were consideraoly
below par, were sxchanged for British South ifrica Company
shares of much greater value. The response makes no attempt to
address th2 key issue: why did the ownership of the Rudd
Concession not vest in the British South Africa Company, despite
the fact that th2 original owners of the Concession were
directors of the British Scuth Africa Company?

Labouchere provided information on the initial and inflated

capital of all these companies, and remarked on conna2ctions



between diractorates, althcugh h2 did not list them.?7? He also
referr2d to the 2xistence of secret agreements betwean the
companies and, in 1893, when the United Concessions Company was
finally bought out, he expressed the cpinion that tha reputed
agre=emant, giving half the profits of the British South Africa
Company to the United Concessions Company, was a trick to force
shareholders to give a million shares to the Ccompany's
promoters.1® Commenting on a report publisheG by the British
South Africa Company in December 18S1 proposing the issue of one
million shares to purchase the Rudd Concession from the Uaited
Concessions Company, Labouchere stated:

Whether Government assent is required for this watering
I do0 not know, bat money has been invested by th= public
in the Chartered Compary because, being & Chartered
Company, it is supposed that the Governmcnt is in some
indirect way responsible for what takes place, and if
powar 2xists to hinder this watering that power ought
anguestionably to be exercised. Unfortunately, however,
the Tory governmz2nt does not dare to interfere with the
vondrous financing of a2 Company which numbers the Duke
of Fife and the Duke of Abercorn among its birectors,
and which has Mr Rhodes for its Mamaging Director.
Rather than do so, it would see any pumber of honest
investors ruined.1?9

He continued with a speculation that the motive behind such a
proposal at a moment when Chartereé (ompany shares wvwere balow

par was that khodes was contemplating having the Govarament buy

—— - —— - —

17 The dirsctorates of Eritish South Rfrica Company, Central
Search Association, United Concessions Company, Exploring
Company, and Goldfields of South Africa were all listed in an
appendix to E.P. Mathers, Zgmbesia, which was published ia 1891.

18 Truth, November 30, 1893, p.1153.

19 Truth, December 24, 1891, p.1344.
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out the Chartered Company. It that were the case, if United
Concessions Company shareholders had half the Eritisn South
Africa Company shares, they would receive half the purchase
price. While this remains in the redlm of speculation, since the
shares wer2z not issued at that moment, it is nonetheless an
interesting possibility - perhaps representing an alternative
which was considered but not pursusd bty RKhodes and his
associates. Maylam has offered a two-fold exglanation of the
creation of Central Search Associatiorn and United Concessions
Company. The Chartered Company used shares in thesz companies to
satisfy the claims of rival concessionaires, ani it protected
the Rudd Concession, in the 2vant of the Company being
liguidated.20 Maylam's explanations do not account for the
agreement made to buy the Concession in 1890, however,

Neither Maylam nor Galbraith have added significantly to
our understandingy of the relations between the British South
Africa Company and related companies. Galbraith refers to the
creation of the Central Search Association tc buy out rival
concessionaires, and to its inflation intoc the United
Concessions Company.2! He does not add to the picture Labouchere
painted, however. Maylam has added specific information on the
secret agreements which Labouchere cnly suspectzd and has
provided some possible ansvwers to the question of why the
Central S=2arch Association and United Concessions Company were
20 maylam, pp.57-56.

21 Galbraith, pp.84-85.



created, but most of the information he used had bzen printea in
Truth between 1890 and 1894, and the relationship between these
companies has been clarified only slightly.

The sacond issue of concern to lebouchere to be examinad
here relates to the early share dealirngs of the British South
Africa Company. The guestions posed on Novemper 6 and 13, 1890
addressed this issge:

Who were the original sharesholders ia the South African

Chartered Company, who in the Central Search

Association, and who imn the United Concessions Company?
2z

dhat is the capital of the Chartered Company? How much

of this capital is paper; and how much is represented by

Cash? «o¢ TOo what Company does the Concession belong?e3
In more detail, the guestions pursued by Truth with regari to
the capital of the British South Africa Company were how many
shares were issuesd by the british Scuth Africa Company, to whonm
were they initially sold, what prices were paid, and were they
fully paid at the time of purchase. Secondly, how was the sale
and transfer of shares manipulated by those who held power in
the Company.

Latouchere provided much of this information himself, over
the next three y=ars. In November 1868S, he had already stated
that the nominal capital of the British Soutn Africa Company was

1,000,000 and that, according to a Goldfields of South Africa

report, that Company held seventecen sixtieths, or more than

-—— - ——— o ———————— -

22 Truth November 6, 1850, p.924.

23 Truth, November 13, 1650, p.953.



70,000, of the sharas issued. He alsoc reported that a
correspondent had "guessed" that De Beers' interest was £70,000
to £80,000.2% On January 15, 1891, information published in
Truth (from "One who knows") stated thkat 35C,000 tully paid
shares had been issu=d at par, and 550,000 at three shillings
paid, and gave the shareholdings in btcth categories of De Beers,
¥South African Residents", Golifields of Scuth Africa, the
Exploriang Coapany and “Others¥., The icformant stated tnat no
more than 15,000 shares had been given away, none of which went
to Company promoters.2s

On Januvary 7, 1892, Labouchere described¢ in som= detail the
share manipulation which he believec was taking place.
Shareholders had just been informed of the arrangemeats with the
United Concessions Company, jranting it a moiety of British
South Africa Company profits, and some shareholders protestad
against this arrangement, end against the watering of shares, by
the issue of fully paid-up shares, which they claimed had
depressed shares. Labouchere reviewed the evidence to show the
manipulation which had occurred. Early in 1891, based on
information in "Kipdrell‘*s RAfrican Warkst Manual" for 1891 and

- — - ——— - - -

24 Truth November 21, 18€9, p.3%50.

2S5 Truth, January 15, 1891, pp.l24-12t. most of the information
provided appears to be accurate. COne discrepancy was apparent,
however. The Exploring Company was said to hola 25,000 fully
paid, and 25,000 threes shillings paid, shares, whereas twd weeks

that the—E;;Eany held 50,000 three s£hillings paid shares. (Truth
Japuary 1st, 189%1, p.'4.) NKeither Galoraith nor Maylam give
details of the Exploring Company's holdings in Eritish South

Africa Company shares.



in De Bezers Consolildated Keports, investors rpz2lieved that only a
limited number of fully paid shares were available, and the
price remained high. Later in the year, the Eritish South Africa
Company Report revealed that nearly three times as many shares
had besen made available. In addition, 280,672 shares had been
issued at par, when the markat value ¢f the shares had bean much
higher« Therefore those who bought at a premium, paid “much more
than &1 to persons who had just paid &1 to the Chartared Company
for ths shares issued by them sileatly, and in the face ot an
understood, but perhaps tacit, agreement theat fully paid shares
in =xcess >f the original issue would not be issoed¥.26, Ha
acknowledged that some three shilling shares might have bzen
paid up in full - but in that case, the Company ousd
shareholders timely notice “"that payments for partly paid-up
shares wer2 being completed so extensively that on March 31,
1891 the fully paid-up shares numbered 613,368.%27 H2 refoerred
to the agrzement to grant half the Company's profits to the
Onited Concessions Company, then conclula2d by remarking that,
since no list of sharcsholders had beern published:

»es thz concessionaires may have besn mostly, or,

perhaps, altogether, the very same persons who w=2re

permitted to pay up in full their partly paid shares. If

then they sold these shares at a premium, will they not

have r2alised an outrageous profit, besides securing for

themselves half the dividends which the Company may
earn?2a

26 Truth, Januwary 7, 1892, p.25.
27 Tbid. p.25.

23 Ibid. p. 25.
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Furthar evidence of share manipulation came to light in the
case 0f the Matabeleland Company vercsus the Eritish South Africa
aimitted having sold Ya few® shares at a premium on his own
account, and for "Ypeople who had to be satisfied on this
Charter", and for the Company. He alsc admitted that "a few"
deals were made, through Trust Deeds, before shares were
publically released. Asked: "Will you undertake to say there
were not some thousanis..." Beit refused to say anything
Ywithout r2ferring to my books¥29 Beit's evidence also revzaled
that 9,000 shares were allotted to each Directer cof the Coapany.
Since the British South Africa Company was & charter=ed company
and not bound to publicise all share transactions annually, it
was difficult to ascertain who the share-owners were. It is
still difficult to obtain complete informaticn, as in some
instances shares were never registereé¢ in the names of th=air
ouners.30

Published information on the original snare issues and who
received them remains scattered. Galbraith discusses the sources
of 700,000 committed to railway and other development,3! bat
does not discuss the original share capital. Maylar gives the
numbers of shares first issued as 250,000 fully peid and 500,000
partially paid, but does not give any information on the
29 Truth, January 4, 1894, f.28.

30 galbraith, p.125.

31 salbraith, p.l122.
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recipients.32 N2ither author nas discussed the impact of the
kind of underhand manipulation descrit=31 by Lakouchere on the
value of the Company's shares on the Stock Exchangz.

The final example of the manipulation ot sharecs for the
profit of the Company was the exchange of four million Unitesa
Concessions Coapany shares for one million British South Africa
Company shares. The sacret ajreements which led to thais
transaction have already been discussed. The way in @hich it was
accomplishad so angered a formerly complacent shareholder, that
he wrote to Truth in December 1893 explaining that hz had not
been

ee» in accord with your general condemnatior of the
proce=sdings ot the Chartered Company of South Africa aad
«oo attended the great meeting of the Compary last wez2k
fully prepared to find the Directors wouwld give sound
reasons for inviting the shareholders to present the
Rudd Concessionaires with a millicn shares in the
Company's capital. I came away, hcowever, entirely
disappointed. ¢« R1l opposition was ... shouted down,
andl th2 resolution carried with apparent upanimity after
one or two fzeble protests. 1 venture tc say that when
the shareholders apply their minds instead of their
prejudices to the matter, they will be surprised at
their own want of judgement. +...33
Labouchare extended the comments of the shareholder by pointing
out that the agreement was made between YRhodes, Kudd and Co. of

the Chartered Company, and Rhodes, KkuZd and Co. of the Unitec

Concessions Company, Limited".34

- —— - - - — - —

33 guoted in Traeth, D=cember 7, 1893, p.1223.

34 Thide pel224.
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separatad from the first two - that is the use made of British
South Africa Company shares by its promoters. There are two
aspects to these gusstions, first the gesneral guestion Ywho wers
the beneficiaries?¥; the second, more delicate one, "were
Colonial or Foreign Office employees included?"™.
made of British South Africa Company shares districuted, again
citing avidence from the case of the Matabeleland Company vs.
following guestions and Beit's response to thea:

Je What was done with the 40,000 shares which there

appears for distribution in Socuth Africa? A. 34,000 were

distributed in England by me. 2. ... distributed to

whom? A. Distributed to people who wanted to enter the

Company at par. 7. They were ncot members of the Beit

Syniicate? A. They were given to people cutside the Beit

syndicate who it was considered in the interest of the

Company should be interested inm the undertaking, and

als> promisas werz made.
One list raferred to in the same excerpt mentions the
distribution of 40,000, 4,500 and 2,000 shares by teit, Rhodes
and Eckstein, while a second mentions 80,000, 9,000 and 4,900
distributed by the same people and, ir both instances, Beit
testified that the shares werz2 distributed partly in England and
partly in South Africa.35 No information on the recipients ot
the shares was given. However, Labouckere commented, in the same
article, on the List of Shareholders presentcd to the Housz of
35 Truth, January 4, 1894, p.28. The two lists mentioned Dby

Beit appear to refer to the holdings of fully paid and three
shillings paid shares held hy the same recipients.



Commons. Hs stated that, elthough the list was incomplete, it
showed that "YAlmost everyone ... Wwho has puffed the Company and
sung the praises of its Land of Goshen, is pecuniarily
interested in the Company's financial succes:s, or rather in its
shares going up in the markets." He cites the FBishop of Derry as
an eiample.3® Galbraith addei a little to this information, and
maylam has addressed these guestions too. He has shown that
shares were widely distributed in Britain and South Africa, in
order to interest influential men in the British Soweth Africa
Company, and has provided information on who scme of the man in
South Africa were.37

In an editorial on OJctober 19, 1¢93, as the Company's
columns began their advance into Matabelzland, Truth call=d for
an investigation into the Eritish Scuth Africa Company, asking
particularly

whether ... important personages have been 'sguared!

with either free shares or shares give at par when they

could be sold at a premiam. Let us know precisely what

connection exists between Sir Henry Loch, the iHiagh

Commissioner and the Company, On the directors of which

he is supposed to exercise a check, on behalf of the

Imperial Govarnmeant.38
At all timas, however, even Iruth was very cautious about
suggesting an improper relationship between Imperial officials
and the Comspany, as Laboucherz2 did not have access to share
registers, and could not prove his ascertions with regard to
36 Truth, January 4, 1894, p.29.
37 Sz2e Maylam, pp.126-132.

38 Truth, October 19, 1893, p.B801.
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share distribution. Maylam has produc+d prooi that Labouchere
was quite correct in his suspicions. Ke reveals that Robinson,
the High Commissioner, Newton, Colorizl Secretary and
Receiver-General in B3ritisk Bechuanaliand in 1869, and Carrington
and Goold-Adams of the Bechkuanaland EBcrder Folice all held
shares in the British South Africa Company, without the Colonial
Jifice's kaowledge. Mempers of the Cape Parliamant, incliuding
members of the Afrikamer Eond, were als50 sharehcldasrs.39
part of the Chartered Company in 1896, after the Jamsson Raid.
In March 1396, Labouchere suggasted he could demonstrate that
the organisers of the Raid not only potentially stool to gain
financially, but actually took steps to ensure that if the Raid
failed, they would not lose. He stated that:

I am told on what I believe to be excallent authority,

that sz2veral of the heroes as a preliminary to their

exploits, telegraphed home to sell YCnartered Shares%.

If this be so0, I almost think that the most devoted

adairer of their glorious deeds will find cause to

modify his opinion in regard to them.%?0
R further comment appeared two months later, with a =more
confident assertion:

But it was obvious that on the first news cof the Raid

the shares of th2 Chartered Company and c¢f the mining

companies in the Transvaal were likely tc fall. Now, I

am prepared to prove that, just previous to the Raid, a

syndicate was formed including a leading director of the

Company and one of its chisf officials, for the purposes

of aaking large ¥YBear" sales of these Companies [ sharas]

in London. The sea2d having thus been sown for securing

39 Maylam, pp.128-132,

46 Truth, March 12, 1£36, p.644,
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at onc2 a profit by the immeliatz fall in the shares,

anl an ultimate profit bty buying them back when the Raid

had proved successful and a rich slice oif the Transvaal

had be2n added tO Charterland, steps were taken to carry

out the conspiracy.*1?
He nevaer 3id prove this, and the recson why camz te light later,
during the hearings of the Parliamentary Committee avpointed to
investigate the Jame2son Raid. While giving eviéence, Hutherfoord
Harris complained about the unproven chargjes that Lapouchere had
made aJainst him. Labouchere stated that he had based his
charges on information from the Company's shéare registers, but
his informant hal subseguently refused to allow hi® to publish
the information he had been 3given. He therefore unconditionally
withdrew his allegations against Harris, and apologised to him.
But he commented:

I1f the registers of the Comgpany show what 1 sucyast they

do, my accusation against the promoters of the Company

holds jood, thoujh neither Mr BRarris nor anyone 2lse

connected with it may have speculatively sold ona share

that they 34id not possess with a view to sascure the

difference betwe2n the s2lling and buying back price in

the event of a fall in value.%?
During the Committee hearings, Labouchere tried to put gu=zstions
to the Dirzctors of the British South Africa Ccmpany on th=air
share 3dealings. Such guestions were not allowed by the Chairman
of the Committee, who askzd instead about dealings wnich aight
have taken place six months before the Raid. Scme time after the
Committee of Inguiry concluded, Labouchkere finally published a

long editorial, entitled YHow Chartered 3hares were Soll Bafore

-—— - ——— - =

41 Truth, Yay 7, 1896, pp.11368-1139.

42 Truth, June 10, 1837, g.1467.
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the Kaid", on January 13, 1&38. In this he gave details of the
original holding; allotment of shares in July 1895, if any; and
holding on March 31, 1896 for the foilowing inaividuals and
groups: the Duke of Aberccrn, (Directcr); the Duke of Fife,
(birector); Earl Grey (Director); Lord 5ifford (Director); Sir
Horace Farguhar (DPirector); Rhodes (Director); Reit (Director):
Maguire; Goldfields of S.k.; Thos kudé; CeD. Rudd; FoH.
Thompson; Lord Rothschild; George Cawston; Ezit Syndicate; Beit
& Rhodes; Beit £ Cawston; Rhodes & Beit; Hhodes, Kudd & Beit.
The list included three other groups, with less complete
information, who ar2 not referred to here. Tha list showel that
in almost every case 2ither the majority or all the shares held
had bsz2n so0ld by March 31, 1896. The cum of the shar2e held in
July 1895 had been something over 900,000. On ®arch 31, 1336,
the sum of their holdings was 61,457, Thus over 8¢0,000 shares
had been sold. Rhodes still held 29,4¢3 shares, a much higher
number than any one 2lse, but he had sold mcre shares than
anyone els=2, too - 136,59U4. Labouchere commentazd:

It is of course exceedingly difficult to say whether the

shares were sold speculatively for the sccount, 3ut it

is only reasonable to suppose that some of the

YpatriotsY who were anlcading their holcdings in this

wholesale fashion on the public, did also pick

adiitional money by “Bear" salesg.%3
This does not prove conclusively that the Raid vas organis=2d4 for

financial jain, but it does prove that those involved in the

Raid took advantage of the cpportunity potentially to profit,

o — - -

43 Truth, January 13, 1898, p.B80.
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and als> to protect themselves from the losses suffered by less
well-inforwed shareholders, when the value of shares dropp=d
after the Raid.

Three useful items emerge from the material atout finmancial
Labouch2re's emphasis on the Central Search &ssociation and the
Onited Concessions Company, demonstrating that there was no
structural reason for the existence of these Companies, other
than to provide a ma2chanism for exploiting the stock markst. The
second contribution arose from Beit's testimony in the
Matabeleland Coampany case. This testimony provided concret=
evidence that Rhodes and Beit did make use of Company shares,
distribated at less than their market value, to procure sapport
for the Company. The third issue concerns the potential profits
accruing to the 8ritish South Africz Company directors, from the
expedient sale of Chartered Company shares. Laboucher2 showed
that the directors of the Cospany, and their friends, disposed
of Charter2d Company shares, at high prices, before zmbarking on
the risky enterprise of the conspiracy in Johannesburg, and the
associated raid. This much increased ths credibility of
Labouchere®s assertions that the Company sxisted for tinancial
gain, and its activities were directed to thet end.

Ganerally stated, the guestions raised by Truth were: What
were the relations, financial and other, bestween the British
South africa Company, the Exploring Cumpany, the Central Search

Association and the United Concessicne Company? How was the
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capital of the 8ritish South Africa Company subscribed, and Lty
whom? How Were shares distributed? Lakouchere himself was abla
to ansvwer these guestions in part ané, as we have seen,
Salbraith and Maylam have added very little new information.
There is still no publisheé source which give the dates ani
numbers of shares issues, nor which details who the original
shareholders were. Haylam has providec more information on the
various inter-relat=2i companies, but has not shown what tho
financial relatioms betwesn the Britich South Africa Company and
the Exploring Company and the United Concessicns Company ware.
Galbraith details the shareholders of the Cential Iearch
Association and United Concessions Company,“¢ but gives little
information on the British South Africa Company sharcholdars. He
Joes state that the “main promoters held about seventy percent
of the shares in 18893, and only about fifteen percent in 1893,
and that Beit profited substantially from such transactions".45S
Neither author has supplement2d Labouch2re's material on
manipulation of shares on the stock exchange, but both have
added to the information Labouchere provided on the Adistribution
of sharas to influential men.%®

Labouchere's interest in the Company as an instrument of
imperial policy led him to watch the early financial operations

- ———————— o —— -

&4 Galbraith, pp.8U4-85;283. Details for CSA fdiffer in two
locations, although the referznce cited is the came.

45 Galbraith, p.284.

%6 Galbraith, pp.123-125; Maylam ppelz6-132.
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of the Company, and h2 did not like what he caw. He therefore
continuzd to scrutinise the financial operations of the Coampany
as closely as possible over the next eight years and, in doing
so, he raised a seriss of important gu=sstions. He couid not
answer all the guestions he raised, ard it may rever be possible
tc answer some of them: npornetheless, knowing what the right
guestions are is still the key to understanding Rhodes and the

British South Africa Company todaye.
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IV. LABOUCHERE, OFFICIALS AND POLICY
IV. LABOUCHERE, CFFICIALS AND FPGLICY

By 18390, when Labouchere begen following the activitiaes of
khodes and the British South Africa Ccmpany, hisz observations
were influenced by two factorsf The meoralistic attitude h2
retained from his puritan upbringing led him tc be concern=4
about any abuse of public cffice. In additicn, he had been a
Member of Parliament since 1880 and ore of his major political
interests was the curtailment of imperial expansion. With this
background, it is not surprising thet the British Scuth Africa
Company stimulated his interest: Rhodes, who filled the dual
roles of politician and capitalist, led the way, and British
politicians and imperial officials were all of interest to hinm,
as were th2 Company's directors. Also, the implications of
Britain's responsibility for a commercial enterprise with such
vast power, over which the Government had so little =ffective
control, worried him. He fear=d thet, by political manipulation,
Rhodas and his associates were able to achieve ends contrary to
the interests of the British public. Tharefore, his moral
attitudes and his politics combined to focus his attention on
Rhodes, his Company and thosz associated with it.

As a Radical, Labouchere's objection to imperialism was
well-known, and his opposition to chartered companies was
a2xpressed repeatedly in Iruth. In Bovember 1830, h2 =2xpresssd
doubts about the morality of chartered companies, remarking

that:
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From the very first I have protested against (thzse)
2xpeditions into the interior of Rfrica cot up by
chartered companies. IL every casc the2y are maraading
expeditions made for the benefit of speculators. What
has civilization gained by the raid through Africae after
Emin and his ivory? whet is civilization likely to gain
by the advance through Matabeleland and Kashonaland with
the avowad purpose of seeking whether goid can be founi
there, or whesther foolc can be found in ingland to put
money in the pockets of promoters on the chance oif its
being found?t

In August 1893, as Loch was building up the Sechuanaland Border
Police, these concarns were again voiced, and extaanded to
includ=z th2 possible long-terms conseguences ot the policy, for:

1t is really a little too outragecus that we should

confer on speculators the right of life and property in

a vast area, and that when their folly and greed bring

thea into difficulties with the matives, they should

reguir2 us to g2t them oot of thece difficulties.?
A month later, as the columns preparec to march, he
categorically dsnounced chertered companies, noting that:

Fros the Souoth and from the west of Africa

demonstrations are at present being offered to the

British public of the mischief of the system ot

colonisation by Chartered Coampany promoters, agaianst

wvhich I have so long protested to the best of my

ability.3
The British Government was willing to employ Chartzrad Companies
because they would establish a Britishk presence in territories
which might Otherwise fall as colonies into the hands of another
European power, at no direct, or obvicus, cost to the British
taxpayer. Labouchere believed this poliicy tc be morally
reprehensible and politically unwise &nd held that, in allowing
! Truth, November 6, 1890.
2 Truth, August 31, 1393,

3 Truth, S=2ptember 28, 1689%3.
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the Company s0 much unfettersi power, the British Sovernm=nt wac
neglecting its duty to protect the interests ot the British
public.

Labouchere's belief that the British Socuth Africa Company
was dangerous became stronger as he preceived how powerful a
position Rhodes held in Southern Africa. On several occasions
Labouchere drew attention to the questionable morality of
Rhodes®s occupying so many roles. On February 19, 1831, hs
remarked on the infloence which Ythat financinc genius, Mr Cecil
Rhodes, Cape Premier, manager of the South Atrican Company, and
manager of the De Beers Company“* 2xercised over Lori Salisbury.
Two years later, during the Matabele kar, a stronger commant
appear2d, when Labouchere expressed his belief that:

What randers the position in South Africe éifficult for

the Imperial Government is the duality ot Kr Cecil

Rhodes. He is at once the Premier of the Cape Colony and

head of the South African Company. This is as though Mr

Gladstone were British Frime Minister and the Chairman

of the East African Company; and I need hardly say that

such a duality would not for a moment be tolerat=3d by

British public opinion.S
Labouchere considered this duality to be a betrayal of thz trust
of public office, and was constantly suspicicus of Rhodes's
activities.
that peopl2 in positions of trust had abused tham to assist the

operations of the Chartereé Company. Such charges were dirscted

- — - ——— > ——— i ———

4 Truth, F2pruary 19, 1891,

S Truth, October 5, 1393, p.b689.
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at three la2vels of government. Most criticism was aimed at the
British Government, and at individual politicians. The Dukes,
who were taken to represent the2 Dueen indirectly on the British
South Africa Company's BoarG of Directors, were also targets,
and so werz the individual representatives oi the Britich
Government in South Africa: the High Commissioners. At each
level Truth assumed varying degrees of guilt: that honest
officials were deceived by the deceit and trickery of
unscrupulous Company officials; that in some instancss ignorance
led individuals to favour the Company - in which cas2 they were
guilty of culpable negligence; and thazt some ocfficials
deliberately betrayed th2ir positions of trust. At each lavel
times. Initially no malicious intent was attributed, and the
accused were taken to be acting in gocd faith - assisting the
Company because they believed in it. Eowever, as tima passed,
Labouchere assumed increasingly that the Company was assisted
for financial or personal gain, or for political reasons. Thus,
it is possible to s2e a chronological development of the
accusations made, from assumed innocence to & conviction of
guilt. However, the tendency should nct be cverstated.

Early expressions of Labouchere's concerns ware
theoretical, but as the Company became more active, the
objections raised against it became morea specitic. Labouchere
expressed gJeneral concern akout the influence of the Chartered

Company on toreign relations, finance, and fiscal policy.
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Tne first of these, a fesar that tritain might be drawn into
conflict with another power as result of the Company's actions,
was given reality very soon after the British South Africa
Company had been givan its charter, when Rhoces tried to wrest
Beira fros Portuguese contrecl. When khodes's agents pegan
operations in that area, Iruth protested against the outrageous
activities of Rhodes and the British South kfrica Company, and
prophesied dire results for Britain, toth in diplomatic
relations with Europs and financially, if a war with Portagal
were to be brought about, and there are three interesting
aspects to his comments. First he was concerned@ that the British
government would be injured by the Company's filivustering,
since the Sovarnment was responsible for its chartered
companies. Then, he guestioned the Company's motives for
pursuing Manicaland so energetically. Finally, he guestion23 the
role of th2 British Jovernment. Labouch2r2 commancad by
condemning the

see attempt of the Company to lay its hands upon Manica,
which (according to South African Internetional Law)
most unguestionably belongs to Portugal, was nothing bat
buccanserinjy. The Chartered Company coveted this
Naboth's vineyard. They therefore calmly, vi et armis,
dispossessed the PFortuguese Naboth who owned it, ani
laid hands on it. More cutrageous conduct never casme
undar my notice, ... the action of the Company should b=
submitted to investigation. They may, howev2r, consols
themselves with the certainty that the Tory Government
will refuse this investigation, fcr if it were entered

into, it would redound very little to their cr=dit.®

Thereafter, he also printed letters from others supporting his

- — - - ———

¢ Truth, D2cempber 25, 18%0, p. 1320.
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views, notably by republishing a letter, which first appearegd in

the Scotsman, from Mr Arnold Forster, s leacding Liberal, who

e - — -

axplained that

eee With regard to the Chartered Company itself, we are
in a position in which w2 retain entire responsibility,
with a total absence of =ffective control. how sericus
are the conseguences which this arrangement may 2ntail
are shown by the recent kidnapping incident in
Yanicaland. I do not pretend to krow the exact rights
and wrongs of the Manica boundary juestion. But one
thing I do know - namely, that such a high-handed
proceeding as kidnapping an officer, disarming nis
escort, and hauling down a nationel flag would not have
been attempted by the servants of a Company if the
officer had been a German or a Frenchwan, and ths flag
the ensign of Germany or Francee. ... Rlready sStanley and
his crew have done immeasurable injury to the good nasma2
of England in Africa, ... We were not responsible for
Stanley, but we are responsible for this gold-hunting
Company, which has the privilege cf flying our flag, and
of using the Queen's officers as its recruiting
sergeants.’

Labouchare then carried Forster's views forward, giving th=m his
own twist as regards financial opportunism, stating

If Mr Rhodes's gold-hunting Company had treated a German
as it treated a Portuguess, we should either have been
at war with Germany, or have had to humbly apologise for
the act of our chartered freebooters. ... A more wanton
act of filibustering, in order to bolster up the shares
of a financing Company with a fictitious capital, n=ver
took place. Our good mname is disgraced. ...8

Labouchere was not only concerneé¢ with the implications of
the Company's activities, he also guestioned its motivation. The
generally accepted motive for the Chartzred Company's campaign
to secure Manicaland was to gain direct access to the sea, so acs

- - - -

7 Truth, F=bruary 19, 1891, p.376-377. The letter refers to an
incident in which a CZompany agent took two Portuguese officers
prisoner in Manicalandi, without any acthority tc do so.

8 Ibid. pe376-377.
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to open up the territory for active economic exploitation, since
portugal had neglect2d it for so long, and theraby extend the
British Empire. Labouchere casts doubt on all these motives, and
started by casting 1oubt on the viability of the beira-Pungwe
access route by publishing & letter trom the Transvaal, in which
a correspondent reported that:

Out of a party of twelve seasoned m=n who lately
explored the Pungwe district, only three came out alive,
and those thres have had the fever. People who know
anything of this part of the woria may judge the
character of that regicn when I tell you that men hava
bezen known to come from it to Deiagoa Bay for the
benefit of their health!

Were this the only method of reaching the supposa4d
ElDorado, many people would, no doubt chance the risks.
But thzre are other, and healthy roustes in existence.?

Labouchere then asserted that the most iaportant reason for the
takeover of Manicaland was to bolster flagging shares, and in

January 1891, Truth suommarised the reasoms for the Compiany's

seizure of Manicaland as follous:

1. That Mashonaland has be2n found (so far) to have no
gold in workable guantities, and the owners of eight
nillion pounds' worth of shares that represent thnis gold
on the London Stock Exchange are obliged tou look for it
elsewhere if it can be hoped that more fools will
purchase any of these ¥Yfancy" shares. 2. That Lobengula
is much too astute to part with his land, and so a less
civilized chief has had to be found further North, who
can be humbugged out of a land concession, in order to
enable the Company to keep its promiszs to its employzes
in Africa, and to justify the assorances in regard to
land which have led to the purchase of it shares by
fools in England. 3. That the high platezu, respecting
the salubrity of which so much has besen asserted, harily
begins in Mashonaland, bat stretches out beyond it in
Portuguese territory.1c©

- e - - —— . ——

? Truth, March 12, 1831, p. 540,

10 Trath, January 22, 1891, p.171.
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Labouchere then turnec his attention to the attitude of the
British Government, for he Lelieved that, if not actually
complicit in the Company's activity, the Goverament deliberately
allowed thz Company to get away with violating Britain's trezaty
with Portugal. Such allegations are cer2fully expressed, but the
implications are clear. In the article on February 19 guoted
above,t1 Labouch2re complainz2d that Britain's resputation was
harmed, andi Portugal wronged, because Lord Salisbury was
anwilling to guarrel with the two Dukes who were political
supporters, or with Rhodes.12 A few months later, Lapouchare
commented in strong terms ob the government's failur=z to control
the Company. The passage began with a comment c¢n conflicting
reports from the British South BRfrica Company and Portuguass
regarding the incident at Macequece, &anl continued:

ees I attach very little credence to anything that
emanataes from the officials or friends cf the Company.
Its entire action on the Portuguese fromtier of
Mashonaland has been a disgrace to our name, and to our
flag, and it is a further scandal that cur Govaranment
either winks at or covertly supports such doings.t13

Truth's attention next turned to the Prime Minister and
Foreign Secretary. Lord salisbury has been construed both as

actively opposing and obstructing Rhodes and his schemes angd,

alternativa2ly, as being cowed by Rhodes' obvious influencz over

- —— - — o ——— -

11 See pe.136.
t2 Truth, February 13, 1891,

13 Truth, ¥May 28, 1391, p.1116-1117. Ihis passage shows how

rapidly Labouchere realised that Compiany reports were nct
reliable.
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both English and Rfrikaners in Scuth africa.!4 Truth sugg2asted
that more control remained in Salisbuiy's hands than many
commentators believed and that he deliberateiy allow=d the
Company freedom. Salisbury apparently was able to resist
pressure from the British South Africe Company when he chosz to
do so, sinc2 his negotiations with the Portuguese continu=i on
the lines he wanted, and he insisted upon recognising their
clearly established rights. Iruth suggested that he “covertly"
supported the activities ot the British South Rfrica Company -
and this is possible. The activities of the Company did enable
Salisbury to demand further concessions from the Portuguese
after the initial aqreement of Rugust 1890, with the unspoken
threat that he could not control the Company, implying that
after the #Modus Vivendi had expired, matters might bes settled by
force.!5 By allowing the Company a little room, Salisbury was
aple to conclude negotiations with a treaty gquite favourable to
British interests, especially in the Zambesi and Shice vallzys.
A further jeneral concern of Labcuchere's was the financial
liability which the Company could represent. He warned that
despits protestations that the Eritishk South Arrica Company was
saving Britain money, it would probably =nd ug causing the
British taxpayer expense, while any profits remainzd with the

Company. D=zmands that the taxpayer be protected appeared

14 cann, p.1901, suggasts the former; Galbraith, pp.159-160, the
latter.

15 pAxelson, pp.290-292.
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regularly. The first appeared as early as WNovember 1890, when a
letter was published which askzd whether it was:

intended to send dritish troops to enforce the ciaims of
the South African Company, and if so, why are the
British taxpayers to be burcdened with this expense,
seeing the Chartered Company has paid nothing whatsoevar
for its privilegass to the Imperial Exchequer, not even
for the purpose of promoting %“state-aided emigration or
colonisation", which was one of the lures held out to

beguils us into the original annexation of Bechuanaland?
16

Labouchere raturned to this theme ten months later, when he
remarked that:

Sooner or later, im all human possibility, we, the
taxpayers of the United Kingdom, shall ke calizd apon to
assist Mr Rhodes and Sir Hemnry Loch in maintaining
sovereign rights which they already assume to exzarcis=s
in Lobesngula's country. It is ... possible that ... the
Chartered Company may prove strong =nough to Gztfeni
themselves against Lobengula ... It is infinitely mors
lik=2ly however, that ... they will «.. invoke the aid of
the Home Governm=nt,., It will then bz for us to say
whether we are going to defend by force what #Messrs
Ehodes and Company have obtained bty frauwd. In visw of
the patronage hitherto afforded by Lord cSalisbury to
Rhodes' Company promotiny schemes, it ic necessary that
th2 merits of this guestion, as between Loch and the
Company, should be understood by the British elector
without loss of time.17

The first charge that the Chartered Company wac costing the
British taxpayer monay appearad after the Matabele campaiga of
1893 ended, when Labouchere noted that:

the astute Rhodes seems to be throuwing the cost of the
war upon us. He is disbaniing his filibusters, after
paying theam for their services out of the conguered
country, while the British taxpayer is reguired to pay
for the Imperial Force that aided in the raid, and that
is now doing the greater part of the work of securing

- - - —— -

16 Truth, November 20, 1BSC, p.1G&3.

'?7 Truth, August 20, 1891, p. 361.

o - -
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the country for the Company. 1t the Chartered Company is
to have the spoils, why are we to pay for securing it?1e

Similar admonitions to protect the interests ot the taxpayear
continued to appzar from timez to time, 19 with justice, since
there is no doubt that the Company dicd cost EHritish taxpayers
money for, as Maylam has notel, Loch estimated in 1895 that the
Company had cost the British government over 700,000 between
1890 and 1894.29 Thus, less than a month after Company troops in
Rhodesia were being disbanded, Labouchere had¢ pointed out one
instance where the Company dii cause the taxpayer cxpense,
although it is only r=cently that historians have recognised the
significance of this.?1

Lapvouchere's most sustained attack on tnea British
Government in it dealings with the British South Afirica Compeny,
focussed on the general issue of responsible puplic spending.
His attacks were not limited to this subjsct, however, and more
specific criticism against the Government arosc from specific
incidents, and gonerally focussed on th2 Secretary of Stat= for
the Colonies. This meant that Lord Ripom, from 18392 to 1895, and
Joseph Chamberlain, from 1895 to 1899, were the objects of most

of Truth®s attacks. In 1893, during the 5atabele ¥zr, the tone

-——— - - -

~

19 For example, see Truth kugust 19, 1897, p.d7%.

20 Maylam, p.12b, cites C.C. B79/4Z2/UBU p.197.

21 stigger noted the use of Imperial troops in Land, pp.7-8; and
Maylam has also commented on the cost of the Company's
operations to Britain. p.120-124;195%, Both &authors comments were
published eijghty-six years after Labouchere's remarks.
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of criticism became sharp, despite the fact that the Government
was Liberal, and that Labouchere generally supported the Liberal
Party. He recognised the difficulty which the Government faced
in dealing with Rhodes, who exercised pdower both politically anad
as a financier, but 2id not accept that as sufticient
explanation for their policy in Southern Africa.22 On Noveaber
16 Lapbpouchere gave his interpretation of the Liberal
Government's bahaviouar during the Matzb2le War:

In the treatment of Africams by border ruftians, I have
always found that a Liberal Government is too much
inclin2d to avoid Parliamentary friction, ... They
therefore look on, whilst black men are murdered and
financiers are makXing mon=sy oot of the murders. This is
called Yrecognising the cesponsibilities ot offica%".23

-39 941

conda2mna2d his lack of judgement in failing to control the
Company. Lapbouchere's considered opinion on Ekipon's actions
following Lobengula's attempt to appeal to him in 1893 was that:

Lord Ripon was cowed by #%r Rhodes, anl the herd of
ruffians and speculators whom the Company had jJot
together advanced into Matabeleland. They f{ound no
Matabele force in the meighbourhocd of the frontier (the
statem=ant that there was one having been a falsehood
design2d to hooldwink Lori Ripon), ... Lord Kipon, who
seemed to have entirezly lost his head, on this ordered
the Bechuanaland Police Force [sic] to enter
Matabeleland, with a view apparently, of hindering thea
further advance of the Company's expedition. But ... the
Police Force ... aided and abetted the Company's
expedition.2%

- - — - ——— -

22 Truth, October 5, 1893, p.589.

—— e ——

», November 16, 1893. There were similal accusations cn
1894, regarding the ssttiement of the war.

24 rruth, Janvary 16, 189%6, p.t1U3-144,
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A more direct and serious criticism o9f Ripon concarned ths
official raport of the Victoria incident,25 which cxonerated the
Company from blawe, lespite published raports from independent
sources, contradicting the Company's story. In 1894 Labouchere
remarked:

One of my South African corresponcents tells m=2 that the

dr Newton wno 50 peautifully whitewashed thz Chartered

Company in his report omn the 'incident® which began the

Matabele War is an intimate personal friend of Mr

kKhodes. <o« As much might have been inferred from the

report itself. What I co not understand is how Lord

Ripon could have supposed that such a report would hava

any value; or if he knew the truth, how he could have

offerel the report to the public as anything morz than a

partisan verdict on the facts.2¢
This connection which Labouchere pointed out in 1894 was only
elaborated apon in 1980. Maylam has shown that Rhodes and Newton
were close friends.27 Stigger2® has given the bLackground to
Bewton's appointment to conduct the engairye. Ths High
Commission2r gen2rally made such an apppointment, subject to
Colonial Office approval. Labouchere had recently objected in
Parliament to the appointment of Loch's secretary to an enguiry,

and when Ripon object2d to Nawton's appointment, Loch insisted

on the appointment, lest replacing hic rcandidate gave creience

- ———————— -~ =

25 HoC.1B94,LVIII,S54S (C7555).
26 Truth, December 13, 16594, p.1388,

27 See Maylam, pp.52;130, for the extent of Newton's cornzctions
with the Company.

28 p,stigger, The Land Commission ot 1894 and its Membership.
Rhodesian History, 1377,8. pp.105-106.

- - .
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to Labouchere's charges.29

Labouchere's concern with the abuse ot offices representing
public interest was not limited to elected government officers,
but embraced the piractors of the British South Africa Company,
and appointed imperial officers as well. As the twe Dukes and
Earl Grey were on th2 Board ot Directors to satisfy imperial
government conditions, he considered that they had a public
responsibility to protect ths interests, not only of
shareholders, but also of the British Governmeant and British
publice Thus the Dukes of Abercorn and Fife, Farl GSrey, and
occasionally Farguhar, were all targets of attack from times to
time, throughout the perioé 1889-1899.

There is no doubt that, amcng the conditicns established by
the British government for granting a Royal Charter, was the
iemand for a prestigious Boari of Directors. Salisbury 1is guoted
as having Yauthorised Rhodes and his allies to go ah=ad and
draft the Charter they wanted, but warned them that they would
be wise to include among their directors men of ‘'social and
political standing®'".3% Wkhen the Charter was granted, Article
29 named the Directors, and specified that the three puklic
memabers, the Duke of Abercorn, the Puke of Fife, and Ahlbert Grey

(later Earl Grey), would remain Directors for life, or until

- ——— - ———— -

29 The Jameson Raid also sparked criticism of the 3ecretary of
State, who was at that time, Chamberlein. Since Chapter VII
below is devoted to the Jameson kaid, criticism of Chamberlain
will be considered there.

30 Lockhart and woodhouse, [.170.
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they became incapacitated, or resigned.3! That is, they could
not be removed from office by the other Directors ot the
Company. The government's desire to protect their position was
explained by Lord Knutsford, Secretary of State for the
Colonies, who suggested to the Foreign Dffice that the
government intended to exercise some control ovar the Company's
operations by ensuring thaet it had a responsitle Eoard of
Directors, for:

ese in consenting to consider this scheme in mora

detail, Lord Knutsford has been influenced by the

consideration that if such a Company is incorporated by

Royal Charter its constitution, objscts and operations

will become more directly subject to control by Her

Majasty's Governsment. ... In Lord Knutsford's judgement

such a Company e, if well conducted, would render

valuable assistance to Her Majesty's Government in South

Africa.32

Thase gentlemen made no attempt to live up to these Jraact
expectations of them for, as Galbraith remarkss:

Of the three public members of the Board ... two devotel

little time and effort to the affairs of the Company,

and the third was converted to the raligion of Ekaodes.

They consejuently were worse than useless, for they gave

a sheen of respectability to the op2rations of a company

over which they exerciced no control.33
This fazilure to do more than sit on the Board aroused
Labouchere, and a clear development emerges in the comments in
Iruth: Labouchere moved frcm pointing out the tinancial interest
of the Dukes in the Company, and their obligations to the

. — e - ——————— o ———

32 gyoted in HMathers, pg. 276-279. Thie note was dated April 30,
1889,

33 Galoraith, p.116.



public, to lirect charges of negligence, anc eventualiy to
probable active misconduct in connection with the Jameson Raid.

It is true that Rhodec was not easily controlled, but the
extent to which the Directors allowed him control was
2xtraorlinary. He was given a power of attorney for the Company
in 18%1 ani, until it became apparent that he was spandingy with
reckless abandon, he was given complete freedom over the buiqet.
The Directors made no objection to the private agreement made
for the purchase of the Rudd Concessicn for one million British
South Africa Company shares. Ejually, whether they wers awJare of
the Jameson Raid or not, they showed great reluctance to
penalise Rhodes, or any other Company officials involved.
Labouchere first dsmanded that the Diractors me2t thair
obligations to the public in 1890-1891, by releasing information
on who the original sharcholders were, and wpnat financieal
arrangemants hai peen made between British South Africa Company,
Onited Concessions Company ané Central Search Association.3%. By
1893, his tone had b=come charper, and h2 accused tha Dukas of
being Ydecoy ducks®, and of allowing the public to be misled
into a2 worthless investment.3% However, in 1636, after tha
Jameson Raid, comments rapidly became morz damning. Labouchere's
initial response was to assume2 the directors ignorant, for:

That this raid was not pre-arrangedé, and that Mr Hhodes

was not perfectly aware what was going to take place is

simply incredible. ... It was, however, probably not

-~ ———— —— - —

34 ¢.y. Truth November 6, 18%0.

35 See Truth, November 16, 189%3,p.104C.
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known to the ornamental 3ummy Foard, with its Dukes and
its Earls in Lonlon.3e

More matur2 reflection caused Labcucherz to aoaify his opinions
and, by Aujust, Truth's tone had chanced, and he acked:

khat is the precise lecal meaning of ‘culpeble
negligjence®? As a3 condition of ¢grantiny « Charter in
South Africa to "our well-beloved" Rhode:c and Beit and
Maguire, the Queen insisted upon "our well-beloved"
Fife, Abercorn, Grey ard Farquhar [being made co-owners
of the Charter, and] being placed on the Board of the
Companye ... It appears that £61,000 of the Companys
money was expended in Johannesburg, and that tfurther
monies were spent in expenses connected with the Jameson
Rail. The London Directors plead that they knew nothing
of this until after the raid. Would not this amount to
culpable negligence? ... When hali the City knew that
the raid was about to take place, when the Company's
money was being =xpended, and the Company’s forces being
collected for the raid,these innocents knew absolutely
nothing of what was occurring!37?

Finally in December 1897, after the Perliamentary Committee had
found Rhodas guilty of complicity in the Jameson Raid
conspiracy, and after the Kisings had taken place in Rhodzsia,

and the Company had been somewhat discresditeé, Truth condamned

the negligz2nce of the three directors, and cslliz2d ftor their
removal from the Board of Directors:

Three directors - the Duke of Fife, the Duke of
Abercorn, and Earl Grey - were appointed by the
Government as a condition of the Charter being given.
They were specifically appointed to see that uncthing
wrongful was done. According to thke esvidence submitted
to the Parliamentary Committee, Karl Crey was more or
less cognisant of the contemplated raid. The bukes of
Abarcorn and Fife pocketed their calaries, and exercised
no sort of control over the COmL&aliYees

These three noblz2men cught tc be replaced by thrse real
directors, abtle and skilled men of business, and
prepared to allow nothiny to be done withcout their

- a—— - -

3¢ Truth, January 16, 18%6, pe.145.

37 Truth, ARugust &, 1896, p.3c4.
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knowledge and approval.3®
How much was actually known of the Jameson Kaia is not certain -
many of the people who might have Qrevented it probably knaw a
little, and tried not to find put any mdre. Nonatheless,
Labouchere's accusations against the Fritish Scuth Africa
Company Directors were fully justified. They were not intesrestec
in the operations of the Company, and made no attempt to control
Rhodes. Even so, they were not removed from the Ecard of
Directors.

The last set of public officials to be scrutinised by
Labouchere were thes officers appointed to represent the Imperial
sovernment in South Africa. The most sensitive position was that
of the Govarnor of the Cape and High Commissioner for South
Africa, as this official served as the link Letween the Imperial
governmant and the Chartered Company 1in Southern Aafrica. 3ir
Hercules Kobinson, later Lord Rosmead, held the position for two
periods, 1881 to 1889 and 1895 to 1887, 3ir Kenry Lloch serving
in the intervening years. Foth Loch and Robinson came under
Labouchere's scrutiny, and both were criticised. Kobinson was
from early on a fira supporter of Rhodes,3® and theretore of the
Chartered Company, and was influential in the procasss of
securing the charter.*% He was later known t¢ have owned shares
in the British South Africa Company, &nd became a Director ot De

- - — -

38 Truth, December 16, 1897, p. 1571,

39 Lockhart and Woodhouse, p.81.

40 Lockhart & Woodhouse, pel1b1-162.
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Beers after resigning as Governor and Eigh Commissioner in 1886,
41 Loch, on the other hand, was never an ardent supporter of
kKhodes. Whzn he 3id assist his, it was becausz they shared
common gjoals, or because Loch lacked sufficient support to
oppose Rhodes.“2 Loch wanted Mashonaland and Hatabeleland to be
under British control and, while his pretereunce would have been
to extend more direct Imperial control over Ehodesia, as this
was impossible without the support of the Imgperial Govarnament,
he was obliged to work with the British South Africa Company to
accomplish his end. He was helpful to Rhodes ir establishing a
claim to the lani in ®Mashonaland and Matabeleland. When Lippert
sought a coancession covering land rights from Lobergula, Loch
first assisted Rhodes in trying to obstruct his efforts. de even
had Lippert's agent, EKenny-Tailycur, arrested in Bzchuanaland
for being a threat to the peace, anéd sc prevented hia froa
enteriny Matabeleland.“3 When it was later doccided that the most
expedient course was to buy Lipgert's concescion, Loch was again
influential in persuading Lippert to visit lobengula, in order
to have the concession confirmed, and was instrumental in having
the concession recojnised also by the British Government. In
1893, during the Matabele KkKar, Loch made some attzmpts to
restrain the Company from unprovoked azgyression but, since he
was in agreement with the Company that co-existence With the

«1 Lockhart & Woodhouse p.265.

42 Blake, p.1d9.

43 Rosenthal ppe.vi;3.
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Ndebele state was not possible, he was not unwilling to support
the Company in a war. In addition, as discussed above, he hoped
to gain additional power cver the Company by adept handling of
the war. Once ne had received reports of Ndebele agqression, he
exercised the authority reluctantly given him by the Colonial
Office, and gave Jama2son permicssion tc "take whatever action he
may deem necessary for the protection of the life and property
of the residents in Mashonaland%.4* Aftar his attempt to control
the post-war settlement failed, relations between Khodes and
Loch bzcame difficult.

Labouchere®s comments on Loch were restrained. He accused
Loch of having used his authority tc advance Company interests,
but not of deliberate misdeelds. On October 1%, 1893, Lavouchere
wanted to know:

whether, as stated in South African newspapers,

important personages hava2 been “sguared¥ with either

free shares, or shares given at par when they could b=z

sold at a premiua. Let us know precisely what coanection

exists between Sir Henry Loch and the Cocmpeny, on the

directors of which he is supposed to exercise a check on

behalf of the Imperial Government.¢5
Loch's responsibility for allowing the Company to engag= in a
war against the Ndebzle was more sericusly asserted. In Octotber

Mr Rhodes is using Sir Henry Loch as a stalking horse,

to covar an advance into Amandebeli country while

Chartered people are massing trcops, anéd Sir Henry Loch
44 praess, Jdctober 5, 1893. Galbraith (p.336) quotes the same
instruction thus: Yto adopt any measures necessary to ensure the
safety of the company's posts.".

45 Truth, OJctober 19, 1£93, p.B01.



is allowing his positicn as tier Mejesty's High
Commissioner to be used as z mask to cover this advance.
While he is negotiatinc and palavering, the Chief whose
subjects hava been wantonly murdered is veing stesalthily
stalkad.%®

For once, Labouchere was fcllowing, rather than leading, for the

stating:

¥e regrat that Sir Henry Loch shoull have Lb2en induced
to look at the situation through khodesian spectacles,
but we are not surprised, for the psrsonal magnetism of
the great amalgamator is such that few can withstand
him. He has, however, done what he has done, and the
conseguences will be one of the most unjust wars of
modz2rn times.

«es Wwe contend that the Imperial Government in allowiag
the Chartered Company to attack Bulawayc is sanctioning
an act of gross injustice in order that a number of
influential and powerful English speculators may make
money.47?

Loch was probably more actively invclved in the process than is
assumed by the editor of the Press, since he hoped that by
engagding imperial troops in the war, he would gain control of
the peace settlement, and extend more direct imperial control
over Rhodesia. Thus, while he was certainly guilty of trying to
manipulate events to achieve his own ends, Loch's goals wers
political and imperial, not financisl and personal.

Loch was fortunate encugh to leave the Cape bz2fore the
storm of the Jameson #aid broke so that, although he almost

certainly knew about the plans which were brewing, he was never

implicated in the scandal currounding the Raid. Sir Herculss

—— - . - — o

46 Truth,October 26, 1593, p.B853.

47 press, OJctober 5, 1893. BEnother example can be found on
September 29, 1893.
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Robinson attraecta2d4 much more direct criticism from Truth, which
sharply rebuked him, and challznged his assertiom that he hac no
personal interest in the Company, when it noted that:

Sir Hercules Robinson, wheo was Governor of the Cape when
the Rudd Concession was obtained from Lobengulz, and who
advised that it should Le confirmed, writes a letter to
the Times singing the graises of the South ifrican
Chartered Company, which he concludes by saying that his
views are not influenced by any personal interasts, as
he has 5013 at a loss the few shares that he held in 41
Rholes's ventures. Sir Hercules figures amongst the
shareholders of the Concession Company as a holder of
2500 shares, when that Company wac brought into
existence with a paper capital of four millions. Ares we
to understand that between what he paid (if he paid) for
these sharas and the price at which h2 sold them, he was
a pecuniary loser? Sir Hercules was also a sharenolder
in the De Beers Coapany, which is one of HMr Rhodes's
venturas, and he s50l3 thzse shares. Did he 103« money on
this transaction?48

Therefore, in 1895 Laboucheres made a strong statemant, opposing
Robinson's re-appointment as High Commissioner, holding tnat:

The appointment is ap astounding one, for if there is
one man who ought not to be sent to the Cape as Goveraor
and Chief Commissioner, that man is S5ir Hercules
Robinson. He had, on leaving the Cape Colony apparently
a considerable holding in the United Concessions
Company, which was exchanged for Chartered Coapany
shares, and also in De Beers Company. On his returm to
England, hea becames a Director of the latter company
which has a secret service fund of B10,000 per annum for
political and other purposes, and of the Standard Bank,
another Rhodesian undertaking. The Cape Colony is now
YrunY by three powerful Corporaticns - De Lzers, the
Chartered Company and the Consolicated Goldfields, in
all of which Mr HRhodes's will is absolute. This is
humiliating, but surely it is a mistake to accentuate
this state of things by sending ocut 3 Governor who has
bzen closely connected with two of these Companies?4?

Maylam has provided evidence that Robinson had extensive
48 Truyth, Novembar 9, 1893, p.981.
49 Truth, April 4, 1895, p.837.

LS ——-3-4
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financial interests in the Eritish South Africa Company and the
United Concessions Company. He held 2,100 of the original sharec
issued by the British South kfrica Company and 6,250 United
Concessions Company shares in January 1892.5¢ Thus labouchere
was not wile of the mark in his criticisms.5!

Lapbouchere*s comments on political manoeuvering ars
cautious, but revealing, ncnetheless. He clearly demonstrated
that the Government's policy of employing a chartered company
for iamperial gain was a mistaxe. The Company jeopardised
Britain's negotiations with Portugal, although the final
settlement was favourabls to Britain. In addition, the Chartered
Company &id not save the British treacury money. Labduchere
pointed out the cost of the Matabele wWar, particularly after
December 1893, when the Company's trocps wa2re disbtanded, and
security was maintained by Imperial troops. with regard to the
rol=s of individuals Labouchere®s commentz were less conclusive,
but still useful. He was obviously awars of the poiitical
manipulation which was taking place, «lthough he could not prove
his allegations. He was convinced that abuse of office had taken
place, but such political accusations are most difficult to

prove. He was able to demonstrate Robinson's connections with

- ————— - — —— - ———

50 Maylam, p.129.

% It is known that Robinson was aware 2f the planned Jam=son
Raid, and made no attempt to prevent it. (See Lockhart anl
Woodhouse, pp.299-300.) However, he d3id not testity at thz Cape
or the British Parliamentary Enguiries into the Raid, and
avoided being publicly disgraced. He c¢izd a iew months after the
Raid had taken gplace.



the Company, and to cast suspicion on Newton's Victoria Incident
Report. He also raised the general question of how Rhodes
exerted his power. After the Jameson Laid, acain, he raisz21 the
question of now closaly the Secrztary of State had bpeen
involved, although he could not prove any connection. Maylam has
brought evidence to light, which demonstrates that Labouchere's
suspicions were well-jrounded, with recarl toc hKhodes's
patronaje. However, the leads which Labduchere's commentary
provided have hardly been pursued, anc recent historical work is

rediscovering links which Labouchere pointed out before 1300.
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V. LABOUCHERE AND SETTLERS

Laboucher='s growinjy belief that the sritish =outh Africa
Company was a fraudulent enterprise caused him to develop an
interest in the details of the aamirnicstration éf ¥ashonalani and
Matabeleland, becausz he wish2d to establishk what th=2 reality
was behind the Company's propaganda. Ey presenting the
unsatisfactory conditions which faced Europeans who went to
Mashonaland and Matabeleland, he was able to argue that the
objective of the Company was not the extensicn of Britain's
empire but financial speculation. Thic led kim to conclud= that
it was not fit to be responsible for the administration of its
territory. He was uniguely well-gualified to arrive at this
conclusion, since he was well-supplied with informsnts on
conditions in the territory. ks a result of his interest and the
juality and number of his informants, whose cosments on thea
administration and on conditions faced by white residents
peppered Truth, his conclusion was npot surprising. Egually his
judgement was sound.

The issues which Labouchere particularly pursued in this
regard weres improper conduct by Rhodes and Company officials;
distortion of information about the Cumpany and its territory;
disregard for legal procedur=ss; treatment of the Company's
police; ani the state of communications between FHashonaland and

the rest of the world. His ceneral criticisms of the Company's
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administration will be examinzd first, followed by the more
specific charges since, until the Jemeson Haid, almost all
references wers to the lack of organication in the running of
the country.

Labouchere began in October 1891 by writing of the
discomtorts faeced by visitcrs and settlsars in Mashonaland,
noting that they continued to send

eee accounts of their experience in the £l Dorado of the
South Africa Company. ... There can be no Jdoubt ... that
the future o5f this territory depernds entirely on the
digging up of gold which has not yet been seen, and that
until that desirable result has been arrived at,
prospectors may reckon on having &bdut as bad a time of
it as in any uncivilized country, with the additional
inconvanience of having to submit to the despotism of an
irresponsible officialdom.l

These remarks heralded regular criticisms of Comgany officials
for their casual attitude towards the aathority which they
exercised, and for the disregard for due prceccess which 1is
apparent in many incidents.

The informality of Company officials is well illustrated by
Ycertain extraordinary proce=2gings which occurra2d on the ceturn
of 4r Cecil Rhodas from Maczhonaland",

«es He reached Mafeking in Eritish Bechuanaland, on
Suniay, November 22, travelling by the mail coach frona
Mashonalani. He had, however, ordered the mail bags to
be left behind 2n route in order to expedite his
proyress, and they followed by & passenger coach in
which Lord Kandolph was travelling, thus missing the
outyoing English mail. This autocratic proceeding
appzars to have taken place withirn the Eritish
Protectorate, where, I take it, neithar a managing
director of the South kfrica Company, nor a Premier of

—— - — . — - — o —— -

1 Truth October 15, 1871, .770.
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Cape Colony is more than a private individual.?
Minor Chartered Company ofticials were no more responsibls fcr,
in 1892,

At Christmas the Chief [sic ] Commissioner and pResident
Magistrate, under the influence of the festive s=zason,
suspended each other, btut the latter got ths better of
the former by arresting him. The next day, however thay
made up their differences at a smcking concert, and
spent the rest of the year in festivity. This Kesident
Magistrate was a man of resources, if not humanity.
Having ordered a man intd prison, h2 made him safe overy
evening by tying his thumbs together behind his nacke.3

Neither of these accounts give evidence of either malice or
gross misconduct but both demonstrate a careless attitude.
Kalic2 was present, together with 3ishonesty, in a case

which came to 1light in Truth in April 1892. & ¥r Cutler had

performed well-sinking work for the Company, and found it
@difficult to obtain payment. The Company haé issued vouchers,
signed by the Ianspector of Works, payable at 75% of their face
value in Mafeking, where som2 of the vouchers in the same series
had been honoured. However the Company refused to honour further
vouchers presentead by Mr Cutler, and he attempted to sue the
Company, whereupon

se« the Company fell beack upon the technical plea «..
that they had no domicile in Bechuwanaland, and that
their registered office was in London, where they must
be sued. A more preposterous contention could hardly be

- ——— - - ——— — —— -

2 Truth December 31, 1891, p.1391.

3 Truth December 7, 1893. Tha2 account is taken from published

experiences of two nurses, Kose Blennerhasset and Lucy Sleseman,
in Mashonaland. The excerpts from Miss Blennerhasset's book are
not guoted out of contaxt, but in fact are further empbellished.
See Ke.B. Blennerhassat and L. Sleeman: Adventures in

- — - —— o o —— ——

Mashonaland. London, 1893. pp.203-214. The magistrate in

e ol i i S e . e S

jJuestion was Captain H.D. Graham.
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raised, since it denies to ail who 40 businz2ss with th=
Company in 5South Africa the right t> sue them in thz
local courts. But, in the face cf the facts that the
Charter expressly provides that the Company may be suad
in any Court cof the Unit2d Kingdom o1 Colonies, that the
againt 1n Mafoking had an d2tfice thtere, where the summons
had been deliver=d, and that this agent made the
contract with Mr Cutler, the plea looks sucn a flagrant
pizce of pattifojging Gishonesty that I aa curious to
hear what Mr Rhodes has to say in defence of it.*

The Company's officials were clearly becoming convinced that any
successful ruse was acceptatle, so that Labouchzre's asserticn
that the Company was a fraud was bacoming more tenable. This led
him to criticise it in more depth, especially bv giving
attention to the Company's atteampt toc control public information
on its territory, the administration of justice and the
Company's Police, amongst other matters.

The Company ex2rcised strict ccatrol over the iaformation
on its territory which reached the rest of the world, through
newspapers, private mail, &nd undiscuis2d propajania.® Thz
mounting 3distrust surfaced in a guotation from an unspecified

South African newspaper which appearec in Truth in June 1391,

which held that:

Everyon2 now se25 through the sorcéid objects and

- — - — - — - - ——

« Truth April 21, 1892, p.&13.

5 This Rholes achieved in part by winning journalists over to
the Company, by paying them, if necessary. For ecxswple, Routers
special coamissioner in Matabeleland was Norris Newman, whose
independence was suspect for some time, and who finally s2vered
connections with keaters, and became opznly employed by the
Company. Accusations against Kzwman, and hie relations with the
Company ars described in P. Stigger, Thg Lang Cocamission ani the

Hiasd St aiii- mm=

Land, p. 23, not2 102, Historical Association of Zimpbabwe, Local

Series No. 36, pe. 23, note 102. In addition, the Company had

control of the teslegraph wirzs and mails, thus any reports
leaving the country had to pass through Company hands.
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unscrupulous methods of this orcanisation that, were it
to succeed, would extinguish the political ana civil
liberties of every white man through the length and
breadth of the southern portion of this continent.
Already they havz nobbled a portion of tiz Cape Press;
ese th2y have misled Scuth Africa by monopolising the
Mashonaland mails and controlling the Bechuanaland wires;
o .

The focus of aftack was the deliberate leception of the British
and South African pablic as to the stetz of affairs in
Mashonaland, and comments on this subject recur in Truth
throughout the period from 1691 to 18%9. Thus, in 1833,
Labouchere wondered:

«ee who on the Westminster Gazette has Leen Ygout hold
of" by the South African Chartered¢ Company? This
neWspaper, alone amongst Liberal journals is in periect
ecstasies over the Company's doings, and evidently
considers that it matters nothing how many Africans are
slaughtered and robbed, if the slazugjhter and the rombery
enableil financing adventurers to make mcney out of
British investors.?

By 1896, experience led him to hold that:

The public should look with an eye 2f suspicion or 3ll
news that comes frow South Rfrica. A little whil2 ago
the astute Mr Rhodes had a finarncial interest in every
newspaper published in Cape Towne. The case is not guite
so bad now; still Mr Khodes has much money, and his
boast has always been that he can buy any man. In the

a brother-in-law of Mr lionel Phillips, the President of
th2 Reform Leagu=z. With all respect, therefore, to this
gentleman, I shall not attach any importance to his
telegrams or his letters.®

South African suspicions that Rhodes's cfficials wers

tampering with the mails wers first confirmed by Labouchkere in

6 guot24 in Truth Jun= 25, 1891, p. 1330.

-

7 Truth December 7, 1893, .1215.
® Truth May 14, 1896, p.1203. Lionel Fhillips was th2np awaiting
trial for his actions during the Jamezon Raid.
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Rugust 1891, when he accuseé the Company of abusing thne
"sovereign" function of managing the Fost Office which it
exercised by

ses+ Opening letters for the purposes of ottaining any
information of value tc the Compary, or suppressing any
intelligence, the trancsmission of which does not suit
the officials and directors. ... Th2 matter has recome
so notorious that formal complaints on the subject have
bzen aldressed to Sir FRenry Loch ...Certain of {the
Company's officials] have openly toasted, in the
presence of witnesses that no letter of importance is
sent to or from the Company's teiritories the contents
of which they do not know.?%

1t was matched by a latter recsived in Decemker 1891, from a
correspondent who, while thankinyg Lebcuchere for his support and
reporting that "the community here are with you to a man in your
criticism of the Chartered Company", coegplainsc about "tha
tampering with l=tters by the Company's agents™. This provided
Labouchere with the ogpportunity to publish kis own unigue
evidence, for

Many as are my corresgondents in Mashonaland, I have not
found one among them who dares to address a latter to
Truth office, except under cover to somebody els=. 2

pretty state of things in a territory nominally British.
10

Four years latar, matters had clearly not improved, for Truth

juoted at length from the Johannesbur¢ Star of June 1, 1835,

reporting that

L rasident in Bulawayo, Matabeleland, has forwarded to a

A —— o -

% Truth August 27 1891, p.U428. No rececrd of such complaints
occurs in the Confidential Print Series whichk raveals, not that
no complaints were made to Loch, but that Loch chouse not to

report such complaints to London.

16 Truth Descember 24, 1891, p.1234,
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memder of the Star staff 4 letter addrecsszed toc the

editor of Truth, with a reguest that it way ke

T

forwarded. H2 says 'I am afraid to post any letters to

believe, stop them'.11
Labouchare then 2xercised his usual czution whan he commenta2@
that

«ee Whether the Company really tamosrs with the
correspondence that passes througk their hands 1 cannot
say; but those who live under their juri:zdiction are
firmly of opinion that they do, arnd it ic an imputation
of which, I think, the birectors wowld dou w=ll to clear
their agents.12

There is no evidence that th2 Directors ever responded, bat
Truth had cause to return to the issue in 18%8 by writing that:

Immediately after the conclusion c¢f Mr kKhodes's famous
“IndabaY in the Matoppos, an officer of the party ren
off to the signalling officer anéd got him to heliograph
to Bulawayo a2 message to his brcker there to wir=z home
and buy “Chartereds". Others of the party subsequently
did the same thinj, ... It was later on discoverad by
these enterprising gentlemen that all private telegrasms
from Bulawayo had been kept back on this occasion until
others from more influential quarters hac bkazen got

but it is due to the officer who contributes it to state
that hs actually gives the names cf the parties
concerned.!?3

Labouchere freguently charged the Compeny witn deliberately
wmisleading the public. While it was only to be sxpmcted that
information published by the Compary would cast their operations
in a favourable light, nonetheless the British South atfrica

Company was a master of the art, and Truth freqguently commented

- —— - — - -

11 Truth, June 13, 1335, p.1Us50;
12 1bid. p.1450.

13 Truth, January 27, 1898, p.201. The episocde is 3describzd by

- - -
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on their endeavours. Two exafples among many suffice.?* The
first, which demonstrates a desire to mislead widely differing
audiénces py fundamantally similar methods, was published in
1691, and drew attention to telegrarms

sesapparently from Mr Ehodes - announcing that alliuvial
gold districts had been found in kKashonaland. This was
presumably for English consumptior, for, making a speach
in Mashonaland (which hes been putlished here, but which
probably was for Mashonaland consumption), fir thodes
says “The alluvial deposits appear tc have been worked
out to a great extent by some ancient pecple" . In regargd
to gold reefs, he observes, that "no one could t=il what
you will f£ind in the future" ... Mr Rhodes boldly stated
that “the Company" had spa2nt more than <ix millions in
openiny up this Paradise. This stetement could not have
bkzen intended for England, as the Company has aever had
one willion in cash subscribed ané, therefore, six
millions cannot have been spent.1s

The second demonstrates a desire in 1695 to misleag paople
outside Mashonaland, and arose when Labouchere proclaimed that
he did

eee ROt envy anyone who zndeavours to evolve the
financial position of the Scuth African Charterei
Company from th=2 accounts which have now been made
public. They consist of a balance sheet, in which
capital and revanue are muldied up together, for the
year ending March 31, 1895; of e report ¢n the palance
sheet, which renders confusion more confounied by
dealing not only with the balance sheet, but also
incidentally with statements as tc financial operations
since March 1895; and of 2 report of the Coapany's
proceediings for the year 2nding Deczmper 31, 1895.1¢

Information was being manipulated, and Labouchere raised the

important guestion of why it was so necessary for khodes to

- —— - ——— —— o —— - - -
- -

December 24, 1891; January 11, 1894; april 21, 1898,

15 Tru December 10, 1891, p.1218.
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ruth March 6, 1896, p.%77.
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conceal the true state of affairs in vhodzsia.

Labouchere also received regorts which suggested that the
Company was respgonsible for miscarriaces of justice in its
territories, and he publishked this informaticn also in an 2ffort
to show that the Company was not fit to administer its territories.
Some of thes causes for complaint arcse from the Company's avident
belief that any successful mzasure was acceptable, some from
ignorance o9f the law but others suggest Qeliberate misuse of the
law to achieve Company ends, as the well-sinker, Cutler's
difficulties suggest. On May 3, 1894, Truth reported anothar
case which suggests deliberate miscarriage of justice.
Labouchere held that a report of *An umtali cause celebre' in
judicial method in vogue under the Eritish South Airica
Company™. The case concerned the refusal of Chickongee, a
daughter of Umtassa, a paramount near Umtali, to provide native
labour for the Company. The Acting kesident rKagistrate shot her
husband, while visiting her kraal. 2 Fr W.M. Taylor, resiient in
Umtali, was charged with causing Chickongee “to ignore the
authority of the Resident Magistrate, and refuse to send native
labour to him¥. The case was heard by the Assistant Resident
Magistrate and, despite inconclusive evidence, Mr Taylor was
convictzd. His sentence was that he wes bound cover to keep the
peace and reguired to undertake that

“naither he nor his brother, Mr Herbert Taylor" would go
near Umtassa's kraal or hold communication with the

chief or his indunas for one yeer. Of coursz it was not
without purpose that thke defendant was thus made his
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brother's kezper. Mr Herbert Taylcr is the agent of a
syndicate which claims to nave @ conczscion from Umtassa
over part of Manicalana Jated two yzars ecarlier than
that said to have been granted to the Chartered Company.
ees to prohibit 4r Herbert Taylor access to the chief
was an excellent stroke of business for the Company. The
tact that he had not been arraigned was of no importance
to a Charterland Court.37"

A cas2 which suggests a similar misuse of magisterial
authority was reported in Junz 1895, in which

eee a Young farmer was charged with buying stolen cattle
fros the natives, the basis of the charge beiny that the
cattle which had been bought really belonged to the
Chartered Company. The cattle in guestion had not been
branded, and the natives who s0l13 them to the prisoner
gave evidence that they had no idea that they were not
their own adding that they were compelled by hunger to
sell the animals. Nevertheless, the prisoner was [ound
guilty, and sentenced to a E50 tine or six months,18

Another, involving careless application of the law

reported that

Not long ago a Kaffir was charged at Salisbury,
Mashonaland with unlawfully wearing some articles of
police uniform. For this crime the Resident Magistratz
passed sentence of three months herl labour angd
thirty-five lashes, which sentence was conftirmed by the
Administrator. [When the Judge of the Hiagh Court arrived
in Salisbury it] transpired that it was npot within thz
jurisdiction of the Resident Macgistrate to inflict, nor
within the authority of the hAdministrator to confirm,
such punishment for such an offence. The judge
accordingly gquashed the conviction, but unfortunately,

- - — -~ —

17 Truth May 31, 1894 p.10C6. The syndicate which Mr He. Taylor
represented was the Benningfield Syndicate. The conviction
against Mr W.M. Taylor was later guashed on appeal. However, the
Company and the Taylor brothers apparently managed to work
things out. Later in 1894, Herbert Taylor was appointed
Assistant Native Commissioner in Matatelelana, while William
Taylor was appointz2d Native Commissiorer in hashonaland in 1835,
See P, Stigger, The Emergence of the Native Dzpartment in
Matabeleland, 1893-1899. BRhodesian Hictory, 1976, oppe.udb-lb,

18 Truth June 13, 1895, p.1450.
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without much benefit to the kaffii, who had alreacy

undergone the illegal flogging and served two months of

imprisonment.19
Finally, Truth comaented on September 24, 1€S€, on the illegal
courtmartial and execution of the Shona chief, Makoni. Th2
terror inspired in the rebels by such sammary proceedings was
dJoubtless of great value to the Ccmpany. However, in this
instance, after having been assurea repeatedly that if he
surrendered he would not be killed, the chief came out of his
stronghold and surrendered, unarmed. Wwhen seized at gunapoint, he
struggled, and Company officers used this as an excuse to label
his arrest capture, instead of surrender. They set up a court
martial, which none of the officers concerned had the authority
to do, found Makoni guilty of treason, and executed him, before
having any communication with the High Commissioner. Even under
the conditions of rebellion, this was anm inexcusable miscarriage
of justice.?20

Labouchere's comments concerning the recruitmsnt of police
and the treatment of the men recruited, arose out of a conczrn
with the integrity of the Company, and its suitability to govern
a territory. Thus, in 1B90 Labouchere noted the recruitment cf a
police force, and gueried it, holding that

The Chartered Company obtained the 2id cf her Majesty's

representative in Bechuanaland to recruit a lot of

buccaneers, and it has nowv sent these buccaneers into
Lobengula's country to defend the agents of the Company

- - - ——— - -~

19 Truth Augqust 29, 18935, p. 483.

20 T.0. Kanger, Revolt in Southerm khodesia North western

University Press, 1967, gives an account of the episode,
pp.278-281.
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in Iooking after gold. Rjainst whom the puccaneers ars
to defend the agents, except Lobernqula, is not clzar.21

Once the police forc2 was in existence Labouchere's focus
shifted to the terms of recruitment, 2nl conditions of life of
the members of the British South Africa Company Policz, and in
1891 he freguently published letters and comments in Truth
denouncing their usage. B correspondent writing in April 1891
remarked that members of the British South Africa Company police
he knew

eee sincerely regretted that they had ever joined the
force, the work of despatch riding through all sorts of
weather, roads and rivers, with the constant fear ot
being a fair target for an assegai, is not compensated
for by three shillings per day... Tommy Ltkins' lot aad
pay are much superior to those of an unfortunate troop=ar
in the British South Africa Company police.22

In 1836 and 1897 similar complaints were raceived from
recruits to the Rhod2sia Mounted Police, who claimed to have
been drawn in under false pretences. Some complaints were
reported from Cape Town recruits, in Rugust 189%& and then, in

March 1397, Truth recorded that
sse a number of troopers ... enlisted at Kimberl=y in
September... they were not allowed the expenses which
they were promised for the journey to Bulawayo; ...
contrary to the understanding upon which they joined
their pay only commenced from the date of their arrivzal
in Bulawayo, instead of from the date when they were
first sworn in at Kimberley, several weeks previously;
and ... when their pay did commence the railway fare to
rafeking was deducted, though they had been led to

—— o - - -~ -t

21 Truth ARugust 28, 1890 p. 435.

22 Truth April 23, 1391, p.€54. Further examples were published
in 1891 in Truth: Rugust 13, p.325; October 15, p.770; Novamtber
21, p.990; December 3, p.1159.
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believe that it would be bornme by the Charterci Companye.
23

Other complaints show that pay was rot the only grievance of the

recruits for in 1894 it was stated that
Many enlist under a complete delucsion as to the real
nature of the daties they have to perform, and the
conditions of the life they have to lead. This appears
to be particularly the case with those who join the
Chartered Company's Police in Mashonaland. Coaplaint
after complaint is received that the men are not only
i11-paid, but ill-clothed, ill-fed, ill-sheltered, ani
genarally ill-treated...2%

The number of complaints received, anc the timsspan coversd

sugdest that the Company's police forces wers subjesct to

unnecessarily harsh conditions.

Labouchere also directed his attention to comumunications
vhich, since Mashonaland and Matabeleland are landlocked, Wasg an
issue of great importance. Labouchere's major purposs was to
demonstrate that until communications' problems were overcome,
the territories could show no prospect of profit, at least in
the short term.2% He had a subsidiary point also, in that the
Company was bound to be inefficient in supplying tne terrftory
vhile no easy means of access existed. The initial access routes
were from the Cape or from the Tramsvaal, on lonqg, slow journeys

by ox wagon or coach. The first train to reach EKhodesia did not

arrive in Bulawayo from Mafeking until October 1897. The Bzirsa

- ———— - - - - - -

23 Truth, #March 18, 1897, p. 6UB8. Similar stories were told on
February 18 and April 22, 18&57.

24 Tryth, March 24, 1894, p.717. Enother examgle complained

particularly of health care. November 3, 18%&, p.1095.

25 Truth November 26, 1893, p.1103
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line did not reach Umtali until 189%&. Traveliing py road from
Beira was not feasible. Thus before the railway lines were
complete, imported goods had to travel overland from Cape Town
via Kisberley and Mafsking, or from Pretoria. Fetween 18593, when
construction on the line from Mafzking to Buiawayo commenced,
and 1897, the railway line made very ¢1low progress, gradually
shortening the distance to bz travelled overlandi. Throughout the
early years of the territory, farmers, miners and zll European
settlers alike had to contend with trensport difficulties. The
transport of goods was very costly, and uncertain, and personal
travel very inconvenient. The Company*s initiasl hope of rapidly
opening an access route from the East coast to Umtali via the
Pungwe river was not realised. The leadsr of thes Pioneesr Column,
Frank Johnson, was optimistic about building a road from ¥pania,
on the vanks of the Pungwe to Umtali, ané on to Salistury, but
this provel impossible.26 It was perhaps as well since:

In addition to other objections to the Scuth Africa

Company's attempts to secure a short cut to the sea via

the Pungwe River, I am told by pecple who know the

country that it is one of the most deadly spots on th2

globees 27
Company propaganda led Rose Blennerhasset and her coagpanions to
expect that they would travel on a wagoen road trom the Pungwa
River to Uamtali in June 1B%1. ®Rhen they arrived at Mpanda,
several miles up the Pungwe River fron Beira, which was th=
alleged departure point of the road, the nurses discovered and
26 Johnson, ppe197-200.
27 Truth, March 12, 1391, p.540.
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subseguaently recorded that:

ees the "road" making consisted of setting fire to tha

tall grass, neither more nor less. We 1it some of it

ourselves, and felt as if we were materially advancing

that “Yopening up of Mashonaland", which was in

everyone's mouth. ... We had novw been scme days at

Mpanda's, ani had seen enough to know that coaches ani

wagons to Salisbury were the least substantial of airy

myths. Major Johnson had indeed assured us that the

first coach had started for Mashonaland, but had omittad

to add that it had arrived nowhere, and was stationary

on the veld not far from the Pungwe camp, ... 2nable to

move cither backwards or forwards on account of the

condition of the fly-stricken oxen, most of which had

diesd.v2e

Despite the fact that PBeira resmainzd in Portugu=se control
after the Anglo-Portuguese treaty was signed in T84%1, the
British South Africa Company did control the Beire kailway
Company, which purchased the concessiocn to build the railway
line from Beira to Umtali.29 This did not mean, however, that
rapid progress was made., In order toc cut costs, th: deire
Railway Company accepted a tznder for a two-foot gyauge 'steam
tram line'. The tend=2r was offerezd by George Pauling, who had
never seen the territory to be traversed.39 It took saven yesars
to complete the 220 miles to Umtali, a@lthough a train service
rapidly provad inadejuate for the work it was resquired to
perform as it was built on sub-standard toundations, and the

28 Blennerhasset, pp.98-99.

29 pA.He. Croxton, Railways of nhodesia, Newton Abbot, Dazvon,
1973. p.lb

30 Croxton, pel7.
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jauge was too narrow.3! The difficulties of the railway ware the

«ee things were at a complete standstill. The
engine-3drivers and carpenters have 3ll left on account
of the fever, and all other white men as soon as their
contracts are finished clear off &s guickly as possible.,
The floods have swept away part cf the line on the flats
ese anldl the bridge across thz Menda River has also hean
swept 3way.s «eo

I have a very poor opinion of the railwey and its
usefulness, =ven when corpleted tc beyona the "fliy"
telt. It is only two foot gauge, and a regular tin pot
affair at that ...32

The alternate routes were preferable to the Beira on2 even

though, in 1891, th2y were not much bettar. Thz Capetown

ee. a distance of eight hundred milas has to bs
traversed to Fort Saliskury, over roals precenting
almost insuperabls difficulties tec locomotion" whilst
the “transport of machinery occuplies several montas,
without counting on the probabilities of raimn and the
difficulties of crossing rivers".?3

On November 12, 1891, a more dztailed account described tha road
as heavy sand, made hazardous by tree stumps and boulders, and

litter=3 with abandoned wagons and dead oxen. This correspondent

remarksd that the road was being imprcvad at that time, ia
preparation for Lord Kandolph Churchill'®s visit. Churchill,

howaver, did not appreciate these effcocrts, for his

- o o —— -

31 Croxton, pp.20-30.

32 Quoted in Truth, July 6, 1893, p.13, from a letter to "a
friend of mineY. Within two years of the completion of the Beire
line, reconstruction of the railway tc higher standards, and
with a thr2e foot six inch gauge becan, and it was recuilt in
fourteen months, between May 1895 and August 1500. (Croxton,

ppo 38"“0) L

33 Truth, Octobsr 29, 1891, p.B867T.
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eee last letter from Mashonaland¢ bears out all that I
have said about the Ehodian Ekmpire. If, he says,
Mmashonaland is rich, anothe2r route than that from the
Cape Colony will have tc be established, for the
character of the country to be travarsed, and its
climactic and hygenic conditions, offer insuperable
obstructions to commercial enterprise from the base of
Cape Colony or the Transvaal.3s ’

The affects of poor access were most severely felt during
the rainy season in 1890-%91, when flocded rivers made the roads
impassable for several months, and the settlers suffesred severe
shortages, because the Company had mace no provision for suchk an
sventuality, although the difficulties of travel through the
rainy season were certainly not unknown before the occupation of
Mashonaland. Hole described the effects of thkat first raiany
season. Travellers ware stranded between rivers, which flooded
and became impassable, and no fresh supplies reachad Salispbury
between November 1890 and April 1891. The only reserve supplies
available were those which Frank Johnsoan hac provided for the
Pioneser Column. A little foodl could be obtained from africans,
but their surplus was small. Rll commodities becams= scarce, and )
prices soared. Mail links were maintained foi as long as
possible, by having a man op horsebeack swim the rivers, but even
mail was stopped between Dec2mber and February. Shortajes were
never again as savere as they were in that year, but travsl in
the rainy season remained difficult, &nd suprlies costly, until
the railway reached Bulawayo. 35 The conseguence was that,
before November 1891, provisions were

34 Truth, November 256, 1891, pe. 1103. Churchill, pp.299-300

35 Hole, Making, p.177-179.
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ees at famine prices: FMeal 1s53d per lb., Lbacon 3s5;

corne? beef, in tins, Zs 33 per lte se. The news here
about 3old is conflicting ... Rc machines are at work,
nor is any mine developed far enocugh to form an =2stimate
of its value ... Mining material is alsc very Jdear.
Added to this is the heavy tax imposed by the Chartered
Company. YThe gamz is not worth the cancie", 3¢

Six weesks later, a corresponi=nt remarked theot
"1t reflects little credit upon the Chartered Company
that they have been in possession ot this country so
long and have done nothing towards making a cheap and
quick way of ingress and e3ress e«ee37

This comment was perhaps premature but it ought not to

have remained valid gntil 1837,

The conditions faced by settlers in machonaland were much
influenced by transportation difficulties, and by the Company's
financial constraints. Labouchere published letters and comments
complaining about 1life in Mashonaland throughout the early yzars
of the Company to demonstrate that it was unlikely to show a
profit in the near future, &nd to reveal the Company's failings,
in order to discourage investors frcm buying Charterad Company
shares. A further indication of the weakness ot the Company in
the way in which it tried to meet some of the expensas of
administering the territory by extracting revenue trom the
settlers, in every conceivalble way, withoat regard for the
conseguences. when white residents were reguired to taksz out
licences for their guns in 1893 Labouchzre comm=nted:

eee I am under the impression that the government has

the right to tax any of its subjects in whatever manner
and to whatever extent it pleases. It is however a very

A —— - — -~

36 guoted in Truth, November 12, 1891, p.99%.

—— i ——

37 nsuoted in Truth, December 24, 18%1, p.133L.
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noval and remarkable statz of aifeirs that while the
white man in the regior may not cerry arms without a
licence, the natives may arm themselves to the testh at
their own sweet wills.38
S5ince the Company relied on volunteers to defend the country a
few months later,39 it is apparent that this measure was not
intended to restrict gun ownership, but rather to exploit a
source of revenusz,

The Company 2l1so established arduous terms and conditiors
for those occupying plots of land, or taking oat mining claims.
40 mathers published the Company's terms ané conditions for
prospectors, the first of which stated that any “person may take
out a licence on binding himself in writing to obey the Laws of
the Company and to assist in the defence and maintenance of Llaw
and Order, if called upon to 40 so by the Company «.."¢!}
Licences, and the registration of claims, all requir=d revenue
stamps to be affixed, and in order to retain a registered claiam,
the claimholder was required to have sunk a 30 foot shaft into
or across a reef within four months of registration. The tarms
applying to flotation of companies were most rigorous:

On claims being ascertained to be payable, the Company
nave the right to float them into either a joint

stock company or into a syndicate. The Coumpany shall
therefore within a reascnable time either make a

proposal or decline to do so. If the proposal 1is
accept2d by the Claimholder he shall on flotation be

38 Tryth March 16, 1893. p.577.
39 See Chapter 11I.

40 Sge Truth Novesmbar 12, 1831 for terams and conditions for

-

occupying a touwn lot.

41 Mathers, p.ls1,
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entitlad to half the vendors' scric in the shares of the
Company so tloatzd. If the Claimhclider iz not satisfied
with the Company's proposals, he has the right within
oneg year to prove to the Company that he is in a
position to float on better terrs, and he shall, on the
flotation of the claims, gyive the Company half the
vendors' scrip.¢?

The Company was adept at raicirg monz2y put, as Labouchere
point=d out in 1895, when he publishecd the following letter on
Matabeleland, his information

ese Up to date is that no paying gold has been ss=en
outsid2 the four corners of a prospectus; that the
settlers are few and fer between, and are curcsing the
Company and drinking spirits; that the only persons who
are qgrowing rich are the liguor vendors; that th2
climate is such that it is impossible thet Europzans can
permana2ntly resids in that country withoust serious
danger to thair health...%3

By 1899 nothing had really improved, for then 1t was recorded
that

A paper at Bloemfontein publishes a statement by some
Boer farmers at Bulawayo who were drawh there by HMr
Rhodes invitation to Africanders to come and tak=s farms.
They assert that the promises which were made have not
bzen fulfilled, and they give a very discouraging
account of the state of things &t Bulawayo. It 15 said
that work cannot be obtained, that people depart daily,
that shops and places of business are being closed, and
that there are already empty houses for more than 1000
people.*4

- - —————_———

42 mathers, p. U61-462.

43 Truth January 24, 1895, p.206-207. The cost of licences as
guoted in The British South Africa Company Report on the
Company's proceedings andi the Condition of thke Territory within
the sphere of its op=srations, 16%4-18%5, p. 62 suygests that
liquor licesnces must have keen lucraetive. Whereas licences for
sale of lijuor wholesale, in bottlestores or retail cost £100
each, no licenses which did not involve the sale of liguor cost
more than 20 - these being for pawnbrokers amnd agents of
foreign firms, whils licences for otker merchants, such as
butchers and bakers, cost t10.

44 Truth March 15, 1839, p.€56.
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behaviour and impropriety of eritish Soutn Ririca Company
officialse It demonstrated that the Ccmpany controllea thz
information which the public received about Mashonaland and
Matabel2land to the best of its ability, in zn attempt to
protect its financial standing. It reve2alacd why the Company
needed to control the flow of information, for the complaints
against ths Company wzre legion, ané many appear to have bezn
well-grounded. No serious effort was wmade by the Company, before

the crisis precipitated by ths Jameson Raid attractel Imporial

W

Sovernmant attention, to develop an sffective administration or
the infrastructure necessary to develop the country as 4
colonial settl=sment. The attention which Labtcuchere levotz2l to
the administration of the Chartered Ccmpany's territories
established two main points. First, he showed that the Company
was not a viable financial concern &t that time; and second, he
established that the Comparny 3id not teke the responsibility of
joverning its territory seriously. ke used thesz roints to warn
settlers off and invastors agaimst tuying British South Africa
Company shares, while attempting to convince the Impzrial
Government that the Company was not fit to govern Fhodesia. To
Labouchere, the evidence available to him exposed the Company as
first and foremost a speculative venturz2, while its reputed

patriotic motives wer2 mere window-dressing.
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VI. LABOUCHERE AND AFRICANS

Labouchere's first interest in the 3ritish South Africa
Company ardsa from its political and fimancial activities. Once
he had taken note of the Company, and observed its mode of
operating, howeva2r, he watched every #spect cof its affairs with
deep suspicion, and the Company's treatment of africans in its
territory was no exception. Labouchere made no preatence at being
a philanthropist, but he was a humanitarian, ani his strong
moral convictions 12d him to oppose irnjustice in any form. Thus
he freguently exposed the violation of Africans' rigats in the
British South Africa Company's territory, amnd the trzatment
meted out to them which he considered inhumane.

H#is attitude toward Africans wes clear, for hs amaintained
that he would never

see Jjoin an =2xpedition either toc the North Pole or to
Central Africa. They are both such thoroughly
uninteresting places tc me that it 1 could go to them in
half an hour by a penny *'bus I would not invest the
pennye oo I did once dwell for scme time with the Eed
Inlians; I do not think that I ever so thoroughly bor=4
mysalf. In my childhood, I remember weeping copiously
over the tales of African Princesses who had been
reduced to slavery. ... The journeys of the Stanleys ani
the Parkes, and the many others who have visited the
native homes of the Princessses have entirely suppressad
her.1?

However, while not prepared to indulge in romantic noticns about
! Truth, November 12, 1891, p.960. Latouchere did spend nearly
six months with the Chippeway Indians, near Finneapolis, when he
was in America, in 1835. Thorold pp.37-38.



"savages", he 1id pot believe them to be anything less than
human, and vigorously defendzd their rights (o be treated as
suche.

"Do you really rejard Lobengula and his Zulus as wWworthy
of approval?" writes a corresponcent ... No, I do not. I
regard them as most objectionable savagez. 1 hava no
doukt, howsver, that if they had ¢ Rider Haggaid amongy
tham, he could coampile an auvthentic catalogue of
atrocities committed by white men in Africa which woulld
make every <ulu's blood boil. Even granting that Mr
ffider Haggard's picture of Lobengula as a sort of
Colour=d combination of Frankenstein an€ Jack the Ripper
is fact, not fiction, 1 see no reeson why the Matabele
should be massacred wholesale by & band of
Company-promoters, simply because ¢g21d is to be found in
their territory, ...2

With this attitude, it is not surprising that the covesrage of

profile in South Africa, and in Englarnd; and to issueg which
Labouchere could use to attain his own political goals. For
example, he was aware of the guesticns surrocunding the Hudd
Concession and the Company®s right to land in Mashonaland, and
referred to the issue from time to time, but he placed no
particular emphasis on it. Typically, in 1890, he remarked that

ses the Chartered South African Company ... declared
itself to be the possessor of certain concessions
granted by an African Chief, named Lobengula, «e«.
Lobsngula has always denied that he ever gave these
concessions. Be this as it may, ... If really one-half
of the concessions is worth four millions wnen sacured
by a British charter, it is evident that either
Lobengala or the British Government hLas ibeen robbed, for
the property which the promoters seem to assert is worth
eight millions was obtained for ccmparatively nothing.
If the property belongeéd to Lobencula, ... he was
jec2ived and most unfairly treatec; if tne property did
not belong to Lobengula it belonged to the British

- ——— o —————

Z Truth, ODctober 26, 1893, p.864.
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sovernment «o. If it be not worth eight millions, then
the British investors arz to be pillaged ...3

Similarly, when he commented on the negotiations between Lippart
and Ehodes, whiles he sxpress=d sympathy for lobengula, his
concern was that Sir Henry Loch had assisted in the
machinations, and that progcpactive investors ané prospectors in
Mashonaland were dsczived ac to the Ccmpany's rights to land.e
His concern was not particularly with the ownership of
Mashonalani, but with the general conduct of the british South
Africa Company, and the protection of other people's rights.
Labouchere's fight against charterec companies was tnus
stimulated both by his belief in the folly cf the policy of
using chartered companies, and by the abuse by chertered
companizs of their privileged positions. The issues which he
took up with regard to Africans related to the secund of these
concernse.

Occasional commants only were mace on Atricancs in Truth
before July 1893, because contacts between Africans and
Europeans were limited, and generally unexceptional.> Then from
July 18933, relations between the Ndebelz and the Company bejan
to deteriorate rapidly, and Rfro-Eurorean reiations becam=2 news
at the British South Africa Company's insistence. From that
> Truts, Augast 28, 1890, p.435.

4 Sece Truth August 20, 1891, pp.380-3&1; November 12, 1891,

pp.ggﬂ-ggs.

S See WeH. Brown describing a meal shezred with Shona women and
children, pp.195-201; and Hole describing the trading which took
place, for Shona produce and cattle. H.M. Hole, Old Rhodesian
Days Reprint, London 196E, pp.U6-51.
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moment on, copious attention was paid in Truth to th2 Company's
coniuct of the war: its motives for provoking the war; th2
treatment of enemy wounded; the treatment of Ndebele after the
war; and the distribution ot Ndebele land and cattle. In
addition there is comment on torced labour, the Company's hut
tax, justice for Africams, and the ricings of 1696.
incident and the Matabele War arise from Latcuchere's lack of
reverence for Rhodes and his suspicior of the British South
Africa Company, which allowed him tc analyse events in a totally
different way from that of most of kis contemporaries. He alco
argued convincingly that the war was deliveraztely provoked to
rescue the Company from bankruptcy. This theory was supported by
material demonstrating that the conflict with the Rdz2bels was
unnecessary; that it was provoked by th2 Company; that it
reveale2d the Company's finmancial weakness; and that the Company
capitalised on the war. He showed that the Company d2liberately
provoked the war by pointing out that thes Victoria Incident was
unprovoked, that Company military preparations proc=saded without
any aggressive movements by the Ndebele, and that Loch was
deliberately deceivei.®

Labouchere®s lack of revsrence tor Ehodes and suspicion of
of the Company are =2vident in a review he wrate as the pressure
for war against the Ndiesbele mounted, in which he concluded that:

e —————— -

¢ The evidence is presentecd and discussed below. See pp.1833-190.
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Company woulld go into liguidaticn. This something has
taken the form of a proposal to wipe Loben and his
nation out of existence, in order to lay hands on
Matapeleland, where it is hoped that gold may be
discovared. With this viesw, a wolf-and-lamb dispute has
commenced between the Cospany and Loben. That monarch
sent some of his troops into Mashonaland. The Company
denies that he has any rights there, although as thay
derive their own rights from him, if the one does not
exist neither does the other. To punish him, he is to be
deprivad of Matab=zleland and his people are to b= shot
doun with br=2echloading rifles and machine guns.?

Specific references to the victoria Incident 3id not appear in
Truth until October 19, when eyewitnecs accounts contrary to the
Company's report were published. These reports, reprinted from a
South African newspaper, were sufficiently credible and
alarming, that they were guoted by the Secretary of 3State in a
lespatch to the High Commissioner caliing for ar enguiry.® The
substance of the reports was to the effect that the Company was
the first to fire; that the Ndebele had already begun their i
retreat; and that shooting continued with almost no resistance
from tha Rlebele. Truth commented: “It thus appears that avery
attempt was made to provoke the Matabele into conflict with the
Company's forces, but without success".9

Betwean July 20 and Novamber 3, 1893, when Bulawayo was
the conflict between the British South Africa Company and the
Ndebelz2, carrying reports on the Company's military preparations
7 Truth. Ragust 31, 1893, p.uu3.
& Glass, p.109

9 Truth, October 13, 1893, p.802. Other examples can pe found in

the following issues: Awgust 21,September 14, October 15,
October 26, January 18, 18%4,
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and rumours of Niebele aggression. Cn August 12, The Press noteld
that all telegrams from Mashonaland were suppressed, “e..
therefore it is difficult tc obtain any intormation, the
publication of which would not be in accordance with the policy
Ndebzle troops on the2 borders of Mashconaland was quoted from 2
letter to The Press, of Octcber 7, 18%3, which stated:

Large numbers of Matabele have been watcring the border

for many weeks, but there has never been the slightest

evidence of an intended attack on the Europzaas. it is

the opinion of men who know the Matabele that if they

are left alone they will never enter Machkonaland again.
1t

In October, after hostilities haa bequn, The Fress and Truth
both suggested that the Company had manipulated Loch to obtain
imperial assistance in the war against lobengula,’2 and it has
bpeen shown that Jameson, aided by Cclenbrander amd other
Company agents, delibasrately created the impression of Ndebele
war preparations.i3

Labouchere also destroysd the explanations for the war
which vwere offeresd by the Company and its supporters. These

included saving the defenceless Shora from Ndeble brutality; the

spread of Christianity; civilizing the Ndebele; and saving
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11 guoted in Truth, November 2, 1893, p.%32.

12 See The Press Cctober 13, 1893; ZTruth October 26, 1893.

13 Glass, pp.163-176. Moffat immudiatly expressed his doubts
that Lobengula would embark on a campaign of aggression against
the Europeans. It is also hijhkly gquestionable whether the
reported border incidents ever took place: Iiid. ppe.179-180.
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settler homes from being overrun. None of these explanations

were accepted as convincing by ITruth, and they provoked the

- e -

Jeneral response that

eso the worst feature in our South African buccaneeringjg
is the hideous hypocrisy beneath vhich we veil our grzed
for gold.1r&

One veiling explanation was that, when the Shona appealed to the
British for aid, honour demanded that the British protect the

Shona against the raiding Ndebele. Truth gave a coiourful sample

S - —-

of this Yartless" argument, from a believer in it, who stated
that:

ees Wh2n the Charter was grasted, the Eritish South
Africa Company pledged themselves to protect the Mashona
from further annoyance, and today the Company nas been
brought face to face with the fact that the Mstapels
must be humbled. ... Werz we to allow the Matacele to
hunt down the Mashonas without interference, no doui:t we
could live alongside ot them in ccmparative ssfety for
some yz2ars to coame. Fortupately, we are Fritisn born and
descended, and abhor atrocities of this nature.?ts

1t was also said that Matabele savages prevented the spreaid
of Christianity, and its civilizing influence. The following

letter was writtenm by Rev. AR. Sylvester to the Iimes and juoted

in Truth:

¥e are determined to make a way for the spread of the
glorious Gospel of our Lord anmd Seviour Jesus Christ.
«ee All Englishmen should remember that the introduction
of civilisation and succ2ssful Christianity into
Matabeleland will redound to the honour and glory of the
great British Empire, and all netions and creeis will
eventually rejoice that the Chartered Company 1is

——— - — - —

14 Truth,Rugust 24,1393, p.379.

——

1S Truth, September 28, 1893, p.637. The letter continues 4ith a
description of the enthusiastic response to the call for men to
Ydefend thz country of their adoption”.
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prepared to settle at once end forever the futurs
welfare and prospsrity of heathen Matabeieland.l®

It provoked Laboucheres to respond that:

Read by the glowing picturz of the reference to the
banket reef n=ar bulawayo, and the allusion to the
success aof the 50ld Comparnies in the Transvaal more

offensive and sickening cant than this was never pennad.
17

Rudd was a littles mors candid than the Reverend Mr Sylvester

eee in an "interview" which is published in the paily
Chronicle. The war, he opines, is a philaznthropic
undertaking. "It is the 0ld story" observes tiae
philanthropist Rudd, "of Satan finding mischief for iile
hands to do." His panacea for this is simple. “L2t thz2a
work in the mines." The mines happen to Lke theirs, hut
they are to be dzprived of them, end their future
connection with them is to be limited toc working in
them, in order that benefactors ot the PFPudd kidnesy may
have their reward for civilising these unpractical
savages.l18

However, the intrinsic hypocrisy of tike settler position was
revealed by a telegranm

«ee from Matabeleland which ought to open the eyes of
th2 investing public. The Burghers of Mashonaland
declare that this country was sc rich thct they only
went to Matabeleland in order to hinder the Matabele
from doing them out of their El ULcecrado. The telegram now
announces that they intend to remein in Katabeleland.
What, then, becoses of the fabled wsalth of Mashonalani?
What, too of the statement that they only made war
against Lobengula because they fecred that he would
drive them out of that country?1%

The general humanitarian cry raised by the Cumpany and its

supporters over the alleged beshaviour of the Ndebele at Fort

- -

16 Truth, October 26, 1893, p. BL5.
17 Ibid. pe B865.

18 Truth, November 2, 1893, p.931.
19 Truth, December 21, 1893, p.1334.

- —— ——
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Victoria raised a wiler issue. lLebouchere judged these

supporters' sentiments to be
Very noble ... doubtless; but let us take the measurs of
them a little more accurately. “itrocities"™ of this
nature - the raiding of weak tribes by strong -~ are in
progress throughout the length and breadth cof kfrice.
eee if "atrocities" are to be put down in one place,
thzy must be put down in another".20

This point was amplified by a letter cescribing the atrocities

of slave raids against inhabitants of Sierra Lzone which had

been taking place over a period of sixteen months, where the
eee tribes which commit the above-mentioned atrocities
are not, like Loben's people, operating in a country
which is theirs by right cf corquest. They are raiding
within the limits of one of the oldest British colaonies.
Why then, is there no cry for “teaching a lesson" irn
this instance? The answer is simple. There is no gold in
the rejion inhabited by these savages.?!

Further refutation of these claigs ofi philanthropy anid
humanity occurred on November 16, 1893, and was supported by
gquotations from Blu2 Boo0oks, describing raids of the Company
against the Shona. Labouchers cited three occasions when the
Company was responsible for killing Shona and burmning their
kraals without justification, two cases occurring in February
1892. One took place against an unsyecified group, on the
suspicion that a Frenchman had been killed, when six Shona were
killed and three kraals burned. The second wes against Moghaii,

to protact another chief; koghali was killed and his kraal

surned. & third case in March 1892 reselted from tnefts from a

e — v ———— - —— -

th, September 28, 18%3, p. 637.

21 Truth, November 9, 1893, p.98G.
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Mr Bennett's farm, in which Kjomo's kraal was suspescted. Captain
Lendy want to arrest him. ke was “Yimpertinent", so Njomo, hic
son and tw2nty-one others were killed. In each of these cases,
there was official protest from either Loch or Lord Knutsford,
the 3ecretary of State, or both, against the brutality of the
Yand then tell me whether it is possible to tkelieve that Rhodes
and his gang advanceld into Matabelelard becausts their rightzous
souls were vexed at Loben's mode of tr=zating his subjects".23

In all his remarks about Company progaganda and the war,
Labouch=re emphasized the samz major points: the Company was a
speculative enterprise; the first concern of its diractors was
profit; and they would stop at nothing teo achieve thair goals
for, when it was nescassary, war was provokeé with the Ndebele to
rescue the Company from bankruptcy.

Having made much money by palming off worthless shares

to idiots who fancied that Mashonaland was a Land ot

Ophir, they now want to lay hold of Matabelelard 1in

order once again to play the same game.Z2¢

Such action was necessary because it was bzcoming
increasingly clear that Mashonaland d4id not contain =xceptional

gold reefs. In an esditorial on August 31, 18%3, Labouchere

showed that the Company was in debt to De Beers, the value of

22 Labouchare d4id not remark on the incidents earlier, because
the Colonial Office had protested the actions already, anl he
1id not, therefore, need toc publicise the incidents.

23 Truth, November 16, 1893, p.1049.

24 Truth Octobsr 5, 1893, (p.5&9.
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its shares had fallen, and its finances were in a desperate
state, and asserted that this was the reason for the war.2>s

Labouchere supported this contention in November 1893 when
he pointed out that

ees NO sooner 4id they invade Mashonaland, than they

called a meeting of the shareholders of the Chartered

Company and forced the Company to double its capital by

an addition of oae million to it, which wes issu=d to

the gang as fully paid up shares, as payment of haif

profits of the venture.2t

The Company's expectation of finmencial profit was confirmed
also by the fact that newspapers which favoured ths Company
began Ypuffingy" the value of gold ree{s in FKatabeleland as socon
as the war was commenced for, as Jruth reported, tne
correspondent to the2 Daily Nsws had discovered that

ees our fighting force are delighted with Matarelelani.

The country ... is full of reefs rich in gold, and the

pasturage is described as splendicd.27?

Labouchere was not alone in the opinion that ths Matabele
War was provoked for speculative financing purposes, and a2
cited several other editors who shared his opinion. While
2ditors of South African newspapers micht not carry any more
weight than Labouchere himself, their commentis do indicatz that

he had som2 support, while, in addition, the opinion of

25 Tryth August 31, 1893, p.Ulu3.

26 Truth November 30, 1893, p.1155. Other examples of T
comments: November 16, 158923; January 4, 1394; Vtebruary
November 22, 1894; January 24, 1895.

uth
2,

's
1894;

L
5
“

27 truth November 16, 1893. Other examples of such 'puffing’
occurr2d on October 26, October 19, Ncvember 16, and Daceaber
21, 1893 and on February &, 1894,



prominent Liberal party members certainly addea credence to his

———————— - - e

stated:

eees But your Chartered official and your Charterad
shareholders have become impatient with the peaceful
process, and now lesire ... realication of that yelliow
tinted dream of plunder that fille the imaginatiom of
the Imperial sharzholder. Accorcirgly he courts a
Crisis,...2®

holding that it

»es muUst be remembered that the war now Leing entered
upon has nothing to do with England. It is a mcre
buccaneering sally after loot amnc land engineered by a
privatz Company.29

Mr Evelyn, an Irish Liberal, wrote to the President of thz
Deptforl Branch of tha2 Irish Native League that:

strongly disapproving, as I Go, of the policy of the
present Government of sanctioning and co-cperating in
th2 present sanguinary war in Scuth Africa, carried on
for the benefit, as it seems to me, of unscrupulous
adventurers, to the great detriment of this country's
reputation for justice, humanity, amd morality

he could no longer support Liberal candidates. The President
responded with regret, but stated:
eeeo We fully appreciate your motives, and are unanimous
in agreeing with you that the precent conflict being
carried on in South Africa is a disgrace to this
country, and to the present Goverament.3C

The effect of all the material accumulated bty Labouchere, and

printed in Truth, is to demonstrate guite clearly that the war

- - ——

28 gugoted im Truth, September 14, 1692, p.5U5,
29 guoted in Truth, November 2, 1893, pp.331-932.

30 Truth Novembar 30, 18%3, p.1154.
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was proveked by the Company, for their own acvantage, and that
it had motives other than patriotic fervour enc huwanity.

Labouchere was alsc concerned about the way in which the
war was wajed. He balieved the Company was quilty of obrutality
against the Ndebele, and thet its handling ci the war
demonstratsd that it should not be @llowed to govern a
territory. He attacked the behaviour cf the trcocops used; the
barbarity of using maxim guns againcst africans; the death of the
indunas; and the treatment of enemy wounded. He reterred to the
Company's troops as Ya crew of buccaneers", “frontier
riff-raff", and "border ruffians", at various times. In an
editorial Jdefending himself against attack, he said:

I have no doubt that there were perfectly honourable men

amongst the Company's forces, although personally 1 have

no sympathy with honourable men who go forth to shoot

blacks as though they wer2 partridces, at the bidding of

a financing Company. Of what sort of men these forces

wera mainly composed may be estimeted by the agreement

that the Company signed with them to secure their

sectviczs, which I published last week. They went into

Matabeleland with no higher motive than to obtain landg,

mining claims, and "loot" from its murdered inhabitants.

Such a thing may possibly have cccurred before, bat

never that I know had it been sc cynicelly adamitted, and

never has the British flag been so disgraceld. All these

Yheroes" remind me of the words of a Juédge when

pronouncing sentence. “Prisoner," he saicé, "you have

been proved to have a most excellent cheracter, and also

to have stolen a pair c¢f trousers.%31
Although the only grounds Labouchere had for judqging the calibre
of volunteers recruited by Captain Raeff was Ly their behaviour,

he was well-supplied with information by correspondents oa the

- - —— - ——
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ees Commandant Raaff was here celling for voluntoers to
attack Loben. ... The men who volunteer are the very
scum of the goldfields, totally unfit for any campaign.
They have already started looting stores on their way
upe. The Statz Artillery wzre sent out after one dratt to
bring the looters back, which they did. The volunteers
are deserting, finding that the Ccmpany only find then
arms and ammunition; their pay they must steal from
LoBen. ee.32

The opinions he form2d were recinforced by the letters of
recruits themselves. After noting that it "would ssem that Mr

Rhodes has recruited his fres-booters from all nationalities",

————— i ——

Californian volunteer to his friends at home which stated that
the man would:

eses take military serviczs with the Company a2nd go to the
var. It will be a hard service kut full of adventure.
There will be five Americams - hardy, restless, and
nervy men. We expect the war to be odopen [sic ] witain
five months. These blacks fight in macses. Praissz Sod
for the smart Yankees that invented Maxims ané Gatlings,
and that can keep a horde of nigocers at bay!33

Numerous reminiscences of the Matabele War make it clear the the
volunteers from within Mashonaland didé not enter the war with
more noble sentiments than KRaaff's troops, for victoria
volunteers reported

ee« a merry little skirmish. The Kaxims played the devil
with the Matabelz. They cleared off after fighting for
about an hour, and we found we had killed and wounded
2,000 of them. Our loss was again very trivial. Wwas it
Providznce? ... Lobengula has retreated to the bush
country, and has now to b2 routed and brought out dead
or alive. +es I am sure of getting a good price for my
farm and gold rights.34

-—————— — i~ —— — -

32 gyot=ed im Truth, October, 1893 p.B&3.

% -4

33 Truth, November 30, 1893, p.1155.

i e . ot

34 Quoted in Truth, January 11, 1894, p.74.
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Cn October 26, 1893, Truth repcrted that the voluntezrs

were being promised loot and land, and in March 1854 Truth
published the actual terms and conditions under which they were
recruited. Thesz terms showed that lavouchere's concerns were
real. Hz asserted that:

«ee Special interast attaches to the ovffer of land zni

gold claims to volunteers against Lobengula. ... Let os

hear no more of the cant about protecting “the

defencz2less Mashonas" ... Rhat these "brave pioneers"

are fighting for is Matabeleland.>35
Marshall Hole has explained that such terms wers not unusual for
South Africa.3¢ Nevertheless, it is clear that in engaging
fighting men for service beyond its borders bty the promisa of
loot, the Company showed irresponsibility. The inevitable
results were that the Ndebele were despoiled of the cattlz ang
their land, ani that the calibre of the Company's forces was
low. It shows also that the Company's first priority was to make
war as cheaply as possible.

Latouchere made the point repeatedly that this war raguired '
no personal heroism, as the struggle was so uneven. His position
was graphically =xpressed when he wrote that:

Mr kRhodes comput2s the killea and wounded Matabele at
3,000, against a loss amongst his own crew of boraer
ruffians of five men. 1t is explained that this is in
th2 nature of wars between Europezns armed with Haxim

guns and African natives. Precisely. And this is why
such a war is a battue, with men instead of pheasants.37?

- - — ——— —— ——— —— -

35 Truth, October 26, 1893, p. 86U.
36 Hole, Making, p.302.
37 Truth, Novembar 15, 1833,

———— — -~
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The calibre of the troops is important in considering the
atrocities which occurrel during the war, and in th= looting
after the war. It is well-illustrated by the fact that
Lobengula's last despzarate bid for peace was lost, owing to the
greed of two Imp=rial troopers, who stole the gcld he sent,
suppressed his message, and were no better than their company
peers. One ondoubted atrocity involved the death of Lobenjula's
Indunas at Tati, an incident to which Latouckere frejguently
referred. In one early referesnce, he wrote that

eee if the telegram respecting the fate of Lopengula's

mission to Sir Heary Loch be true, the war is being
carried on by the Chartered Company in a fashion which
sets at nought the rules which mitigate hostilities even
amongst savages. We are told that Lobengula's &orother,
accompanied by two chief Indunas, entered the lines of
the Company's forces with Mr Dawscne. They stated that
they had come from Lobengula as envdys to Sir henry
Loch. On this they were imprisoned, and, surprised at
this treatment, naturally sought to escape. The two
Indunas vere at once shot. The plea put forward for this
outrag2 was that it was suspected that they might be
spies.3®

This was essentially an accurate report of the occurence, anag

little more need be added beyond the fact that it was eventually

established that one man was clubbed, and the other bayonztted,

to death.3?
There were several general pointse whick Labouchare
addressed: the callousness of the Company and its troops; the

lack of heroism in fighting poorly armed Africans with maxim

- - ———— —— —— —— - - —-—

38 Truth October 26, 1893,

39 H,C.1893/94,LX11,317. (C7284) correspondence respecting the
death at Tati of two Indunsas.
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guns; and tne ignominious death of lLobengula. Some examplas have
already been given, and one more sutfices, to illustrate
Labouchere's opinion of the attitude of the troopers. He guoted
2xtracts from a trooper's diary, published in_pall_Mall Gazette,
which demonstrated the extrems callousness ot most of those
involved. The trooper referred to attacks on Ndebele villiages in
which the Ndebele were shelled in "bezutiful style", andi the
maxims turned on them with “excellent results”, and in which 300
Ndebele on one occasion, and 500 on another, were killed.
Labouchere found that nothing

see is more sickening than the accounts which the

“Yheroes" of %atabeleland publish of their own and each

othzr's exploits. Bullets are as thicks as hail around

them, and yet these bullets hardly ever injure them.

They bear indeed, like Achilles, & charmzd l1ife.90

This explains why the treatment of the woundei Matabele
during the war was a topic of especial concern to Labouchere,
which he porsued ruthlessly. His charges were never
satisfactorily answered by Company spokesmen, nor by the
Imperial Sovernment. He first guestionesd the fate of the wounded
in Truth oa November 16, 1693, atter & report to Parliament on
the progress of the war ané¢, on December 7, 1892, he made a
powerful statement on the subject, in which he wanted to Xnow

«ss the number of Matalkele who were brought into

Bulawayo by the victers in the previous engagements, and

tha number of thz2m that are now tbteing treatzd. I in no

way exaggerated when I said that we have been officially
informed that at least 3000 Matabele were killed and

40 Truth February 15, 1894, p.362. Cther examples of the
atrocities of th2 war can bte found on December £8, 1893; aad in
1894: January 18 and 25; Merch 22; kay 31; ard January 16, 1896.
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woundedl in thos2 engagemants. Nor did I cxaggerate whan
I said that only 1000 (and piobebly far fewer) of these
could have been killed bty the fire of the Company's
forces; for this is the exact estimate of Mr Khodes
himself in a telegram. ... I will allow that 500 were so
351ightly injored that they escaped, although as the
cavalry charjed tnem after their onset had bpeen
repuls2d, this is doubtful. What ta2n has L2come of the
remaining 150072

If the Company had replizd that its Eurogean soldiers
were faw in number; that they were accompanied by a
horde of Mashcnas eager for revence on their former
masters; and that the force had to advance rapidly ani
was without the means either to protect or tena thsz
wvoundel Matabeles; this would have been 1intelligible.
But th=2y neither deny nor admit. The Mashtonas, they say,
only l=2ft the laager after thz cavalry had scoutad some
miles. Very probably; but what did they do when they d1id
emarge from the laager, andi the wcocunded were lying
about? Some wounded, continues the Secretary, were taken
into the laager and tended. This tooc, is procbaple. Some,
he says were carried on to Bulawayo. A few may have
been, but it is evident that it wculd only have been a
very faw., After all these fogging evasions, the
Secretary throws them all over by asking how many
woundel were treated in the hospitals of thz Imperial
forces during the Zulu campaign? If, as the Secreatary
hints, the wounded in the Zulu campaign were left to die
by a disciplined Imperial force, does it noct stand to
reason that this would be more likely to occur in the
case of an undisciplined force, collected together by
promisas of a share in booty, which could only be
obtained by its owners hkeing slainp.%}

He later supportaed his charges by publishing a portion of a

letter froa Bishop Knight-Eruce to the Timeg in which

Knight-8ruce, after stating that Yamongst the wounied is one

Matabela", goes on to say “I hope the Matabele take away their

wounded. I can find nothing abtout them". Labouchere remarked

that

ese The Bishop on the spot seems to have much the same
opinion respecting the fate of the wounded Matabele as
that which I have been told it is scandalous for me even

- ———— i~ —— -

Truth De2cember 7, 1893, p.1215.
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to suggast.4?
His charges were substantiatel later ty a numrber of men involved

in the war. For =xample an interview with Captain Lloyd Francis,

- —— - -

*Did you take any prisoners durincg the war?%

"Speaking for myself, my orders were to choot every
native person we came across. Some native wounded were
shot off hand. A well-known officer told me he saw
this." :

YWaere they actually disarmed, wounded and hzlpless when
they were shot?"

Captain Francis replied in the affirmative. YI have saen
woundedl men killed. I myself shct two native prisoners -
shot them with ons bullet; but they were not wounded
men. I also saw six prisoners shot. The British
Bechuanaland Police shot one of these.*3

Captain Francis' charjes werz substantiated by reports of
several other peoplz, including Mr Vere Stent, wno was also
interviewed by The Press, and stated that the Matapele wounded
had “disappeared in a most mysterious manner%®.%¢ A Mr Lionel
Cohen wrote to Labouchere off2ring him information on the
woundesd. Labouchere responded that he doubted that Mr Cohzn
could add auch to the large volume of material already printed.
Mr Cohen replied with a statement, cn which he was prepared to
testify under oath, giving details of prisoners who were
promised their lives in return for information, then shot the
next day; on bayoneting of Matabele wounded, despite their pleas

———— - — - - - -

¢2 Truth, December 21, 1893, pe1334.,

@3 ngoted in Truth, February 15, 1894, p.363.

44 Truth, March 22, 1894, p.654.
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tor mercy; and on Mashona °‘'boys' being oriered to assegai (stab)
all the wounded on one occacion. He ended his letter by stating:

I was a witness of all these things that took place. 1
can positively swear that not a wounded Matabele was
attenda2d either by the Salisbury cr Victoria Columns,
our only wounded being Makalakas and Mashonas of our
native contingent who were shot bty our own Maxims. I
have got the names of these and can positivaly swear to
this as I was in charge of all the wounded up to the
third week in Bulawayo, and there was not a wounded
Matabele amongst them.4S

The statemz2nts of all these individuals were depnied by the
Company, but it was plain that Labouchere had hit a weak spot.
The Company was unable to produce any =2vidence to show that
wounded Matabele, or any prisoners of war, had becn human2ly
treated.

The last aspect of the Matabele ¥ar of interest to
Labouchere involveld immediate post-war activitiss: the looting
and raiding which took place. Frem early in the campaign
Labouchare had emphasized th2 terms of the volunteers and, as
soon as the fighting was over, even before lLobengala's death was
confirmed, reports of looting and of cattle rails appeared. In
December 1893, telegrams from Matabeleland indicated that

eee by order of Mr Rhodes, a force of burghers (would

not burglars be the right word?) left Fort victoria to
liberate some Mashona women and children who some tims
ago had been carried off by the Metabele. The expedition
suffer2d no losses; the women and children were restored
to their people, and BC00 head of Ilcben's cattle were
brought away. Whether any women and children were
released is, I should say, doubtfuvl. The expedition
appaars to have been organised to capture cattle
belonging to Matabele who were living in their villages,

and did not even form part of the fighting force of the

——— - ———— - -

4S Truth, April 26, 1894, 946,
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nation.+«b

In January 1894, Truth guoted from a istter written to Tha Times

by a filibuster who, with PMajor Forbes, pursued Lobengula and
recounted that

At 3.30 on the 16th [Deceaber] we commenced our attack,
th2 enemy fl=2d4 at our first fire and we never saw them
again. Only a few werz killed, but we tock all their
cattle.

At 5 a.m. on the 18th we took 2 lerge krsal atter a
sharp skirmish, and captured 50C cattle and a few of the
en2mye. eeeeo My syndicate has got 20,000 ecrezs of the
best grazing land in the country. W2 are going to stock
it at once ... I have got twenty winers claims, which a
prospector is going to peg out for me on the main reef
below Bulawayo. My ten claims in Fashonaland will be
pegged out before Christmas, and &ll these things peocint
to the fact that the year has not been wasted. There are
great fortunes to be made in Mashcnalanéd and
Matabzleland.«7?

The manner in which some of the cattle thus collected were
disposed of can be seen in the following reports from The Press:

Salisbury Tuesday. 2000 loot cattle are coming from
Matabeleland to be so0ld here.4®

Salisbury: The first comsignment cf Matabele ioot cattle
was s0ld today by Messrs Saville and Company,
auctioneers, realising close upon t900. This is
considered most satisfactory. Further sales will be h214

tha late campaign.+¢®

The final distribution of the lcot fund takes place at
the 2nd of the month. It is expected that the amount to
be distributed will be &40 per share, which, with the
46 Truth, December 7, 1893, p.1215. This expedition, under
Captain Meikle, was not referred to again until 1967, when it
was discussed by Ranger, pp.109-110.

47 Truth, January 25, 1894, p.184.
48 press, April 11, 1894,

49 press, June 4, 1894, There are similar reports of cattle

_———

sales during June, in Salisbary and in Bulaweyo.
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E70 - the average price obtained for farms after the
completion of th2 campaijn - makess £110 per volunteer
for three months service.S5?

Labouchere then turned to the guestion of the ownership of
cattle, noting on June 13, 1835, theat

It has peen generally understooc in this coontry that
the Matabele who made their submission after the
conguest of their country were left in posszssion of
their cattle, or at any rate a portion ot it. [ hear,
however, from a correspondant at Fulawayc who gives his
information at first hand, that tne Charters=d Company
lay claim to all the cattle in the country - except what
was handed over to the lLoot Lommittee as compensation
for th2 claims of the frzebooters who served in the army
of invasion - and that they are enforcing this claim
strictly. The whole of the cattle left in the nands of
the natives are b2ing branded with the Company's mark,
and the natives are forbidden to sell any of the
animals, whether branded or not.5!

Laboucherz then remarked on the Companry's ownership ot cattle,
and on the absurdity of the Company's freguent assertiosns theat
the Ndebelzs themselves were well satisfied with the arranjement,
finding that

Th2 report of the Land Commission of Matabeleland ...
shows that, when the Chartered Company conguered
Matabelzland, it assumed the propristorship of ali th2
cattle.
In December last it was decided that a portion of thea
should be returned to the Matabele; and it was explained
to them that the Company would retain 32,000 and return
40,930, ... Earl Grey states that when this arrangement
vas explained to the Matabele they expressed Ythemselves
S0 press, November 16, 1894, P. Stigger, 'Voluntecrs and the
profit motive in the Anglo-Ndebele Kar', Rhodesian History Vol
1, 1971. ppe.22-23 gives almost the sarme figures of the final
share of the loot fund. Since the remuneration for Police after
the war was 5 shillings per 31iem plus rations, this was a
handsome raward.

$S1 Truyth June 13, 1895, p.1U450. In fact, the report was true,
for nothinjy could be known g2nerally until the Report of the
Land Commission was presented to Parliament in June 1896. 1396
LIX,903: Keport of the Lané Commissior of 18654 (C8130).
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well satisfied", This satisfaction seems to have been
loubttful in view of the fact of the outbreak that
occurrad.se
Thus, not later than Jaly 1869396, Labcucherzs had identified a
connection between thz Matabele #Har, cattle seizures and the
subseguent Ndebele ravolt.
In all Labouchera's commentary ot the war it was apparent
that hs received little information on the actions of the
Ndebele themselves, and that his concern was with publicising
the behaviour of the Europeans whom he believed to be misusing
them. The same is true of the scattered commconts which occur on
the Company's administration of Africens. The only guastion
which is tollowel consistently throughout the post-invasion
period is that of forced labour. Labouchere'’s interest lel him
to comaent frequently on the means employed by the Company to
induce Africans to enter European employment, suvggesting that
the system amounted to little less than slavery. Hz was critical
of the Company's intentions as early as 1894, when h2 remarked:
Mr Rholes now explains that his mission is to civilize
those Matabele who have not yet been killed. The first
step was to steal their cattle; the second step was to
deprive them of their land; the third step was to
distribute the pzople themselves amongst the Company
buccaneers; for if, he says, they were left to
theaselves on land reserved to them, they might grow
rich, and would not work, whereas if distributed they
could not grow rich, and would have to work for their
taskmasters.5s?d

This concern about forced labour was re-iterated after ths

Report of 5ir Richard Martin on the Chertered Company's

52 Truth, July 16, 189396, p.150.

S3 Trutn, November 22, 1694, p.T1E9.
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administration in Rhodesia had been presented to Parliament in
1897, as the Risings were being suppressed. tventually,
Labouchere commented in 18%€ on khodes's attitude, wnhnen he
stressed tnat

Since [ Sir Richard Martin's] report was issued, Mr
Rholes has publicly stated that the country cannot
thrive - by which he means that he and his speculativa
friends cannot thrive - unless “kxeter Kall fads" in
respect to the treatment of natives are ignored. Yet in
Mr Chamberlain's new schzme of partnership in tha
governaent of Rhodesia, between the Colonial Office and
the Coapany, thers are no guarantees that the natives
will be protected against forced labour ... Those who
hold the views of Wilberforce as to the right of
Africans to be free are jeered at as Exeter Hall
faddists: to such a pass have the Anglo-kAfrican
financier-politicians trought the Englanc of the
Anti-Slavery movement.S*

And, once aore, as recent work has demoncstrated,>S Labouchare
was righte.

A number of general comments om the calibre of
administration and of justicz appeareé¢ in Iruth over the years,
and the ta2nor of Labouchere's commernts is supported py thz work )
of both Ranger and Stigger, who demonstrate the weakness 2f the
ARCs appointed, and the methols they employed.S5¢ Howaver,
Labouchere pbeat both into thaz field fcr, in 1896, Iruth cited
Rev. CeDe. Helm's revelations of Company misconduct, and

"needlsss brutality"¥, and the cruelty of settlers, and

commented: YIf the Uitlanders of the Transvaal hadé a right to

- — - —-— = -~

S5 See C. Van Onselen, Chibaro London, 1976, ppe.74-11U,

- o —

S6See Chapter V p.165 for an example of the administration ol
justice to Africans.
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rebel because they were not given votes, &ané the Chartered
torces wer2 justified in aiding them, assuredly the Matabsle, in
their own country are justified in retelling toc prevent their
cattle being stolen and their ears chopped off".57 subseguently,
in 1899 Labouchere acquired correspondence between a former
Native Commissioner and his superiors which wvas revealing of
administrative practices. He explairned that & contlict hai
developed between ths Commissioner ané the Chief Kative
Commissionar over flogging, and guoted from « letter to the
Chief Native Commissioner from the Native Commissioner, who
could not

«ee understand how you can justly reprove me for acting

Yillegally and ultra vires", as I hold yocur written

instructions to flog tke natives under certain

conditions; and you have repeatedly given me verbdal

instructions to 40 s0. oo

My astonishment was unbounded when you told at Plum Tree

Siding on Wednesday last that it is the policy of the

Chartered Company not to officially recognise such

actions on the part of Native Ccommissioners, but that we

are to continue them gprivately, peaying in all ftines to

the Treasury; also that you could not inform me whether

the Chartered Company would support us if the legality

of our actions be questioned.S®
The double standards employel by the Company to create the
illusion of a just and orderly administration, which Labouchere

publicized in 1699, were not noticed again until 1976, wher

Stigger coamented on the practice.s59

- ———

5?7 Troth RApril 9, 18%6, 9.897.

— . —— by

58 Truth, %ay 25, 1899, p.134. The incident clearly took place

- . e

in Matabeleland.

59 Stigger, Native Department, pp. $7-61.
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It is now necessary to consider briefly Lacouchare's
comments on the Ndeb2le and Shona risings. In general his
concerns ware the sam2 as those expressed about the Matabzle War
and he devotad lsss attention to the risings in 13%6. He
commented on causes, and on the atrocities during the course of
the war. He concluded that the risinocs were the result of the
Company's abuse of Africans, and expressed this opinion in April
1896:

To the Chartered Company alone is dve the Fatabele
kising. Its creed was a policy of spoliation. It found
pretences to attack its neighbours whenever it thought
that these neighbours might possess the colden soil taat
it was without, and that the ownership of thne soil was
likely to maintain its shares at the huge premiuva to
which tney had bea2n forcsd by Stock Exchange
manipulation. ... The Matabele whc have not been
slaughtered by this bloocdstained Company thought that
they too might have recourse to tihe SWOFC ««.0

In July 1896, he drew a definite comnection Letween Loot Cattle
and the Ndebele rising.®¢! In September 1896, referring to a
speech of Mr Rhodes's, he said:
«ee Thz scheme of the Company seewms to have bean that a
hut tax was to be impoced uvpon [Kcama's people], and
they were to be deprived of their cattle. This, it wvas
thought, would force them to work for the white man at a
low waje. That they should have rebelled against this
usage, and that they should be unwilling to surrender
unless in future secured against it, is hardly
surprising.®?
Most comments on the atrocities perpetrated during the war
are also from men on the spct. Some comments ares similar to
60 Truth kpril 2, 1896, p.E36.
61 Truth July 16, 18%6, p.150.
£

uth Szptember 24, 169€, p.765.
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those which appeared 3uring the Matabele war, and on June 11,
1896, Labouchere noted that in a recent “battue" it was raported
that "the rebels suffered sevarely, losing quite 300Y while
three Edropean troopers were wounded.®3 On June 18, Iruth
emphasized the callousness with which whites exterminated their
enemies, guoting a latter which enthused YIt is granmi tun
potting niggers off, and seeing them fall like nincpinsSeces' €4
Other charges were that women ana children were kiiled in
indiscriminate shelling of villages,®% and that women were
raped.®® The following more general comment on the methods of
the war appeared in April:

The latest news from Matabeleland is thet a farmer left

dynamite fuses in his homestead, which killad 100

Matabele, and that a storekeeper in the =zame fasnion

killed 200. Is it surprising that the Matabale should

tske their revengye whenever they get the chance?67
He also commented that Mr Chamberlain had condoned the harbarise
of the war, confessing that he did not anderstand

Br Chasperlain's 3doctrine that there are two “Yusages of

war" one for Europe and the cother for Africa ... The

Matabele are, I presume, to be regarded as British

subjects. They have rebelled. Therefore we burns their

viliages, and Mr Chamberlain justifies the settler who

left his house full of dynamite with fuses attached, +..

If we act as savages, can it be surprisirg that they

-———— - - ————

€3 Truth, June 11, 13896, p. 1492,

64 Truth June 18, 189b, p.1554. Another example was cited on
Septembar 3, 1896.

65 2.g. Truth, October 22, 15656
66 e.g. Truth, Janvary 6, 1638,

6T Truth, April 16, 1396, p.948.
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shoald do sop7e8
The Shona Rising was suppressesd with great btrutalitye. Shona
rebels retreated into strongnoclds in caves, ana in many
instances the caves were dynamited when they refussd to
surrenier, sometimes with results similar tc those which took
place at Makoni's stronghold.®? Labcuch2re hzd no coament on
these incilents, however, pethaps because the Company was
successful in suppressing this information, since the Shona
Rising was put down largely by men specially recruited for the
purpose.

Labouchare demonstrated the Compeny's complete indifference
to the welfare of the African people in the territory it
assumed, and that the Matabele War was rothlessly znginesred in
order to satisfy the Company's financial needs. He snowsd the
inhumanity of Company troops and officers in comments on the war
and on the disappearence of enemy wounded. In his coaments on
the administrative practices of the Company, labouchare ravealedb
a similar indifference on the part o¢f the Company for the
welfare of the Africans. In his comments on forced labour and
Company policy on flogging, he shows the tricks emplioyed py the
Company to conceal the nature of their administration. His
comments on the Risings again point out the curious ninetzenth
century morality which did not require Africans to be treatsd

with humanity. He utilized these points to drive hom= the danger

- e - —— - - -

68 Truth, April 23, 1396, p.1017.

69 See Chapter V, p.166.
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involved in grantingy the power of Jovernment to a commercial
enterprise with no responsibility eithter to the British
Government, from which it cderived it cuthority, or to the
inhabitants of its territory. He expressed this point very
effectively as early as October 1893, when he did not h=sitate
to declare that

It is a disgrace to the jood name of England that such a

Company should continue its course 2f blouod and plundar
under a Royal Charter.?0

- — - —

70 Truth, October 19, 1853, p.60CZ.
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VII. LABOUCHERE AND THE JAMESON RAID

The shock to many Englishnen of the Jameson Raid was
considerable. Labcuchere, who had alwaye beern critical of the
Company, was outrag=sd, and d=voted a yrzat desl of attention to
the subjesct ovar th2 next year. As always, his major
concern in this affair was to demonstrate thet the Company was
not a reputable conca2rn. It was hardly surpriséng, therefore,
that ha argued strongly that the comnspiracy was organised to
prevent the collapse of the British Scuth Africa Company, and
that the Company should either be much mocre (ightly controlled
or deprived of its charter. The points which concerned
Labouchere most were the irresponsitbility of the Cumpany; the
manipulation of public opinion through the press; end the
failure of both the British Government and the Ecard of
Directors to control the Company's illegal activities. Thase
aspects of Truth's coverage of the Kaid will be discussed in
light of Labouchere's appointment to the Committee investigatiung
the Raid. Truth's coverage of the Jameson kaid breaks down into
three sections. The story of the conspiracy, and information on
the conspirators, will be dealt with first. The manipulation of
pulbic opinion through the press, the Company's responsibility
for the Raid, Rhodes's involvement in and motives for the Raid
are discussed next. Finally the future of the Company, thz
Select Parliamentary Committee, and Chamberlain's role in the

conspiracy are comrsidered.

[ %]
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The story of the conspiracy in Johannesburg, and of the
Raidl itself were told and retold many times in Truth, with
varying degrees of colour end warmth, and Lzbouchere's coaments
on some aspects of the tale are of interest. The elements which
he emphasiz=2d in recounting the story were that the Raid was
planned in advance, that it had no possible justification, and

that the Company was clearly involved. In the ftirst few months

aspect but, because the coverage was less specifically focussed

than was the cases for most of Truth's comments on the Britich

South Africa Company, only a few items will he referred to here.
The scope and intentions of the conspiracy were outlined on
January 16, 1896, when Labouchere maintained:

»es recent disclosures point distinctly to

A WIDESPREARD FINANCIAL TONSFIKRACTY
which had been in progress for some time, both in London
and South Africa, amd which culminated in Dr Jam2son's
Raid into th= Transvaal. ... the dash of Dr Jameson for
Johannesburg was not undertaken on the spur of the
momant, but ... it had been carefully prepared for
months; ... some of the cables, which gave particulars
of the Outlander movement in Johannesburg were actually
drawn up in Lonion. The following is, according to an
authority possessing exceptional means of information,
the programme which had been decided upon by the
sponsors of the syndicate, towards which a number of
well-known men subscribed sums of frcm ten thousand
pounds upwards. The Outlanders in Johannesburg w2re to
rise against the Boer government; Dr Jameson was to
cross the frontier and throw himself into Johannesburg,
easily defeating the Boer forces; Jameson was to becone
Administrator of Johannesburg; the Transvaal was to b=z
taken possession of, and, if the Inglish Government
objected, South Africa was to proclaim its independence.
In fact, it is reporteéd that some of the men connected
with the movement on this side had already been
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quérellinq cver the spoils,!

It was only gradually learned who was &ctually involved in
the conspiracy. Nometheless, from the first moment the story
broke, Labouchere was convin;ed that khodes was implicated in
it, and repeatedly commentel on the fect, while:

With Jameson, or any who act like him, I have no
sympathy... nothing wiil convince me that he acted in
this business without the knowledge of or approval of
his chief and patron, Mr Cecil Ekhodes.?

In March evidence of Rhodes's involvement began to appear and,
onca the cipher telegrams produced betore the Cape Parliamentary
Enquiry were known, he was obliged to resign a; Managing
Director. Comments on other individuals from the Reform
Committee soon after the Rail took place made it clear that the
men behind the conspiracy in Johannesburg were the powerful and
wealthy members of the mining community - with Conzolidat=zd
50ldfields and other companies on the Rand inveclved. This became

apparent by January 23, when Truth reported:
It is stated that Messis Lionel Phillips, Georgye Farrar,
John Hay Hammond, and Colonel Rhodes are not allowsd to
communicate with each other or with the other prisoners
at Pretoria: from which one would gather that thess are
suspected by thes Boers of being the ring-leaders. The
two first-named are leaéing financiers. ¥r Fhillips is
the managing partner in the firm cf H. Eckstein and
Company, the Johannesburg representatives of wernher,
Beit and Company, and he is the Chairman or Director of
twenty-four companies. Mr George Farrar is a member of
the firm of Howard Farrar and Cocmpany, identified morz
particularly with the East Rand Fty. Company, and he
beats the record as he directs thirty-three companies.
Mr Hammond is an =minent American mining engineer; and
Colonel Rhodes is Mr Cecil Rhodes's brother ... Amongst

- - —— - —— - ———— - -

t Truth, Januvary 16, 1896, p.155.

2 Truth, January 9, 1896, fp. 81.
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the other prisoners, Mr H.J. Kinag is & partner in S.
Neamann and Company, ané %r ¥Fritz Mosenthal is a cousin
of Mr Henry Mosenthal.?

The role of Goldfields is of interest because it demonstrates

more clearly than anything else the importance of krhodes's role

key role played by the Consclidated Goldfields, for:

It is interesting to notice how carsfully those who are
anxious to make out that the Chartered Company was not
in any way responsible for Dr Jameson's Raid avoid any
reference to thz part taken by the Consoclidated
Goldfields Company in the proceedings. Thz offices cof
the Goldfields were, as all accounts agree in stating,
the headquarters and the pay-office of the Johannesburg
Revolutionary Union. kecruits were enrolled there, ths
Cycle Corps mustered there, and it was from the
Goldfields office that the despatches tc Dr Jameson and
the different camps were sent. AnG to all imtents and
purpos2s in this connection the Chartereé¢ Company and
Consolidated Goldfields Company are merely two
departaents of one concern.*

It was probably this evident assertion that led Laboucher= tec
hold that:

The Jameson Raid was a counsel cof despair. But its
object has not yet beern given upe. The men at the bottom
of it have almost unlimited funds; they are energetic
and able; and a large portion of the precs over here is
vith them. They are ready to mascuerade as patriots or
missionaries, or anything else that may serve their
purpose. They are the curse of South Africa, and until
they are suppressed with a firm hand, there is no
likelihood of that portion of the globe peaceably
settling down.S

In fact p=2ace was only possible once the conspirators had won

control, as the second Anglo-Boer War and its aftermath wa2re to

- — - - -

3 Truth, Januvary 23, 1836, p.220. Mosenthal was a leading
merchant, especially in arms and explosives.
4 Truth February 13, 1396,p.3E8.

- X

5 Truth, April 15, 1596, p.9%48.
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reveal.

A few comments appeared, from time to time, on the
punishment of the conspirators. On Felruvary 6, Labouchere
dismissad remarks, published in the $t James Gazette, that it
vas unfair to lock away such important men who were responsilble
for so many companies, because their sharehclders would suffer.
The same column also remarked that Consolidated Goldfields had
lost nearly all its chief men. The imprisonment and trial of
Jameson, and other Cosmpany officers, was given more attention,
but comments did not follow any particular theme, nor did they
make any dramatic revelations. Labouchere expressed the belief
that it was important that England should honour the commitment
to the Transvaal, and bring the comspirators to trial; and he
noted the widespread public sympathy for Jameson, and a petition
for the release of Jameson and his fellow-prisoners.® It was his
opinion that the conspirators had played for high =takes, and
must now bear the conseguences of having lost.?

An interesting letter was published, in November 1896,
which was an early intimation that imperial officers had been
more closely involved than was admitted, but lLabouchere did not
pursue this issuz, for he expected it to be dealt with p»y the
Selact Committee. Th2 writer indicated that, although he could
not vouch for its truth, he had been told that:

esshen Sir John Willoughby received an intimation that

- —— -

6 Truth, January 23; March 5; and November 19, 1896,

7 Truth February 6, 189%6.
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he had forfeited his commission for having taken part in
the Transvaal Raid, he wrote a letter to the wWzr 0ffice,
in which he said that, for the ftirst time¢, an officer
had been dismissed from the [ueen's Service for havinag
carried out the wishes of hic superiors, and that ... he
felt it his duty to state that he had iniormed the
officers engaged in the Raid who were his subordinates,
that it had been undertaken with the approval of the
authorties. I prasume Sir John wiiloughty will be one of
thes witnesses before the Parliamentary Committee; if so,
and if he really did write such a letter, hic
explanaticn of it will ke interesting.é®

The attention focussed on the manipulation of punlic
opinion by the pro-Rhodes Press was very effective. In numercus

accounts, Truth show=2d how the Press favourable to Khodzs and

Jameson was presenting partial information, or twisting facts,
to stimulate public sympathy for Rhodes and Jameson, as they
faced the consequenc2s of the failure of their conspiracy. This,
Labouchere arguel, Jdemonstrated the methods which th2 Company
had always employed to mislead the puklic and the Pritish
Government. In support of hkis contention he pri;ted a letter
sent by the editor of "a new and 'pushful® monthly magazina™ to
a man known to have been at University College with Jameson. The
editor was writing an article on Jameson, and asked:

ees if you could assist me by giving me the address of

- ——— - —— = ——

8 Truth, November 26, 189Y6,p.1362. Labouchere d4id press both
Jameson and #illoughby on the issue, tut received no
satisfactory answer. Willoughty initially refused to answzr hinm.
Jameson was therefore recalled, and questioned about the letter.
He testified that he had approved Willooghby's letter in outline
but had not considered its contents in detail. He disagre=2d with
the details because he had told Willouahby only that the High
Commissionar was aware that a Rising wmight teke place, and that
he believed that his own acticns, once successfully accomplished
would be forgiven. (Colvim, p.165) Willoughby still refused to
commit himself, but merely confirmed what Jameson =aid, ani
stated that he had written the letter hastily, in orler to save

his subordinates.




anyone who has the knowledge, and who would be willing
to write a short article on ths subject I should be
indebted. ... I think that a reminiscent article of this
nature, which would be allowable when nearly everything
else would be sup juiice, would not ke without 1ts value
in turning public opinicn to those phases in Jameson's
character that must popularise hir with all, no matter
what they may think in connection with recent events.?

There are innuamsrabl> exampl2s ot similar occur=znces, of which
the following is & good illustration:

On Monday morning, under the heading of “Cape Sympathy
with Mr Cecil Rhodes", the Daily Telegreph gave a report
of a Ymass meeting of citizensY at Cape Town, where a
resolution of syapathy with the fallen Colossus in his
apple-cart misfortune was unanimously carria=d. "The
enthusiasm"¥ said the ingenuocus reporter, "manifested by
those present is without precedent in the history of the
colony". A telegram in very similer terms, including the
unanimity and enthusiasm, was published by the Times:
but with the addition of the following somewhat
important sentence:

Mr Anderson, a merchant, presided, Lut nearly all

- e - - - = sRERIiid a-dta RSiSSs miha-

Labouchere had already cosmitted himself, writing inm plain
terms on Januwary 9 exactly that:

see V2N were the Boers ever so deaf and so blind to
their own interests as to meet the Uitlanders case with
an obstinate non possumus, what pretext does this afford
for armed interevention by the Chartered Company? A
pretence, it is true, has been made that, before
commancing their Raid, Jameson and his m=n resigned
their positions under the Company; but even if such a
fora were gone through, it is obviously only a
colourable pretence. The invading force was drilled,
armed, and maintained by the Company. At its head was
the Administrator of the Company. On his staff was the
Company's Jeneralissimo. It took with it the ammunition,
equipment and horses of the Company. ... FOr such
unscrupulous treachery, whether hotched with the

—— i ——— - - —

% Truth, February 27, 18%6.

-

10 Truth July 30, 18396, pe. 235. Emphazis in Iruth. Other

examples of press manipulation, in 1&%€¢: February o, 13; #arch
12; April 3, 16; May 14, 26; June 4, 25; July 9, 23; August o.



complicity of the 3dummy Directors at home or not, the
Company must pay the penalty.!?

Once Labouchere had adopted this position, it should
engender nd> surgrise that kLis attacks on Rhodes himsz21lf ware
equally direct, although Laboucherz initially retain=d some
respect for Rhodzs. This respect socn vanished. On May 14 and
21, 1896, Labouchere devoted the full space c¢f his two or three
page “Scrutator" editorials to discussing Khodes' career ani
accomplishments, in less than flattering terms.!'2 gach editorial
emphasized different aspects of Khodec® activities, but the tone
and genaral import was the same. He explained how Rhodes haid
misused his public office as Prime Minister tc make money, and
denied that his motives were patriotic. He rucounted the
activities of the Chartered Company in Rhodesia against
Lobengula, and the share-boosting asscciatec¢ with it. He
iescribed Rhodes's political opportunisa in having espoused the
cause of Afrikaners in order to secure political power in the
Cape, but turned against Afrikaners in the Transvaal when it was
necessary, for the financial well-beinag of his Company. He
discussed Rhodes's obvious involvement in planning the Raid, and
his cowardly denial that he was involved, which obliged Jameson
and others to bear the full brunmt of punishment. And he
commented on the fact that Rhodes was avoiding having to resign,
by his activities in Matabel=land. In the process, he strassed

, January 9, 1896. Other examples:Januvary 16; January
7, 1896.

12 Truth 1896: May 14, pp. 1204-1206; May 21, pp.1273-1276.
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on May 14:

Between Rhodes and Beit I draw & wide distinction; the

- former disgracel the traditions of Briticsh Statemanship,

the latter was avowedly a speculstor ané made no
pretence of being anything else. Gt the two I prafer
Herr Beit ... '

I as aware that I use ctrong language ir respect to Mr
Rhodes. The occasion demands strorng lancuage. ...

The latest incarnation of #r Khodes is that ot a
"Colonel"® desperately fighting with almost superhuman
courags against the Matabele, and hourly risking his
life to save those of the dupes he has led to settle in
Khodesia ...

I am sick of all these swashbucklers of <ociety and
financ2 masguerading as warriors «<nld asking us to take
them on their own estimate ... If Mr Rhodes does not
actually run away, I expect that his frienas will call
uponrn us to make him a Field Marchel at least,1?

A week latzr, he concentrated more on Khodes, maintaining that

the

«es reputation of the purest statesman could not have
survived the publicaticn of the cipherec¢ telegraams,
which showed Mr Rhodes a traitor to the Empire for which
he had boasted his love; to the cclony that had accepted
him as its Prime Minister; and to the instruments whon
he left to their fate by denying &ll complicity with
them. The man, greedy, unscrupulcus, mendacious and
without even that sense of honour which, according to
the proverb, is found amongst thieves, now appears in
his true colours. But a myth dies hard, particularly
when many are interested in accreciting it. We are now
asked to believe that, if this demri-god was betrayed
into baser courses, this ought to be condoned on account
of the vast services that he had previously rendered to
the Empire.l*

Thus 3id Labouchere 30 his best to ensure that the myths

—_——— -

Public accounting for the Raid tcok several forms: the

official version, 9f the revolution in Johannesburgy and a call

—-——
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Truth, May 14, 1896, p.1204-1206.

Truth, May 21, 18956, p.1273-1274,




to Jameson for aid, could not be maintained for long. The focus
soon shifted and it was ther asserted that the grievances of the
UDitlanders justified interventiorn orn their tehalf. The next
justification was that of patriotism: the Kaid was one part of a
glorious plan to unite the whole of Scuthern Rfrica snder the
British flag and, although thz kaid failed, the motivation
was good and the conspirators shoulc¢ not, thereforz, pe
punished.
countzred the notion of patriotism by pointing cut three facts:
Rhodes stood to profit by the venture; one ¢f his major partners
in the scha2me was not aven British, nor were many of the
Johzanesburg conspirators; and while he himseltf recognised the
importance in Southern Africa of harmonious reiations batwaen
Afrikaners and British, yet he damaged, perheps permanently, the
trust established between the two groups.!5 The idea that Rhodes
was deeply concerned about the Uitlarder grievances vas easily
dealt with by Labouchere, who comparec conditions in the
Transvaal with those in Chartered Company territory. He
described the contrast by recognising that, in the Transvaal,

.es taxation is not excessive, and the position of the

mining industry is infinitely better than it is aver

lik2ly to be under the Chartered Company. ... The

Governament charges on every mining claim a grounl rent

and royalty of 10s per month. Tc 2 Company owning fifty

claims this means a groun? rent of E300 & year - a very

reasonable charge when from 30-60% can be earned on the

capital of the Company. As against this, what 3o the

Chartered Company charge? One half the net profits of

- - - -

15 Sega Truth, May 21, 1856, p.1274.
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all mines worked under their jurisdicticn. This slone
should teach sharehollers of Transvaal mines how jittlie
they have to gain from the overthrow of koer Government
by the Rhodes gany, anc how thankful they may te for the
course of events last week.l®

Three months later, he returned to this theme by acknowledging
that

«es thz Transvaal Government is nct pertect ... few
governaents are. But were I engaged in some industry in
the Transvaal, I certainly should prefer to be under
Hoer rule than under that of an oligarchy of
Company-mongers.1i7?

The defence of the Uitlander grievances was further underained

o e -

In the letter of the President of the Reform Committe=
to his "dear Beit%", he revesals to this German gentleman,
who with Mr Rhodes seems to be &t bhottom of this whole
trouble, that the community is not "anxiocus in respect
to political rights"Y, nor do "any care a fig for the
franchis=2", and h2 suggests that & fund should be
subscribed for the general purposes of corruption.t®

The underlying theme here reinforced information which
Labouchere had already disseminated by publishing a statement
which pointed out that the way in which

«sse the financialists of Jdohannesburg recruited thair
army receives some light from the evidence given by Mr
John Keith before the court trying the members of the
Reform Committee. Mr Keith is, it wculd wppear, an
American citizen. He was induced to join a corps styled
the George Washington Corps, on the pretext it had bteen
formed for the protection of life and property. HBearing
that it vwas to be sent to Pretoria to fight the Boers,
he and others tore off the colours. On this they were
arra2sted. Mr Keith was handcuffed, knocked about, and

i e
i —— e

e -
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locked in th2 Chamosr cf Mincs Cifice.19
Thus, Labouchere presa2nted information about the conspiracy, and
revealed both the involvement of Rhodes and the Company and the
attempt to conceal it, while'at the seame time discussing the
Company's motives.

It was Labouchere's belief that the true motive underlying
the Raid was a desperate wish to stave off the Chartered
Company's bankruptcy by gaining access to the proven wealth of
the Transvaal. Matabeleland had proved to be no rich=ar in gold
than Mashonaland, and it was apparent that it wculd be many
years before the territory bore significant profit - and tae
precarious financing of the Company reguired instant dramatic
success. Labouchere considered the Jameson Kaid to be just
another step in the series of raids undertaken by the Company tc
enable Rhodes and his associates to engage ik stock 2xchange
speculation with British South Africa Company shares. The
sequence he described was straightforward in its all=gations.
The Company acquired rights to Mashonaland, and immediately
began to promote it. Mashonaland rapidly proved not to be as
rich in gold as hoped, and Lord Salistury prevented the Company
from securing the territory it desired in Manicaland. After a
few years, the Company's financial position was so wz2ak that a
raid became necessarye. The Company therefore escalated a guarrel
with Lobengula into a war; brutally defeated the Ndebele with

maxim guns, and took over their whole country. Despite financial

- —— - - —s - ——

19 Truth, February 13, 1896, p.369.
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puffs of Matabzl=land, it proved not to be rich in gold either,
so once again, by 1895, the Company was in search of richar
territory. On this occasion, they choce territory known to be
rich .« The editorial guoted in the #ippendix tells the story,
in Labouchzre's own words.zo

Labouchere's asszartions gained credibility merely because
the pattern has been repeatel so many times, ani because the
Company was as close to bankruptcy after six years of operation
as it had 2ver been. The most convincing prcof that Lazbouchere
produced, however, concerned the sale of Chartered Company
shares which is described in Chapter 1II above.

From the moment news of the Raid reached London, Truth
urged the removal of Rhodesia‘®s administration from Chartared
Company hands. Labouchere stated that, if the government would
not revoke the Chartaer, the zsinimum precaution that should be
taken to prevent further alkuse was to change the Board of
Directors, and provide for direct Imperial administration of
Rhodesia.

Our aim must be to reduce the Company to the wining
enterprise which is the only real basis of its fimancial
existence. It must be éeprived cf all governing powers.
We must sell or let land, charge for trading licances,
and collect the hut tax, the Company remaining with its
rights over minerals. If we find that our expenditure is
not covered by incomings, the Company must be
responsible for the deficit, as a consideration for
having a royalty on the minerals. ... Whether the

Charter is abrogated or not is & matter of mere detail,
provided that the above arrangerent, or something in its

- - —— - ——— - - ——— -

20 Truth, February 20, 1896, p. 451-4%3. Other versions of the
story occur on January 9, January 16, and #ay 7, 1896.
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natore is carriedi out.Zz1
His insistence that the Directors ot the Company should be
replaced has already been discussed in Chapter IV, It was
perhaps in part a rssponse to such pressure, that the future
administration of Khodesia was made part of the mandate of the
British Coamittee of Inguiry, although the Committee never
addressed the issue.

The Parliamentary Select Committee appointed to enguire
into the Jama2son Raid provides a very interesting example of
successful political wmanipulation. By 1895, Labouchera’'s
reputation as a severe critic of Rhodes and the British South
Africa Company was firmly established, and the scandal of the
Jameson Raid added grist to his mill. He spared no effort in
exposing the conspiracy, as far as he was able to, «shile at the
same time 2xploiting the incident to advance his campaign
against Rhodes and the Company. As socn as evidence of tha
conspiracy began to leak out, he began calling for an inguiry,
not only into the Raid, but into all aspects of the Company's
administration.2?2 After it was announced in July 18956 that there
would be a Committee of Inguiry appeint=d, he congratulatad
Chamberlain on his resolution in overcoring the resistance among
members of his party to an investigation. 1t is apparent, in
retrospect, that Chamberlain used the Parliamentary Committee to

smother the inguiry altogether. 1t was inconceivable that there

- ———— - - —

21January 30, 1896, p.2b6l.

22 see Truth February 20, and July 2, 1896, fcor examples.
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would be no official inguiry in britien. Chamberlain therefore
ensured that the Engquiry would be under his control, and that
the most vocal and publicly known critic of Khodes and the
Company was includel in the Committee. Thus Labouchere was
invited to participate. He could not refuse and, by his
participation, was severly restricted in his abililty to comment
upon the course of the enquiry. Chamberlain's tactics were
entirely successful. During the hearings lLabouchere was in a
minority, and could be prevented from asking embarassing
guestions. Yet his membership of the committee compromised his
ability to criticise it, despite the fact that he dissant2d from
the majority. He wrote his own Report on the hearinas, but the
Committee refused to 2ndorse it.23 He could do nothing more.
Chambarlain's role in the whole affair remains unclear.
Despite his open antagonism to Chamberlain from time to time,
Labouchere absolutely rejected the idea that he might have been
implicated, and clung to this position until he was forced by
the outcome of the Committee of Inguiry, and Chamberlain's
subseguent behaviour, to revise his opinion. Thus we have a
record in Truth, from January 23 1896, to Augqust 24, 1899, of
the increasing suspicion which accumulated around Chamberlain,
although h2 was never proven guilty of complicity. In January,
Labouchere did not even refute the possibility that Chamberlain
was implicated - apparently the thought had not even occurred tc

23 Sgz2 H.C.,1897 IX, xlvi-lxii. kKeport of the Select Committee on
the Jameson Raid.
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hime. On May 14, Labouchere commented that it was unfortunate
that Chamberlain had not insisted on hkhodes's removal froa the
Board of Directors of the Chartered Ccmpany. In July the first
suggestion that Chamberlain was implicated appeared, and was
contest2d. Futures remarks were similarly defensive of
Chamberlaia:

One of the stateazants put forward by the friends of the

Company is that Mr Chamberlain knew of the Kaid beforz

it occurred, and tacitly encouraged it. For this I hava

not se2n the shadow of a shade of evidence. I delieve it

to be absolutely untrue, and that the charge has been

made is additional ground for investigation.Z%
Lockhart, in commenting on the failure of the Committee to press
Rhodes to produce the telegrams, suggests that Labouchere did
not push Rhodes because he was not interestec in.Chamberlain,
but “Yhe wanted only to destroy kEhodes"¥2S However, Lockhart also
comments later on that Rhodes was allowad by the Committes to
avoid Labouchers's gquestioning on his relations with Chamberlain
Yagain and again by invoking his self-adopted rule about not
'‘getting into third parties'".26 In fact, Labouchere did not
have the power in the Committe2 to push BRhodes to produce the
telegrams. Wwhen he realised that Chamberlain was blocking the
admission of the cables, he was unalble to to force the Committee
into decisive action. Labouchere explazined why he was unable to
do so when he noted that there
;:—igégij-sai;-;;: 1896, p.150. Similar examples occur
regularly:Nove 26, Dec 3, Dec 10 1896. February 4, Aporil 8 1897.

25 Lockhart § Woodhouse, p.371.

26 Ibid, p.373



+ses has been a jood Geal of stricture in the Press on
Sir William Harcourt, respectinc his action on the
Committea. 1 took the liberty of c¢isagreeing with him in
regard to that action; but I guite understood it. His
intention was excellent, but I never believad that he
would succeed in his aim bty the tactics he pursuad. He
wanted a strong unanimous report against Mr RhodeS. ees
But I was certain that ... those wvho thcocught that Mr
Rhodes had acted in a tashion that rendered it
imperative that all connection between him and the
Imparial Governmznt should be cut off, woculd only
achieve their aim by making it as clear as noonday that
either ne or Mr Chamberlain had not spoken the truth.27

-

In an earlier editorial on July 22, 1£97, labouchere had
discussed the relations between kKhodes and Chamberlain, and
concluded that they had common political goals, and that =2ach
recognised the importance of the other with resrect to Souathern
Africa. “The bond of agreement between them was that President
Kruger had been too much for either of them, and that neither of
them would be particularly averse to turming the tables on him."
28 After the Committee's failure to get to the bottom of the
Jameson Raid, when Chamberlain continued to support Rhodes and
the Chartered Company, Labouchere's attitude hardened into an
assumption, though one which could not be proven, Of
Chamberlain's complicity in the Kaicd. Remarks made in August
1899 epitoaise his attitude, which he embodied in a fable
involving

a wolf who, wishing to eat 8 lamb, accused it of

troubling the stresam. MNr Chamberlein and Mr Rhodes 3ar2

the South African wolves. How far they were connected in

the occurrences that led to the Jemeson kail, we shall

never know, for the Parliamentary investigation was at
once brought to an end when the solicitcr of HMr khodes

- ————— —————— -

27 Truth, August 5, 1397, p.349.

- —_——

28 Truth, July 22, 1837.




ctfered to prova what the Connection was by documentary
evidence.29

While tne Committee was in session, Truth published
occasional comments on the mestings, &nd a long editorial on the
value of tne evidence submitted Ly Schreiner,30 but the
substance of Labouchere's comments c¢n the Committee is conveyed
in an editorial appearing after the report of the Committee had

been presentaed to Parliament. He felt the inquiry was Burk=d since,

for

«ee thirty long days the South African Committee obliged
the country with an object lesson in the game of "how
not to do it“%. I must congratulate it upon its success.
Never did men mor= effectually succzed irn bringing
theaselves and Parliament into ridicule and cont=2mpt ...
I was not in agresment with the majority of my
colleagues, but still I could not help admiring their
skill of fence.31

He then went on to =sxplain that MWr Rhodes was “frankness itself"
on matters alrealdy known, but when askad about the t=iegrams

from Harris, reputed to implicate Chawmberlain, he refused to say
anything. dhen Labouchere tried to have the telegranms produced,h
he was obstructed by the Committee. It was only after Labouchere
made a public motion to that effect, that Hawksley, Rhodes's

solicitor, was finally summoned to give evidencz. Hawksley swore

that the telegrams iaplicated Chamberlain, but retfusad to

prodiuce them. Ths Committee dismissed him for the day, but then

- - - -

29 Truth, August 24, 1389S.
30 see Truth, April 1, 1897. W. Schreiner was a Cape politician

but who haid not beean a part 2f the conspiracy.

31 Truth, July 22, 18%7, p.216-219.
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refused to report hiam to the House of Commons tor contumacy, and
refused to recall him for further guestioninc. Thereafter the
Committee was rushed through to complete its hearings within
that session of Parliament. The juestion ot the future
administration, though included in its mandete, was never
addressed. Labouchere believed that the suppression of
Hawkslay's evidence and the missing telegrams made it impossible
to conduct a proper inguiry, which explained why the

eee guestions that everyone is asking are wny did not
the Committee do all in its power to make 1its
investigation of real values; and why 3di¢ Mr Rhodes
refuse to produce the cablegrams? ... Mr Chamberlain, I
take it, believes that Mr Rhodes will remain an
important factor in South Africa. He is unwilling to
force him into personal antagonisme. This explains his
attitude throughout the inguiry. Facts have been too
strong for him, but he sosught ... not to accentuate
these facts more than was absolutely necessary, or to
make it a direct guestiocn of his word against that of Ar
Rhodes. The reason that Mr Rhodes declined to allow the
cablegrams to be produced is that he, too, does not wish
to come into direct antagonism with Mr Chamberlain, whom
he recognises as an important factor in Imperial
politics and likaly to remain so for the next two or
three years. Assuming that he can really prove Hr
Chamberlain®s knowledge of his plans, it is obviously to
his advantage to have the whip hand over him.32

Other conclusions that Labouchere reached were that Chambarlain
was not "quite so blissfully ignorant as he would have th2 world
believe", since he c2ded the Yjumpirng-off ground™ in

Bechuanaland to the Company;33 that Earl Grey had been

- - ——— - -

33 1bid. Pe 217.
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protected;3% and that the Committee wes obstructed from
obtaining information on the financial dealings of Company
diractors.3% He also commented that:

I did not pelieve that the Committee would make itself

so ridiculous as it has 3ione, +.. But on the othar hand,

1 had no great =xpectations of their doing any useful

WOrkeso [The British South Africa Comparny] is a great

deal too powerful to be dealt with 2n its meorits.36

The Parliamentary Committee repressnted th2 only possible
danger to Chamberlain and Rhodes. Rhodes feared that, if
Chamberlain's involv=aent became knowr, and his career was
Jestroyed, the Charter might be lost following a thorough
investigation of the Company's activities whereas, while
Chamberlain remained in power, he cculd be relied upon to
protect the Company. The Committee failed to press Chamberlain,
and to have the missing telegrams produced: thus, the
opportunity to uncover the exteant of the involvament of
Chamberlain and other government representatives was lost.

Much of the material Labouchere reproduced concerning the
story of the Raid and the conspirators is known, but he did
effectively demonstrate the Company's irrespoensiblity, and the
failure of those in charge of it to control its opgrations. The
most useful aspects of his coverage of the Jameson Raid were his
demonstration of press manipulation and his assessment of the
Company's motives for the FKaid. The material on press
3% Ibid. pe218.

35 Ibide. pe.21&.

36 Ibid. p.218.




manipulation did not introduce any surprises, hut it did show
the extent to which Rhodes controlled the press, and the use he,
and his friesnds, made of his influence. his coantrisution to an
assessment of the motives for the Raid¢ was two-fold. First he
effectively demolished the smoke-screens erected by Company
supporters. Secondly he put forward very conrvincingly the
argument that the Raid was planned for financial motives. He
supported this argument by showing the weakness of the Company's
finances, and by producing evidence eventually of the
substantial sale of shares by Company promoters before th2 Raid
took place.

Labouchere gave a slightly different insight into the
workings of the Selesct Committee, bhaving served on it. Howaver,
his failur2 to realise Chamberlain®s guilt before the Committee
met prejuldiced his ability to influence the Committese's
hearings, and also rendered his judgement of Chamberlain less
valuable.

After the Jameson Haid Labouchere never resum=d his crusade
against the Company with the same intensity. His iuvolvemant in
the Select Committee had inhibited his ability to comment while
the Committee was in session, and compromised his cradibility on
the issue more permanently. In addition, the Southern Rhodesia
order in Council which was proclaimed in 18986 resultad in much
tighter iaperial control over the Comjpany, at least in theory,
while the focus in Southern Africa moved away from Rhodesia.

Thus Labouchere felt able to r=2lax hic vigilance, as an
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important part of his objectivz had been accoumplished.
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VIII. CONCLUSION

The purpose of this study has been to examine Truth, in
order to discover what insights into the machinaticns of Rhodes
and the British South Africa Company Henry Labouchere had. What
has emerged guite clearly is that Labouchere very rapidly
arrived at conclusions about kKhodes and the Company's activities
which were fundamentally correct, as recent research is
confirming. The thre2 problems which concernel him in every
aspect of the Company's activities - the unscrupulous methods of
Rhodes and his associates; the failure of the Imperial
Government and its rzpresentatives to control them; and the
violation of Africans® rights - continue tc be major issues in
the study of Zimbabw2's early colonial period. The gquestions
which Labouchere raiszd between 189Y0 &nd 1896 are critical to
our understanding of the British South Bfrica Company's
operations, and many of them remain unanswered today.

Although work critical of Rhodes has been written, he has
managed to retain his reputation as pere in motive, if devious
in method. Labouchere succeed=d in demonstrating that the
Charter=d Company was not fcunded in the interests of the
British Empire, nor even in the interests of developing new
goldfields. The hope of finding new goldfields pbroviled the
excuse for a group of financiers to foundi & company, which would

become a vehicle for development, if gold were indeed found, but
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which, with or without golé, would ke a source of wealth on the
stock exchange.

‘On tha subject of the financial dealings of the Company ang
of its major promoters, Lakouchere had asked the most crucial
juestions by December 1892 - and the issues raised by the
guestions were not addressed seriously again until 1974, when
Galbraith examin=d the financing of the Cowmpany. The work of
Galbraith and Maylam, while it has advanced our knowledge of the
underhand financial schemes bzhind the British South ARfrica
Company, has to a large extent only raised the samse Juestions
that Labouchere did im the 1690's. Answers remain elusive.

Labouchere raised guestions in three arcas. The first ares
concerns the way investors were deceived by the Company into
investing in a Company which had no immediate prospects of
financial success. The seconl area concerns the relations
betvueen the Central Search Association, the United Concessions
Company and the Exploring Company, in their various forms, and
the British South Africa Company. It is apparent that DeB=22rs
and Consolidated Goldfields also played & considerable role in
the affairs of the Company. The finencial arrangements which
were privately made between the interlocking directorates of
these companies have a very dubious appearance, and have not yet
been satisfactorily explained. The third ares concerns the
manipulation of shares by Ehodes and EBeit. This included both
the use made of shares to advance the Company's interests, and

the 3ubious speculative deals in whick the Company's promoters




engaged. Labouchzre showed that EKhodes and EBeit distributeld
shares to men in influential positions, both putlic and private,
in order to int=rest them in the Company. Maylam has produced
much information which was not accessible to Labouchere, and has
unconsciously shown that Labouchere was absolutely correct in
his assertions, both that the practice was widespread, and that
imperial officials were implicated. As some individuals almost
certainly protected themselvas by keeping their nemes out of
Company registers, the full truth of these transactions may
never be known. The dubious manipulation of shares was shown
both in the early days of the Company, and through the
speculative sale of Chartered Companry shares prior to the
Jameson Raid. He shows that by the end of 1695 the wzalthy and
influential people involved in the conspiracy which gave rise to
the Raid who were Chartered Company shareholders had sold all,
or most, of thelr shares before the rising in Johannesburgy was
Jue to commence. All these matters make it impossibple to
consider the British South Africa Ccmpany as an honourable
enterprise dedicated to winning greater glory for sritain, as
Labouchere so clearly indicated.

In th2 area of politics, Labouchere was ejuaily percaptive,
although again hes was unable to substantiate his assertions.
From its inception, he warned that the Charterei Company would
sooner or later cost British taxpayers money. When the
Bechuanaland Border Police supported thes Company, first in 1890,

and again in 1893, h= instantly brought the fact to oublic




attention. Similarly, wnhen he suspected abuse of public office,
he flew to the attack. Labcuchere's strongest case was that
against Sir Hercules Hobinson, when he was re-appointed Governor
of the Cap2 Colony and High Commissicner for South Africa.
Labouchere was a dedicatsd K2mber of Farliament and served the
public as a moral watchdGog to the best of his ability, which
axplains his concern over EKobinson anc¢ the Bechuanaland Border
Police responsible to hinm.

Some o5f the material accumulated in Truih concerning the
administration of the Company can be found in other scattered
contemporary sources.! However Laboucheres adds useful commant,
and provides a cumulative record throuaghout the period. Froa
this continuing themes emerges, the most useful of which are
perhaps tha mail tampering and the Company's contrcl of
information about the territory. In gensral Labouchere shous
clearly the casual attitude >f the Coumpany cfficials, and the
lack of due procass in conducting the administration. The
mataerial he published demonstrates the Company®s failure to
provide for the future of the country as a colonial settleaent.
Vital elements such 3s the access routes were neglected, as the
emphasis of the administration - such as it was - lay in
economy, sacurity and the search for revenue, pending the
anticipated discovery of goll.

Many of Labouchere's comments on the Company's treatment of

Africans are similar to thecsz on the Company's administration in

- — - ——— - ——— - -

1 For example, W.H. Brown; Frank Johnson; R. Churchill.
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genzral - responsibility was ndt taken sericusly @nough, with
the added dimension that Africans were not treated with th=
consideration due to human beings. In its dealings with
Africans, the Company was also shown to display a lack of
concern for the future of the territory. It made no a2ffort to
provide adzquate machinery for the administration of aAfricans
until problems arose which made some structure essential.
S5imilarly, it gave no forethought to the problems which would
result from its greed in dealing with Africans. The material
Labouchere published reveals the Compeny's brutality toward and
lack of interest in Africans, except as a source of labour or
cattle.

On the Matabele War, Labouachere made three usefal points.
He guestioned the Company's motive for 2ngaging in the war.

He argued that the war was deliberately provecked, to enable the
Company to raise capital. He also recognised, as no-obe 21se
was prepared to admit at &ll until the 1930s, or accept until
the 1970's, that cattle looting was a major factor in the
Ndebele Risinge. Finally he raised the question of the fate

of the enemy wounded, which could not pe answered.

Labouchere also demonstrated an e¢arly awareness of tae
tricks employed by the Company to obscure the true nature of its
administration. This was shown in remarks on forced labour, and
in a Native Commissioner's correspondence coancerning the

Company's “policy" on flogging after the rebellion.
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Study of th=2 volume of material c¢n tne Jameson aeia adids
little to our present knowledje, because the Kaid has been
subject to close scrutiny for so long. However, Llacouchere did
onc2 more iisplay a rapid understancing of part at least of what
occurred. His failure to see that Chamberlain was implicated was
a disadvantage, 2xplained by his own morality. His most us=ful
contribution in this regaré was the clear articulation of the
sotive he perceived for the raid. He debunked popular myths, and
suggested a credible explanation. By the end of 1896, his theory

that the Company was a speculative operation without a secure

financial basis, which haé embarked or three successive raids in
order to prevent bankruptcy, had become gjuite credible, as it
remainse.

The political manipulation which male it possiple for
Rhodes to Jet away with as much as he did, ané the use that was
made of all available means to influencz public opinion in
favour of the Company are legacies which have affected the "
history of Rhodesia. The image created of Fhodes and the Company

was so solidly built, that it has been acceptec, almost intact,

even by his critics. Because Labouchere was an acute observer
and sharp analyst his questions and comments on Rhod2s and the
Company, suggested an image very different from that usually
presented. He refused to be convinced by Khodes's glorious
imperial rhetoric, and was therefore able to perceive events in
a clear light. His major contribution was not to provide facts,

Oor answers, but to suggest the right guz2sticms. Tne final word



on Rhodes and British South Africa Company here belongs to
Labouchere, for no-onc has yst got beyond his assassament,
generated by the shock of ths Raid, that:

Mr Rhodes is a curious personality. He is not a money
grubber in the sense that some c¢f his ascociates are;
but he seeks to combine the acguicition of a huge
private fortune with political amtition. This is
contrary to all the honourable traditions of Britisn
public men. .... It is impossible to lock into a man's
mind, but I know of no resason why w2 shoula not judge dr
fhodes as we do others, and, Jjudging him by that
standard, he cannot be regarded asc a man actuated alon=
by patriotic motives, but rather & man who makes his
patriotism subserve the acguisiticn of money by very
questionable means.?

- ————— ——— - — -

2 Truth, February 20, 1896, p.Ud52,
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APPENDIX

(Footnote 44, p.z0C and fcotnote 2¢, p.217 refer.)

1896, pped51-453, giving Lebsuchere's theory in his own woris.

THRE CHARTERED COMFANY IR FPARLIAMENT

The discussion which took place upon the Address in regari to
the South African Chartered Company has made it clear that
public opinion will insist upon a full investigation into the
doings of that Company, financial and otherwise. Charters are
not graanted in order that & Company should become a huge
gambling establishment, and seek to belster ug its shares on the
Stock Exchange by means of raids on countries in the
neighbourhood of its territory “Yunder FRoyal patromage.Y There is
a strong prima faciz case against thic¢ Company, and this in
itself is sufficient to justify the demand for investigation.
Not only has it a Hoyal Charter, but this Cherter was granted to
(amongst others) a grandson of the (ueen, a leading Conservative
Duke, and a leading Tory banker, on the express ground that they
wer2 men of such position that nothiny wrong could occurs

Sir Horace Farguhar, thes leading Tory kanker on ths 8o0ard,
seized thz opportunity of the discussion to intzrpolate a
financial puff of the Company, and I almost expa2cted him to
finish his own observations by a recommendation to all and
several to buy its shares. The Company, he said, will hava
E600,000 in cash when it has paid off all its debentures, and he
pointed to the railroads that it has rade as evidence of its
wealth., Now, what are the facts? When the Company was formed it
had a nominal capital of #1,000,000 in E1 shares. Cf this, ve
may take it that about two-thirds consisted of promoters' free
shares, and one-third of shares for which cash was paid. This
£E250,000 in cash seems to have been sp2edily exhausted, on which
the Company borrowed large sums of the De Eeers Diamond Company,
of which Mr Rhodes was the leading spirit. This, too, was
exhausted, and Mr Rhodes and his gang made advances to tha
Company in order to stave off collapse, which woula not have
suited them, as they had not yet been able to unload their free
shares on the public, notwithstanding the puffs of their vast
value. Finding no gold in Mashomaland, where alone they w2re
allowed to mine, aftar an cbortive but expensivs attempt to
steal territory from Portugal which was prevented by Lord
Salisbury, they forced a guarrel on Lobemgula, and seizzd on
Matabelzland. At once the capital ot the Company was doubled by
the simple process of giving to Mr hhodes and his gang on2
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million of shares in consideraticn of certain promotars' rights
that they had reserved to themselives. This, of course, produced
no mon2ye. The sharess, which had stood at abcut two-thirds their
par value before the acquisition of M¥atabeleland, were forced urp
to a huge premium, and then 500,000 new £l shares were issued at
£3,10s. per share. This gave the Company :1,75(,000. With this
sum it paidi off its debt to the De Feers Company and to the
Rhodes financial gang, and, as would zppear froa Sir Horace
Fargquhar's statement, it has in hand t600,0C00, these repayments
and costs of administration since the Matabelz dar having
absorbed £1,150,000. As regards the railrocads, there has bean no
expenditure of the Company on them. They are separate concarns,
and have been male with money procured ad hoc from the public.

The nominal capital of the Company beinc, therefore,
2,500,000, in &1 shares, of which alvne 750,000 represent any
cash payment, they were forced up by means c¢f puffs and Stock
Exchange manoevres to E9 per share, i.e., toc 22,500,000, They
now stand at &5 per share, i.e., they are supposed to represent
a capital of £12,500,000. Obkviously, hkoth figures are absari. Ro
paying gold has been discovered in Matabelelanc in such
juantities as to make it a valuable asset. Only pocket gold, and
this in a very refractory ore, has been found. In 2 territory
larger than France and@ Great Britain, it is impossible to assert
that tha2re may not be paying gold. But from the miners®
ratio in respect to precious metals. Mr Rhodes nas published his
views in the Daily News. I gather from them that he practicalily
is of the opinion that paying gold is not likely to be found,
for he dwells upon the agricultural value of Charterland. It is
very doubtful whether its climate will not always re agaiast
settlement by European farmers. Apart, however, from its
climate, it is distant from markets, and is hardly likely to be
a field for agriculture for many a year, as in many of our
colonies there is better land to be had almost for anothing.
Taking all these tacts into comsideration, I should say that the
maximam value of Charterlanéd is, orn a somewhat high estimate,
about one million pounds. Fut as all costs of administration,
police, &c.,have to be borme by the owning Company, the
probabilities ar= that expenditure wiil for & very long time
exceed receipts. Up to now the Company has Lkeen an assemblage of
freebooters. Owing to Mr khodes's political position, it was
supposed that, if neither Kashonaland nor Matabeleland provead
auriferous, it would be able to rob its neighbours. 3hut ap
within the four corners of Charterland, and degrived of the
pow=sr to steal, its shares are, so far as I can perceive, a very
doubtful investment at amy price.

Mr Rhodes has taken himsz21f to Charterland, where he is
still Managing Director of the Company. It is impossible to
doubt that he was connected with the raid into the Transvaal. Dr
Jameson went to see him twelve days before the raid took place.
Mr Fairfield, at ths Colonial Jffice, as Mr Chamberliain tells
us, became convinced that some coup waes contemplated. The
Goldfields Company and Dr Jameson were admittedly acting
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togother. 4r kholec is to 211 intents ani puiposes the
Goldfizlds Company, and his brother it its Fenajing birector,
whilst he himself is the Managing Director c¢if the Charter=ad
Company. Under these circumstances, Mr Rhodes ocught to have reen
provisionally suspanded by the Directors of the latter, and
President Xruger has some right to comglain of his having been
allowed to return to Charterland as Managing pirector. My
estimate of his connection with the r&id is this: he had,
conjointly with his brother and with It Jameson, organised the
couo, but his part was to kesp as muck as pcecssible in the
background until it had proved succescsful, in order that he
might then, as Cape Premier, recognise an accomplished fact.
Probably it had been intended that there shculd be first an
outbreak at Johannesburg. Then the letter of the Uitlanders to
Or Jameson was to have been published, and he was to go to their
aid. A provisional Government was tc have been established; and
ultimately, the auriferous district of the Transvaal was to ke
annexed to Charterlande ecesse

Mr Rhodes is a curicus personality. he is not a money
grubber in the s2nse that some of his associates are; but he
seeks to combine the acquisition of a hug2 private fortune with
political ambition. This is contrary to all the honourabnle
traditions of British public men. +... It is impossible to look
into a man*s mind, but I know of no reason why we zhould not
judge Mr Rhodes as we do others, and, judging him by that
standard, he cannot bes regarded as a man actuatsd elone by
patriotic motives, but rather a man who makes his patriotism
subserve the acquisition of money by very guestionable means.

I confess I am not in the throes of indignation over the
wrongs of the Uitlanders. sees

The case of the Uitlanders, however, hag nothing to do with
that of the Chartered Comp&any. ... The provisional arrangement
made by Mr Chamberlain is a reasonable one. Eut it concerns the
honour and good name of the country that the entire "
circumstances connected with the Company should be investigated,
and this is all the more needful as it has the support of the
Court, of the aristocracy, of YSociety", ané ot wealthy
financialists. ... We shall never know who has received bribes
and who has not. That many have, directly or indirectly, I have
no doubt. That influence has been usec¢ to nobble the Press is
most probable. The grzat mass of the community has had nothing
to 40 with these doings. They have looked on with disgust and
reprobation. If the Company has nothing to conceal, if the
Charter has not been abused, then an investigation will give it
an opportunity to triumph over its censors, and to prove to the
most sceptical that it is as pure as the driven snow. If, on the
other hand, one-tenth of what is reported about it be true,
every day that it is allowed to contirue to exist, with a Royal
Charter, and with a grandson of the Queen andé a leading Tory
Duke figuring on its Board as guarantcrs cof itz respectability,
is a day too many.!

- A - - — -

! Truth February 20, 1896: pp.451-453.
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